AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

FIRSTENERGY CORP.,

ELEMENT MERGER SUB, INC.

and

ALLEGHENY ENERGY, INC.

Dated as of February 10, 2010

Table of Contents

	<u>P</u>	age
	Article I	
	THE MERGER	
Section 1.1	The Merger	2
Section 1.2	Closing	2
Section 1.3	Effective Time	
Section 1.4	Effects of the Merger	2
Section 1.5	Charter and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation	2
Section 1.6	Directors	3
Section 1.7	Officers	3
Section 1.8	Parent Board of Directors	3
	Article II	
	CONVERSION OF SHARES; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES	
Section 2.1	Effect on Stock	3
Section 2.2	Exchange of Shares	
	Article III	
	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	
Section 3.1	Qualification, Organization, Subsidiaries, etc.	8
Section 3.2	Stock	.10
Section 3.3	Corporate Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Violation	.11
Section 3.4	SEC Reports, Financial Statements and Utility Reports	
Section 3.5	No Undisclosed Liabilities	
Section 3.6	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	.14
Section 3.7	Investigations; Litigation	.14
Section 3.8	Information Supplied	.15
Section 3.9	Compliance with Law; Permits	.15
Section 3.10	Tax Matters	
Section 3.11	Employee Benefit Plans	.18
Section 3.12	Employment and Labor Matters	.19
Section 3.13	Environmental Laws and Regulations	
Section 3.14	No Ownership of Nuclear Power Plants	
Section 3.15	Insurance	
Section 3.16	Trading	
Section 3.17	Required Vote of the Company Stockholders	
Section 3.18	Antitakeover Statutes; Rights Plan	
Section 3.19	Opinion of Financial Advisor	

Section 3.20	Finders or Brokers	23
Section 3.21	Reorganization under the Code	
Section 3.22	Regulatory Proceedings	
Section 3.23	Intellectual Property	
Section 3.24	Properties	
Section 3.25	Material Contracts	24
Section 3.26	No Additional Representations	25
	Article IV	
REPR	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB	
Section 4.1	Qualification; Organization, Subsidiaries, etc.	25
Section 4.2	Capital Stock	
Section 4.3	Corporate Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Violation	29
Section 4.4	SEC Reports, Financial Statements and Utility Reports	
Section 4.5	No Undisclosed Liabilities	
Section 4.6	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	
Section 4.7	Investigations; Litigation	
Section 4.8	Information Supplied	
Section 4.9	Compliance with Law; Permits	32
Section 4.10	Tax Matters	
Section 4.11	Employee Benefit Plans	35
Section 4.12	Employment and Labor Matters	36
Section 4.13	Environmental Laws and Regulations	36
Section 4.14	Operations of Nuclear Power Plants	38
Section 4.15	Insurance	
Section 4.16	Trading	
Section 4.17	Required Vote of Parent Shareholders; Merger Sub Approval	
Section 4.18	Lack of Ownership of Company Common Stock	
Section 4.19	Opinion of Financial Advisor	
Section 4.20	Finders or Brokers	
Section 4.21	Reorganization under the Code	
Section 4.22	Regulatory Proceedings	
Section 4.23	Intellectual Property	
Section 4.24	Properties	
Section 4.25	Material Contracts	
Section 4.26	No Additional Representations	41
	Article V	
	COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS	
Section 5.1	Conduct of Business by the Company	42
Section 5.1 Section 5.2	Conduct of Business by Parent	
Section 5.2	Investigation	
Section 5.4	Non-Solicitation by the Company	
~ ***********		

Section 5.5	Non-Solicitation by Parent	58
Section 5.6	Filings; Other Actions	62
Section 5.7	Stock Options and Other Stock-Based Awards; Employee Matters	63
Section 5.8	Regulatory Approvals; Third-Party Consents; Reasonable Best Efforts	
Section 5.9	Takeover Statute	
Section 5.10	Public Announcements	
Section 5.11	Indemnification and Insurance	
Section 5.12	Integration Committee	
Section 5.13	Control of Operations	
Section 5.14	Certain Transfer Taxes	
Section 5.15	Section 16 Matters	
Section 5.16	Tax Matters	
Section 5.17	Stock Exchange Listing	
Section 5.18	Charitable Contributions	
	Article VI	
	CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER	
Section 6.1	Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger	74
Section 6.2	Conditions to Obligation of the Company to Effect the Merger	74
Section 6.3	Conditions to Obligation of Parent to Effect the Merger	75
Section 6.4	Frustration of Closing Conditions	77
	Article VII	
	TERMINATION	
Section 7.1	Termination or Abandonment	77
Section 7.1 Section 7.2	Effect of Termination.	
	Article VIII	
	Article VIII	
	MISCELLANEOUS	
Section 8.1	No Survival	
Section 8.2	Expenses	82
Section 8.3	Counterparts; Effectiveness	
Section 8.4	Governing Law	
Section 8.5	Jurisdiction; Specific Enforcement	
Section 8.6	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	
Section 8.7	Notices	
Section 8.8	Disclosure Schedules	
Section 8.9	Assignment; Binding Effect	
Section 8.10	Severability	
Section 8.11	Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries	
Section 8.12	Amendments; Waivers	85

Section 8.13	Headings	85
	Interpretation	
Section 8.15	Definitions	86

Index of Defined Terms

	<u>Page</u>
Action	72
Adjusted Option	
affiliates	
Agreement	
Applicable PSCs	
Articles of Merger	
Atomic Energy Act	31
business daybusiness day	87
Cancelled Shares	4
Charter Amendment	29
Closing	2
Closing Date	2
Code	1
Common Shares Trust	5
Company	1
Company Acquisition Proposal	58
Company Acquisition Transaction	58
Company Approvals	12
Company Benefit Plans	
Company Change of Recommendation	
Company Common Stock	3
Company Disclosure Schedule	
Company Employees	19
Company Equity Awards	11
Company Joint Venture	9
Company Material Adverse Effect	9
Company Material Contract	25
Company Organizational Documents	9
Company Performance Shares	65
Company Permits	
Company Permitted Lien	13
Company Recommendation	
Company RSUs	
Company SEC Documents	
Company Stock Option	
Company Stock Plans	
Company Stockholder Approval	
Company Stockholders' Meeting	
Company Superior Offer	
Company Tax Opinion	
Company Tax Opinion Materials	74
Company Termination Fee	
Company Trading Policies	

Confidentiality Agreement	
contract	25
Contract	25
control	
Designated Directors	3
DOJ	
Effective Time	2
End Date	
ENEC	
Environment	
Environmental Law.	
ERISA	
Excess Shares	
Exchange Act	
Exchange Agent	
Exchange Fund	
Exchange Ratio	
FCC	
FERC	
FERC Approval	
Final Order	
Final Order Waiting Period	
Form S-4	
FPA	
FTC	
GAAP	
Governmental Entity	
Group	
Hazardous Materials	
HSR Act	
Indemnified Party	
Intellectual Property Rights	
Interlectual Property Rights	
Joint Proxy Statement	
knowledge	
Law	
Laws	
Lien	
Merger	
Merger Consideration	
Merger Sub	
MGCL	
MPSC	
Net Company Position	
Net Parent Position	
New Plans	67

NRC	. 31
NYSE	5
Old Plans	. 67
Parent	
Parent Acquisition Proposal	. 61
Parent Acquisition Transaction	
Parent Approvals	. 30
Parent Benefit Plans	. 35
Parent Change of Recommendation	. 60
Parent Common Stock	4
Parent Disclosure Schedule	26
Parent Employees	36
Parent Equity Awards	
Parent Joint Venture	
Parent Material Adverse Effect	
Parent Material Contract	
Parent Nuclear Facilities	
Parent Organizational Documents	
Parent Permits	
Parent Permitted Lien	
Parent Preferred Stock	
Parent Recommendation	
Parent SEC Documents	
Parent Shareholder Approval	
Parent Shareholders' Meeting	
Parent Stock Conversion Price	
Parent Stock Options	
Parent Superior Offer	
Parent Tax Opinion	
Parent Tax Opinion Materials	
Parent Termination Fee	
Parent Trading Policies	
person	
PPUC	
Proprietary Information	
Regulatory Law	
Regulatory Law	
1	
RestraintsRestricted Shares	
Sarbanes-Oxley Act	
SDAT	
SEC	
Securities Act	
Share	
Stock Issuance	
Subsidiaries	86

Surviving Corporation	2
Takeover Laws	
Tax Return	
Taxes	
Termination Date	
Transaction Expenses	
Transactions	
Union	
VSCC	
WARN	
WVPSC	

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of February 10, 2010 (the "<u>Agreement</u>"), by and among FirstEnergy Corp., an Ohio corporation ("<u>Parent</u>"), Element Merger Sub, Inc., a Maryland corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent ("<u>Merger Sub</u>"), and Allegheny Energy, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "<u>Company</u>").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the parties intend that Merger Sub be merged with and into the Company (the "Merger"), with the Company surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company has (i) determined that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders, and declared it advisable, to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger (the "<u>Transactions</u>"), (ii) approved the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions and (iii) resolved to recommend adoption of this Agreement and approval of the Transactions by the stockholders of the Company;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Parent has (i) determined that it is in the best interests of Parent and its shareholders, and declared it advisable, to enter into this Agreement and consummate the Transactions, (ii) approved the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions and (iii) resolved to recommend to its shareholders approval of the Stock Issuance and the Charter Amendment, each of which shall be deemed to be included, with respect to Parent, in the defined term "Transactions":

WHEREAS, Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub, has approved this Agreement and the Transactions;

WHEREAS, for U.S. Federal income tax purposes, it is intended that the Merger will qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), that this Agreement will constitute a "plan of reorganization" for purposes of Sections 354 and 361 of the Code, and that Parent, Merger Sub and the Company will each be a "party to the reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code; and

WHEREAS, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements specified herein in connection with the Merger and also to prescribe certain conditions to the Merger.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER

- Section 1.1 <u>The Merger</u>. At the Effective Time, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the "<u>MGCL</u>"), Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company, whereupon the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease, and the Company shall continue its corporate existence under the MGCL as the surviving corporation in the Merger (the "<u>Surviving Corporation</u>") and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent.
- Section 1.2 <u>Closing</u>. The closing of the Merger (the "<u>Closing</u>") shall take place at the offices of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, Washington, DC, at 10:00 a.m. local time, on the third business day after the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) of the conditions set forth in <u>Article VI</u> (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied by action taken at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) of such conditions), or at such other place, date and time as the Company and Parent may agree in writing (the "<u>Closing Date</u>").
- Section 1.3 <u>Effective Time</u>. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, on the Closing Date, the Company and Merger Sub shall file the articles of merger providing for the Merger (the "<u>Articles of Merger</u>") in a form mutually agreed upon by Parent and the Company (acting reasonably), executed in accordance with, and containing such information as is required by, the relevant provisions of the MGCL, with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland (the "<u>SDAT</u>"). The Merger shall become effective at such time as the Articles of Merger are duly filed with and accepted for record by the SDAT, or at such later time as is agreed by the parties hereto and specified in the Articles of Merger in accordance with the relevant provisions of the MGCL (such date and time is hereinafter referred to as the "<u>Effective Time</u>").
- Section 1.4 <u>Effects of the Merger</u>. The effects of the Merger shall be as provided in this Agreement and in the applicable provisions of the MGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, at the Effective Time, all of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities, duties and obligations of the Company and Merger Sub shall become the debts, liabilities, duties and obligations of the Surviving Corporation, all as provided under the MGCL.

Section 1.5 Charter and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

(a) At the Effective Time, the charter of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the charter of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and hereof and applicable Law, in each case consistent with the obligations set forth in Section 5.11; provided, however, that Article Second of the articles of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended in its entirety to read as follows: "The name of the corporation is Allegheny Energy, Inc."

- (b) At the Effective Time, the bylaws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and hereof and applicable Law, in each case consistent with the obligations set forth in Section 5.11.
- Section 1.6 <u>Directors</u>. Subject to applicable Law, the directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the directors of the Surviving Corporation and shall hold office until their respective successors are duly elected and qualify, or their earlier death, resignation or removal.
- Section 1.7 <u>Officers</u>. The officers of the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation and shall hold office until their respective successors are duly elected and qualify, or their earlier death, resignation or removal.
- Section 1.8 Parent Board of Directors. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall take all necessary corporate action (i) to increase the size of the Board of Directors of Parent by two members, such that at the Effective Time the Board of Directors of Parent shall consist of 13 members, and (ii) to fill the vacancies on the Board of Directors of Parent created by such increase, to appoint to the Board of Directors of Parent, effective immediately after the Effective Time, two directors consisting of current members of the Company Board of Directors (the "Designated Directors"), which Designated Directors shall be designated by Parent, upon consultation with, and consideration of the views of, the Company, before the mailing of the Joint Proxy Statement. If prior to the Effective Time, any Designated Director is unwilling or unable to serve as a director of Parent as a result of illness, death, resignation or any other reason, then, any replacement for such person shall be selected by Parent, upon consultation with, and consideration of the views of, the Company, and such replacement shall constitute a Designated Director. The Designated Directors shall serve on committees of the Board of Directors of Parent on an equitable basis proportionate to the size of the Board of Directors of Parent.

ARTICLE II

CONVERSION OF SHARES; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES

- Section 2.1 <u>Effect on Stock</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the Company, Merger Sub or the holders of any securities of the Company or Merger Sub:
- (a) <u>Conversion of Company Common Stock</u>. Subject to <u>Sections 2.1(b)</u>, <u>2.1(d)</u> and <u>5.7</u>, each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value \$1.25 per share, of the Company outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (such shares, collectively, "<u>Company Common Stock</u>," and each, a "<u>Share</u>"), other than any Cancelled Shares, shall thereupon be converted automatically into and shall thereafter represent the right to receive 0.667 (the "<u>Exchange Ratio</u>") fully paid and nonassessable shares of common stock, par value \$0.10 per share ("<u>Parent Common Stock</u>"), of Parent (the "<u>Merger Consideration</u>"). As a result of the Merger, at the Effective Time, each holder of Shares shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration payable in respect of such Shares which are issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, any cash in lieu of

fractional shares of Parent Common Stock payable pursuant to <u>Section 2.1(d)</u> and any dividends or other distributions payable pursuant to <u>Section 2.2(c)</u>, all to be issued or paid, without interest, in consideration therefor upon the surrender of such Shares in accordance with <u>Section 2.2(b)</u>.

- (b) <u>Cancellation of Shares</u>. Each Share that is owned, directly or indirectly, by Parent or Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time or held by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time (in each case, other than the Restricted Shares) (the "<u>Cancelled Shares</u>") shall, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, be cancelled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange for such cancellation and retirement.
- (c) <u>Conversion of Merger Sub Common Stock</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, each share of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of the Surviving Corporation and shall constitute the only outstanding shares of stock of the Surviving Corporation. From and after the Effective Time, all certificates representing the common stock of Merger Sub shall be deemed for all purposes to represent the number of shares of common stock of the Surviving Corporation into which they were converted in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.

(d) <u>Fractional Shares</u>.

(i) No fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be issued in the Merger, but in lieu thereof each holder of Shares otherwise entitled to a fractional share of Parent Common Stock will be entitled to receive, from the Exchange Agent in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.1(d), a cash payment in lieu of such fractional share of Parent Common Stock representing such holder's proportionate interest, if any, in the proceeds from the sale by the Exchange Agent (reduced by any fees of the Exchange Agent attributable to such sale) in one or more transactions of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the excess of (A) the aggregate number of shares of Parent Common Stock to be delivered to the Exchange Agent by Parent pursuant to Section 2.2(a) representing the Merger Consideration over (B) the aggregate number of whole shares of Parent Common Stock to be distributed to the holders of Shares pursuant to Section 2.2(b) (such excess being herein called the "Excess Shares"). The parties acknowledge that payment of the cash consideration in lieu of issuing fractional shares of Parent Common Stock was not separately bargained-for consideration but merely represents a mechanical rounding off for purposes of avoiding the expense and inconvenience to Parent that would otherwise be caused by the issuance of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock. As soon as practicable after the Effective Time, the Exchange Agent, as agent for the holders of Shares that would otherwise receive fractional shares of Parent Common Stock, shall sell the Excess Shares at the then prevailing prices on the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") in the manner provided in the following paragraph.

- (ii) The sale of the Excess Shares by the Exchange Agent, shall be executed on the NYSE through one or more member firms of the NYSE and shall be executed in round lots to the extent reasonably practicable. Until the net proceeds of such sale or sales have been distributed to the holders of Shares, the Exchange Agent shall hold such net proceeds in trust for the holders of Shares that would otherwise receive fractional shares of Parent Common Stock (the "Common Shares Trust"). The Exchange Agent shall determine the portion of the Common Shares Trust to which each holder of Shares shall be entitled, if any, by multiplying the amount of the aggregate net proceeds comprising the Common Shares Trust (after the sale of all Excess Shares) by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of the fractional shares to which such former holder of Shares would otherwise be entitled and the denominator of which is the aggregate amount of fractional shares to which all former holders of Shares would otherwise be entitled.
- (iii) As soon as reasonably practicable after the determination of the amount of cash, if any, to be paid to holders of Shares in lieu of any fractional shares of Parent Common Stock, the Exchange Agent shall make available such amounts to such former holders of Shares without interest, subject to and in accordance with Section 2.2.
- (e) Adjustments to the Exchange Ratio. If at any time during the period between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company or Parent shall have been changed into a different number of shares or a different class by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock split (including a reverse stock split) or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, or any stock dividend or stock distribution with a record date during such period, or any other similar event, then, provided that such event did not occur in violation of this Agreement, the Exchange Ratio, the Merger Consideration and any other similarly dependent items shall be equitably adjusted to reflect such change.

Section 2.2 Exchange of Shares.

(a) Exchange Agent. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall appoint its transfer agent or such other exchange agent reasonably acceptable to the Company (the "Exchange Agent") for the purpose of exchanging Shares for the Merger Consideration. As of the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent, in trust for the benefit of holders of the Shares, the Restricted Shares, the Company Performance Shares and Company RSUs, certificates representing the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable pursuant to Section 2.1(a) (or appropriate alternative arrangements shall be made by Parent if uncertificated shares of Parent Common Stock will be issued). Following the Effective Time, Parent agrees to make available to the Exchange Agent, from time to time as needed, cash sufficient to pay any dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section 2.2(c). All certificates representing shares of Parent Common Stock (including the amount of any dividends or other distributions payable with respect thereto pursuant to Section 2.2(c) and cash in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock to be paid pursuant to Section 2.1(d)) are hereinafter referred to as the "Exchange Fund."

- (b) Exchange Procedures. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time and in any event not later than the fourth business day following the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of record of Shares as of the Effective Time (i) a letter of transmittal (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and that risk of loss and title to the Shares shall pass, only upon delivery of the Shares to the Exchange Agent and which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent and the Company) and (ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Shares in exchange for certificates representing whole shares of Parent Common Stock (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by Parent if uncertificated shares of Parent Common Stock will be issued), cash in lieu of any fractional shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.1(d) and any dividends or other distributions payable pursuant to Section 2.2(c). Exchange of any Shares held in book entry form shall be effected in accordance with the Exchange Agent's customary procedures with respect to securities held in book entry form. Upon surrender of Shares for cancellation to the Exchange Agent, together with such letter of transmittal, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto, and such other documents as may reasonably be required by the Exchange Agent or Parent, the holder of such Shares shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor that number of whole shares of Parent Common Stock (after taking into account all Shares surrendered by such holder) to which such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 2.1 (which shall be in uncertificated book entry form unless a physical certificate is affirmatively requested), payment by cash or check in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock which such holder is entitled to receive pursuant to Section 2.1(d) and any dividends or distributions payable pursuant to Section 2.2(c), and the Shares so surrendered shall forthwith be cancelled. If any portion of the Merger Consideration is to be registered in the name of a person other than the person in whose name the applicable surrendered Share is registered, it shall be a condition to the registration thereof that the surrendered Share be in proper form for transfer and that the person requesting such delivery of the Merger Consideration pay any and all transfer and other similar Taxes required to be paid as a result of such registration in the name of a person other than the registered holder of such Share or establish to the satisfaction of the Exchange Agent that such Taxes have been paid or are not payable. Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 2.2(b), each Share shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive the Merger Consideration (and any amounts to be paid pursuant to Section 2.1(d) or Section 2.2(c)) upon such surrender. No interest shall be paid or shall accrue on or with respect to the Merger Consideration or on or with respect to any amount payable pursuant to Section 2.1(d) or Section 2.2(c).
- distributions with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Share with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock represented thereby, and no cash payment in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be paid to any such holder pursuant to Section 2.1(d), until such Share has been surrendered in accordance with this Article II. Subject to applicable Laws, following surrender of any such Share, there shall be paid to the recordholder thereof, without interest, (i) promptly after such surrender, the number of whole shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in exchange therefor pursuant to this Article II, together with any cash payable in lieu of a fractional share of Parent Common Stock to which such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 2.1(d) and the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time theretofore paid with respect to such whole shares of Parent Common Stock and (ii) at the

appropriate payment date, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time and a payment date subsequent to such surrender payable with respect to such whole shares of Parent Common Stock.

- (d) <u>Withholdings</u>. Each of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company, the Surviving Corporation and the Exchange Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold, from any consideration payable or otherwise deliverable under this Agreement to any holder of record of a Share immediately prior to the Effective Time or any other person who is entitled to receive the Merger Consideration pursuant to this <u>Article II</u>, such amounts as are required to be withheld or deducted under the Code or any provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law with respect to the making of such payment. To the extent that amounts are so withheld or deducted, such withheld or deducted amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the person(s) to whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid.
- (e) No Further Ownership Rights in Company Common Stock; Closing of Transfer Books. All shares of Parent Common Stock issued upon the surrender for exchange of Shares in accordance with the terms of this Article II and any cash paid pursuant to Section 2.1(d) or Section 2.2(c) shall be deemed to have been issued (or paid) in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to the Shares. After the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed with respect to the Shares that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, and there shall be no further registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the Surviving Corporation of the Shares that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, Shares are presented to the Surviving Corporation or the Exchange Agent for any reason, they shall be cancelled and exchanged as provided in this Article II.
- (f) Termination of Exchange Fund. Any portion of the Exchange Fund (including the proceeds of any investments thereof) that remains undistributed to the former holders of Shares for 180 days after the Effective Time shall be delivered to Parent upon demand, and any holders of Shares who have not theretofore complied with this Article II shall thereafter look only to Parent for payment of their claim for the Merger Consideration, any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.1(d) and any dividends or distributions pursuant to Section 2.2(c).
- (g) <u>No Liability</u>. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, none of the Company, Parent, Merger Sub, the Surviving Corporation, the Exchange Agent or any other person shall be liable to any former holder of Shares for any amount properly delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law.
- (h) Lost Certificates. If any certificate representing a Share shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming such certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by Parent, the posting by such person of a bond in such reasonable amount as Parent may require as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such certificate, the Exchange Agent will deliver in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate the applicable Merger Consideration with respect to the Shares formerly represented thereby, any cash in lieu of fractional Shares to which such holders are entitled pursuant to Section 2.1(d) and any unpaid dividends and distributions to

which such holders are entitled pursuant to <u>Section 2.2(c)</u> as the case may be, deliverable in respect thereof pursuant to this Agreement.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as disclosed in (a) the Company SEC Documents filed prior to the date hereof (including exhibits; provided that any representations and warranties included in any such exhibit shall not be deemed to qualify any representation or warranty in this Article III), (b) the draft Form 10-K (dated February 9, 2010) of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009, a copy of which has been previously furnished to Parent or (c) the disclosure schedule delivered by the Company to Parent immediately prior to the execution of this Agreement (the "Company Disclosure Schedule") (provided that (a) with respect to the Company SEC Documents or such draft Form 10-K: (i) any disclosures set forth in any risk factor section, (ii) any disclosures in any section relating to forward looking statements and (iii) any other disclosures included therein that are predictive, non-specific or forward-looking in nature shall be ignored and (b) any disclosure in the Company SEC Documents or such draft Form 10-K shall be deemed to qualify any representation or warranty in this Article III only to the extent that such disclosure is made in such a way as to make its relevance reasonably apparent on its face (but such Company SEC Documents or draft Form 10-K shall in no event qualify the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.1, Section 3.2 or Section 3.3)), the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

Section 3.1 Qualification, Organization, Subsidiaries, etc.

- (a) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets, to carry on its business as presently conducted and is qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or operation of its assets or properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so organized, validly existing, qualified or in good standing, or to have such power or authority, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company has made available to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement a true and complete copy of its charter and bylaws, each as amended through the date hereof and which are in full force and effect (the "Company Organizational Documents") and has made available to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement a true and complete copy of the articles of incorporation and bylaws or other equivalent organizational documents of each of its Subsidiaries, each as amended through the date hereof.
- (b) <u>Section 3.1(b)</u> of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists each Subsidiary of the Company and its jurisdiction of organization or formation and the jurisdictions in which they are qualified to do business. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each Subsidiary of the Company have been validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each

Subsidiary of the Company are owned by the Company, by one or more Subsidiaries of the Company or by the Company and one or more Subsidiaries of the Company, in each case free and clear of all Liens. Except for the capital stock and other equity interests of its Subsidiaries, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries owns, directly or indirectly, any capital stock or other equity interest in any other person (including through participation in any joint venture or similar arrangement), other than the ownership of securities primarily for investment purposes as part of routine cash management or investments of 2% or less in publicly traded companies, and there are no Company Joint Ventures. "Company Joint Venture" means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust or other entity which is not a Subsidiary of the Company and in which (i) the Company, directly or indirectly, owns or controls any shares of any class of the outstanding voting securities or other equity interests (other than the ownership of securities primarily for investment purposes as part of routine cash management or investments of 2% or less in publicly traded companies) or (ii) the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company is a general partner.

As used in this Agreement, a "Company Material Adverse Effect" means an event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence that is materially adverse to the business, condition (financial or otherwise), properties, results of operations, liabilities, assets or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or on the ability of the Company to consummate the Transactions, but shall not be deemed to include any event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence: (i) in or affecting the economy or the financial, securities or commodities markets in the United States or elsewhere in the world, the industry or industries in which the Company or its Subsidiaries operate generally or in any specific jurisdiction or geographical area or (ii) resulting from or arising out of (A) any changes or developments in international, national, regional, state or local wholesale or retail markets for electric power, capacity or fuel or related products including those due to actions by competitors or due to changes in commodities prices or hedging markets therefor, (B) any changes or developments in national, regional, state or local electric transmission or distribution systems or decreases in planned spending with respect thereto, including any changes to projects required under PJM's Regional Transmission Expansion Plan or Pennsylvania's Act 129, (C) the announcement or the existence of, or compliance with, this Agreement or the Transactions, including possible Union organizing activity, (D) any taking of any action at the written request of Parent or Merger Sub, (E) any Action arising from allegations of breach of fiduciary duty or other violation of applicable Law relating to this Agreement or the Transactions, (F) any adoption, implementation, promulgation, repeal, modification, reinterpretation or proposal of any rule, regulation, ordinance, order, protocol or any other Law (including any Environmental Law) of or by any national, regional, state or local Governmental Entity, independent system operator, regional transmission organization or market administrator, (G) any changes in GAAP or accounting standards or interpretations thereof, (H) any weather-related or other force majeure event or outbreak or escalation of hostilities or acts of war or terrorism, (I) the consummation or non-consummation of the sale of the Company's electric distribution operations in Virginia to Rappahannock Electric Cooperative and Shenandoah Valley Electric Cooperative, or (J) any reduction in the credit rating of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to the extent attributable to the expected consummation of the Merger but not to the extent attributable to a change in the Company's or, as the case may be, such Subsidiary's business, condition (financial or otherwise), properties, results of operations, liabilities, assets or operations; provided, however, that any event, change,

effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence described in each of clauses (i) and (ii) B, G or H above shall not constitute or give rise to a Company Material Adverse Effect only if and to the extent that such event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence does not have a disproportionate effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other similarly situated participants in the utility industry; provided further, however, that any event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence described in clause (ii) A or F above shall not constitute or give rise to a Company Material Adverse Effect only if and to the extent that such event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence (x) does not have a disproportionate effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to a hypothetical participant in the utility industry that owns similar power generation assets (with respect to fuel type and location) or (y) is the result of an increase in the generally prevailing price of Northern Appalachian coal.

Section 3.2 Stock.

- The authorized stock of the Company consists of 260,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock and no shares of preferred stock. As of February 5, 2010, (i) 169,569,603.763 shares of Company Common Stock were issued and outstanding, which includes all of the Restricted Shares outstanding as of such date, (ii) 2,851,117 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance in respect of outstanding Company Stock Options with a weighted average exercise price per share as of December 31, 2009 of \$27.605, (iii) 487,742 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance in respect of outstanding Company Performance Shares, (iv) 86,689 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance in respect of shares earned but not issued under the Company's Non-Employee Director Stock Plan and (v) no shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance in respect of outstanding Company RSUs. All outstanding shares of Company Common Stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and were not issued in violation of any pre-emptive right, purchase option, call, right of first refusal or any similar right and all shares of Company Common Stock reserved for issuance as noted in clauses (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v), when issued in accordance with the respective terms thereof, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not issued in violation of any preemptive right, purchase option, call, right of first refusal or any similar right. No shares of Company Common Stock are held by any Subsidiary of the Company. Except as set forth in this Section 3.2(a), at the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the date of this Agreement, no shares of stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, the Company were issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding.
- (b) Except as set forth in subsection (a) above, as of the date hereof, there are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, convertible securities or other similar rights, agreements or commitments relating to the issuance or repurchase of capital stock or other equity interests to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or by which any of them is bound, obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to (i) issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold, any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such shares or equity interests, (ii) grant, extend or enter into any such subscription, option, warrant, call, convertible securities or other similar right, agreement or arrangement, (iii) redeem

or otherwise acquire any such shares of capital stock or other equity interests or (iv) provide a material amount of funds to, or make any material investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in, any Subsidiary.

- (c) There are outstanding no bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the holders of which have the right to vote (or which are convertible into or exercisable for securities having the right to vote) with the stockholders of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on any matter.
- (d) There are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with respect to the voting or registration of, or restricting any person from purchasing, selling, pledging or otherwise disposing of, the capital stock or other equity interest of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (e) The Company has delivered or made available to Parent an accurate and complete copy of the Company Stock Plans and the forms of Company Stock Options, Restricted Shares, Company Performance Shares and Company RSUs (collectively, "Company Equity Awards"). There have been no repricings of any Company Stock Options through amendments, cancellation and reissuance or other means during the current or prior two calendar years. None of the Company Stock Options was granted with an exercise price below or deemed to be below fair market value on the date of grant. All grants of Company Equity Awards were validly made and properly approved by the Board of Directors of the Company (or a duly authorized committee or subcommittee thereof) in compliance with all applicable Laws and properly recorded on the consolidated financial statements of the Company in accordance with GAAP, and, where applicable, no such grants involved any "back dating," "forward dating" or similar practices with respect to grants of Company Stock Options.
- (f) All outstanding shares of Company Common Stock and all outstanding Company Stock Options have been issued and granted in compliance with (i) all applicable Laws and (ii) all requirements set forth in contracts applicable to the issuance of Company Common Stock, granting of Company Stock Options or the issuance of equity interests of any Subsidiary of the Company.

Section 3.3 Corporate Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Violation.

(a) The Company has requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and, subject to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions have been duly and validly authorized by the Board of Directors of the Company and, except for the Company Stockholder Approval, no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to authorize the Merger or the consummation of the Transactions. As of the date hereof, the Board of Directors of the Company has unanimously resolved to recommend that the Company's stockholders approve this Agreement and the Transactions (the "Company Recommendation") and directed that such matter be submitted for consideration of the stockholders of the Company at the Company Stockholders' Meeting, and such resolutions have not been subsequently rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the

Company and, assuming this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except that (i) such enforcement may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws, now or hereafter in effect, relating to creditors' rights generally and (ii) equitable remedies of specific performance and injunctive and other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought.

- (b) Other than in connection with or in compliance with (i) the MGCL, (ii) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), (iii) the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act"), (iv) the rules and regulations of the NYSE, (v) the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act"), (vi) the Federal Power Act, as amended (the "FPA"), and the approval of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (the "FERC") thereunder (the "FERC Approval"), (vii) to the extent required, the rules and regulations of (1) the Maryland Public Service Commission (the "MPSC"), (2) the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (the "PPUC"), (3) the Virginia State Corporation Commission (the "VSCC"), (4) the Public Service Commission of West Virginia (the "WVPSC" and collectively with the MPSC, PPUC and VSCC, the "Applicable PSCs") and (viii) pre-approvals of license transfers by the Federal Communications Commission (the "FCC") (collectively, the "Company Approvals"), and, subject to the accuracy of the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub in Section 4.3(b), no authorization, consent, order, license, permit or approval of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, or action by, the United States, any state of the United States or any foreign governmental or regulatory agency, commission, court, panel, body, entity or authority (each, a "Governmental Entity") is necessary or required to be obtained or made under applicable Law in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder or the consummation of the Transactions by the Company, except for such authorizations, consents, approvals or filings that, if not obtained or made, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement do not, and, provided the Company Approvals are obtained, the consummation of the Transactions and compliance with the provisions hereof will not (i) conflict with, result in any violation of, or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of a benefit under any loan, guarantee of indebtedness or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease, agreement, contract, instrument, permit, concession, franchise, right or license binding upon the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or result in the creation of any liens, claims, mortgages, encumbrances, pledges, security interests, equities or charges of any kind (each, a "Lien"), other than any such Lien (A) for Taxes or governmental assessments, charges or claims of payment not yet due or delinquent, being contested in good faith or for which adequate accruals or reserves have been established, (B) which is a carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's or other similar lien arising in the ordinary course of business, (C) which is disclosed on the most recent consolidated balance sheet of the Company or notes thereto or securing liabilities reflected on such balance sheet, (D) which was incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of the most recent consolidated balance sheet of the Company

or (E) which does not and would not reasonably be expected to materially impair the continued use and operation of the assets to which they relate as operated as of the date hereof or any property at which the material operations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are conducted as of the date hereof (each of the foregoing (A) through (E), a "Company Permitted Lien"), upon any of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) conflict with or result in any violation of any provision of the articles of restatement or bylaws or other equivalent organizational document of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) conflict with or violate any applicable Laws, other than, in the case of clauses (i) and (iii), any such violation, conflict, default, termination, cancellation, acceleration, right, loss or Lien that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.4 SEC Reports, Financial Statements and Utility Reports.

- (a) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has filed or furnished all forms, documents and reports required to be filed or furnished by it with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") since January 1, 2009 (the "Company SEC Documents"). As of their respective dates or, if amended, as of the date of such amendment, the Company SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as the case may be, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and none of the Company SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (b) The Company has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting (as such terms are defined in paragraphs (e) and (f), respectively, of Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act) as required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act. The Company's disclosure controls and procedures are reasonably designed to ensure that all material information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or furnishes under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that all such material information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to make the certifications required pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), and all such required certifications have been made. The Company's management has completed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting in compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for the year ended December 31, 2008, and such assessment concluded that such controls were effective.
- (c) The audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited interim consolidated financial statements (including all related notes and schedules) of the Company included in the Company SEC Documents complied as to form in all material respects with the rules and regulations of the SEC then in effect, fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries, as at the respective dates thereof, and the consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated

cash flows for the respective periods then ended (subject, in the case of the unaudited statements, to normal recurring year-end audit adjustments that were not or are not expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to the Company), and were prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated therein or in the notes thereto).

- (d) All filings (other than immaterial filings) required to be made by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries since January 1, 2007, with the FERC under the FPA or the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005, the Department of Energy and any applicable state public utility commissions and under applicable state Law, as the case may be, have been made, including all forms, statements, reports, agreements and all documents, exhibits, amendments and supplements appertaining thereto, including all rates, tariffs, franchises, service agreements, and related documents, and all such filings complied, as of their respective dates, with all applicable requirements of applicable statutes and the rules and regulations thereunder, except for filings the failure of which to make or the failure of which to make in compliance with all applicable requirements of applicable statutes and the rules and regulations thereunder, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to become a party to, any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any similar contract (including any contract or arrangement relating to any transaction or relationship between or among the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any unconsolidated affiliate, including any structured finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity or person, on the other hand, or any "off-balance-sheet arrangement" (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act)), where the result, purpose or intended effect of such contract is to avoid disclosure of any material transaction involving, or material liabilities of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates.
- Section 3.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except (a) as reflected or reserved against in the Company's most recent audited consolidated balance sheets (or stated in the notes thereto) included in the Company SEC Documents and (b) for liabilities and obligations incurred since January 1, 2009 in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has any liabilities or obligations of any nature, whether or not accrued, contingent or otherwise, that would be required by GAAP to be reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries (or in the notes thereto) other than those which would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 3.6 <u>Absence of Certain Changes or Events</u>. Since January 1, 2009 through the date of this Agreement, there has not been any event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence that has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 3.7 <u>Investigations; Litigation</u>. (a) There is no investigation, audit or review pending (or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened) by any Governmental Entity with

respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) there are no actions, suits, inquiries, arbitrations, investigations or proceedings pending (or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened) against, relating to or affecting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including against or in respect of any Company Benefit Plan), or any of their respective properties at law or in equity before and (c) there are no orders, judgments or decrees of, or before, any Governmental Entity except, in the case of clauses (a) through (c), as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Information Supplied. None of the information provided or to be provided Section 3.8 by the Company or its Subsidiaries for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed with the SEC by Parent in connection with the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger (including any amendments or supplements, the "Form S-4") will, at the time the Form S-4 is filed with the SEC, at any time it is amended or supplemented or at the time it becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; provided, that, with respect to projected financial information provided by or on behalf of the Company, the Company represents only that such information was prepared in good faith by management of the Company on the basis of assumptions believed by such management to be reasonable as of the time made. None of the information provided by the Company or its Subsidiaries for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the proxy statement relating to the Company Stockholders' Meeting and the proxy statement relating to the Parent Shareholders' Meeting which are a part of the Form S-4 (such proxy statements together, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Joint Proxy Statement") will, at the date it is first mailed to the Company's stockholders or Parent's shareholders or at the time of the Company Stockholders' Meeting or the Parent Shareholders' Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided, that, with respect to projected financial information provided by or on behalf of the Company, the Company represents only that such information was prepared in good faith by management of the Company on the basis of assumptions believed by such management to be reasonable as of the time made. The Joint Proxy Statement (other than the portion thereof relating solely to the Parent Shareholders' Meeting) will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.8, no representation or warranty is made by the Company with respect to information or statements made or incorporated by reference in the Form S-4 or the Joint Proxy Statement that were not supplied by or on behalf of the Company.

Section 3.9 Compliance with Law; Permits.

(a) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are, and since January 1, 2007 have been, in compliance with and not in default under or in violation of any applicable federal, state, local or foreign law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, judgment, order, injunction, decree or agency requirement of any Governmental Entity, including common law or the interpretation thereof (collectively, "Laws" and each, a "Law"), except where such non-compliance, default or violation would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company

Material Adverse Effect. Within the past three years, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice or, to the Company's knowledge, other communication from any Governmental Entity regarding any actual or possible violation of, or failure to comply with, any Law, except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

- (b) The Company and its Subsidiaries are in possession of all franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, easements, variances, exceptions, consents, certificates, approvals, clearances, permissions, qualifications and registrations and orders of any Governmental Entity, and all rights under any material contract with any Governmental Entity, necessary for the Company and its Subsidiaries to own, lease and operate their properties and assets or to carry on their businesses as they are now being conducted (the "Company Permits"), except where the failure to have any of the Company Permits would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect. All Company Permits are valid and in full force and effect, except where the failure to be in full force and effect would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company is, and each of its Subsidiaries is, and their respective businesses as currently conducted are, in compliance in all material respects with the terms and requirements of such Company Permits.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything contained in this <u>Section 3.9</u>, no representation or warranty shall be deemed to be made in this <u>Section 3.9</u> in respect of the matters referenced in <u>Section 3.4</u>, or in respect of Tax, employee benefits, labor or environmental matters.

Section 3.10 Tax Matters.

Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect:

- (a) The Company and its Subsidiaries (i) have timely filed or caused to be filed (taking into account any extension of time within which to file) all Tax Returns required to have been filed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and all such Tax Returns were true, correct and complete, and all such Tax Returns filed on or before December 31, 2005 have been examined by the appropriate taxing authority or the period for assessment of the Taxes in respect of which such Tax Returns were required to be filed has expired; (ii) have timely paid or caused to be paid (taking into account any extension of time within which to pay) all Taxes shown as due on such Tax Returns; (iii) have established adequate accruals and reserves, in accordance with GAAP, on the financial statements included in the Company SEC Documents for all Taxes payable by the Company and its Subsidiaries for all taxable periods and portions thereof through the date of such financial statements; and (iv) have not received any written notice of any deficiencies for any Tax of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from any taxing authority for which there are not adequate accruals or reserves on the financial statements included in the Company SEC Documents.
- (b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is the subject of any currently ongoing audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes nor has any audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes been proposed against any of them in writing, and any

deficiencies asserted or assessments made as a result of any audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes have been paid in full, are being contested in good faith, or adequate accruals or reserves for such deficiencies or assessments have been established. There are no Liens for Taxes on any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than Company Permitted Liens. No claim has ever been made in writing by a taxing authority of a jurisdiction where the Company or one of its Subsidiaries has not filed Tax Returns that the Company or such Subsidiary is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.

- (c) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any written Tax allocation, indemnification, sharing or similar agreement (other than an agreement with the Company or its Subsidiaries), except for agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is liable under Section 1.1502-6 of the Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code (or any similar provision of the Tax Laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction) for any Tax of any person other than the Company and its Subsidiaries.
- (d) The Company and its Subsidiaries have withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder or other third party; such withheld amounts were either timely paid to the appropriate taxing authority or set aside in accounts for such purpose. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries have reported such withheld amounts to the appropriate taxing authority and to each such employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder or other third party, as required under Law.
- (e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries was a "distributing corporation" or "controlled corporation" in a transaction intended to qualify under Section 355 of the Code within the past two years or otherwise as part of a plan that includes the Merger.
- (f) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has participated in any "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Section 1.6011-4 of the Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code.
- (g) The Company has made available to Parent or its legal or accounting representative copies of all U.S. Federal and state income Tax Returns for the Company and each of its Subsidiaries filed for all periods including and after the period ended December 31, 2007.
- (h) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) has filed any extension of time within which to file any Tax Returns that have not been filed, except in the ordinary course of business, (ii) has entered into any agreement or other arrangement waiving or extending the statute of limitations or the period of assessment or collection of any Taxes, (iii) has granted any power of attorney that is in force with respect to any matters relating to any Taxes, (iv) has applied for a ruling from a taxing authority relating to any Taxes that has not been granted or has proposed to enter into an agreement with a taxing authority that is pending or (v) has, since December 31, 2006, entered into any "closing agreement" as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) or been issued any private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda or similar agreement or rulings by any taxing authority.

- (i) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has agreed to, requested, or is required to include any adjustment under Section 481 of the Code (or any corresponding provision of applicable state, local or foreign Tax Law) by reason of a change in accounting method or otherwise.
- (j) As used in this Agreement, (i) "Taxes" means any and all domestic or foreign, federal, state, local or other taxes of any kind (together with any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and additional amounts imposed with respect thereto) imposed by any Governmental Entity, including taxes on or with respect to income, franchises, windfall or other profits, gross receipts, occupation, property, transfer, sales, use, capital stock, payroll, employment, unemployment, social security, workers' compensation or net worth, and taxes in the nature of excise, withholding, ad valorem or value added, and (ii) "Tax Return" means any return, report or similar filing (including any elections, notifications, declarations, schedules or attachments thereto, and any amendment thereof) required to be filed with respect to Taxes, including any information return, claim for refund, amended return or declaration of estimated Taxes. It is agreed and understood that no representation or warranty is made by the Company in respect of Tax matters in any Section of this Agreement other than Section 3.4, Section 3.5, Section 3.11, Section 3.21 and this Section 3.10.

Section 3.11 Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) Section 3.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all material compensation or employee benefit plans, programs, policies, agreements or other arrangements, whether or not "employee benefit plans" (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), whether or not subject to ERISA), providing cash- or equity-based incentives, health, medical, dental, disability, accident or life insurance benefits or vacation, severance, retention, change in control, retirement, pension or savings benefits, that are sponsored, maintained or contributed to by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the benefit of current or former employees or directors of the Company or its Subsidiaries (the "Company Benefit Plans").
- (b) Each Company Benefit Plan has been operated and administered in all respects in accordance with its terms and all applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code. Each Company Benefit Plan intended to be "qualified" within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code is the subject of a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service as to its qualification and, to the Company's knowledge, no event has occurred that could reasonably be expected to result in the disqualification of such Company Benefit Plan.
- (c) Other than routine claims for benefits, no liability under Title IV of ERISA has been incurred by the Company or any its Subsidiaries that has not been satisfied in full when due, and no condition exists that could reasonably be expected to result in a material liability to the Company or its Subsidiaries under Title IV of ERISA.
- (d) The consummation of the Transactions will not (i) entitle any current or former employee or director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to severance, retention or change in control pay, unemployment compensation or any other payment or (ii) accelerate the

time of payment or vesting, or increase the amount, of compensation due any such current or former employee or director.

- (e) There are no material pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened claims against, by or on behalf of, or any Liens filed against or with respect to, any of the Company Benefit Plans or otherwise involving any Company Benefit Plan.
- (f) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement, contract or arrangement that could result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any "excess parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code.
- (g) No Company Benefit Plan provides benefits, including death or medical benefits (whether or not insured), with respect to current or former employees or directors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries beyond their retirement or other termination of service, other than (i) coverage mandated solely by applicable Law, (ii) death benefits or retirement benefits under any "employee pension benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), (iii) deferred compensation benefits accrued as liabilities on the books of the Company or its Subsidiaries, or (iv) benefits the full costs of which are borne by the current or former employee or director or his or her beneficiary.

Section 3.12 Employment and Labor Matters.

- As of the date of this Agreement: (i) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement, work rules or other agreement with any labor union, labor organization, employee association, or works council (each, a "Union") applicable to employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries ("Company Employees"), (ii) none of the Company Employees is represented by any Union with respect to his or her employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) to the Company's knowledge, within the past three years, no Union has attempted to organize employees at the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or filed a petition with the National Labor Relations Board seeking to be certified as the bargaining representative of any Company Employees, (iv) within the past three years, there have been no actual or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened (A) work stoppages, lock-outs or strikes, (B) slowdowns, boycotts, handbilling, picketing, walkouts, demonstrations, leafleting, sit-ins or sick-outs by Company Employees, causing significant disruption to the operations of a Company facility, or (C) other form of Union disruption at the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and (v) except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, there is no unfair labor practice, labor dispute, or labor arbitration proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened with respect to Company Employees.
- (b) Except for such matters that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect: (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries are, and within the past three years have been, in compliance with all applicable state, federal, and local Laws respecting labor and employment, including all Laws relating to discrimination, disability, labor relations, unfair labor practices, hours of work, payment of wages, employee benefits, retirement benefits, compensation, immigration, workers' compensation, working conditions, occupational safety and health, family and medical leave,

reductions in force, plant closings, notification of employees, and employee terminations and (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act ("WARN") or any state or local Laws requiring notice with respect to such layoffs or terminations.

(c) In the past three years, (i) no Governmental Entity has threatened (to the knowledge of the Company) or initiated any material complaints, charges, lawsuits, grievances, claims, arbitrations, administrative proceedings, or other proceeding(s) or investigation(s) with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries arising out of, in connection with, or otherwise relating to any Company Employees or any Laws governing labor or employment, and (ii) no Governmental Entity has issued or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened to issue any significant citation, order, judgment, fine or decree against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any Company Employees or any Laws governing labor or employment.

Section 3.13 Environmental Laws and Regulations.

- (a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect:
 - (i) there is no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, claim, lawsuit, or administrative proceeding against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, under or pursuant to any Environmental Law, and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice from any person, including any Governmental Entity, alleging that the Company has been or is in violation or potentially in violation of any applicable Environmental Law or otherwise may be liable under any applicable Environmental Law, which violation or liability is unresolved;
 - (ii) the Company and its Subsidiaries are and, since January 1, 2005, have been in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and with all material permits, licenses and approvals required under Environmental Laws for the conduct of their business or the operation of their facilities;
 - (iii) the Company and its Subsidiaries have all material permits, licenses and approvals required for the operation of the businesses and the operation of their facilities pursuant to applicable Environmental Law, all such permits, licenses and approvals are in effect, and, to the knowledge of the Company, there is no actual or alleged proceeding to revoke, modify or terminate such permits, licenses and approvals;
 - (iv) to the knowledge of the Company, there has been no release of Hazardous Materials at any real property currently or formerly owned, leased, or operated by the Company or any Subsidiary in concentrations or under conditions or circumstances that (A) would reasonably be expected to result in liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any Environmental Laws; or (B) would require reporting, investigation, remediation, or other corrective or

response action by the Company or any Subsidiary under any Environmental Law and that has not otherwise been addressed through such reporting, investigation, remediation, or other corrective or responsive action by the Company or any Subsidiary; and

- (v) the Company is not party to any order, judgment or decree that imposes any obligations under any Environmental Law and, to the knowledge of the Company, has not, either expressly or by operation of Law, undertaken any such obligations, including any obligation for corrective or remedial action, of any other person.
- (b) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, including Section 3.13(a)(i)-(v), the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' compliance with Environmental Laws relating to federal or state new source review or prevention of significant deterioration air permit laws or regulations, except to the extent that the Company or a Subsidiary has, as of the date of this Agreement, received a written notice or been subject to a judicial or administrative proceeding alleging non-compliance with such laws or regulations.

(c) As used in this Agreement:

- (i) "Environment" means any ambient air, surface water, drinking water, groundwater, land surface (whether below or above water), subsurface strata, sediment, plant or animal life and natural resources.
- (ii) "Environmental Law" means any Law or any binding agreement issued or entered by or with any Governmental Entity relating to: (A) the protection of the Environment, including pollution, contamination, cleanup, preservation, protection and reclamation of the Environment; (B) any release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials, including investigation, assessment, testing, monitoring, containment, removal, remediation and cleanup of any such release or threatened release; (C) the management of any Hazardous Materials, including the use, labeling, processing, disposal, storage, treatment, transport or recycling of any Hazardous Materials; or (D) the presence of Hazardous Materials in any building, physical structure, product or fixture.
- (iii) "<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means any regulated pollutant or contaminant (including any constituent, raw material, product or by-product thereof), petroleum, asbestos or asbestos-containing material, polychlorinated biphenyls, lead paint, any hazardous, industrial or solid waste, and any toxic, radioactive, infectious or hazardous substance, material or agent.
- (d) The representations and warranties set forth herein are the Company's sole representations and warranties relating to Environmental Law, the Environment and Hazardous Materials.

- Section 3.14 No Ownership of Nuclear Power Plants. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries owns, directly or indirectly, any interest in any nuclear generation station or manages or operates any nuclear generation station.
- Section 3.15 Insurance. Section 3.15 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of the material insurance policies naming the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any director, officer or employee thereof as an insured or beneficiary or as a loss payable payee or for which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has paid or is obligated to pay all or part of the premiums, as of the date hereof. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received notice of any pending or threatened cancellation or premium increase (retroactive or otherwise) with respect thereto, and the Company and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance in all material respects with all conditions contained therein. From and after January 1, 2009, the Company and its Subsidiaries have been continuously insured with financially responsible insurers or have self-insured, in each case in such amounts and against such risks as is customary for the industries in which it and its Subsidiaries operate.
- Section 3.16 Trading. The Company has established risk parameters, limits and guidelines in compliance with the risk management policy approved by the Company's Board of Directors (the "Company Trading Policies") to restrict the level of risk that the Company and its Subsidiaries are authorized to take with respect to, among other things, the net position resulting from all physical commodity transactions (including the anticipated output from the Company's merchant generation fleet and the contracted price of coal) exchange-traded futures and options. transactions, over-the-counter transactions and derivatives thereof and similar transactions (the "Net Company Position") and monitors compliance by the Company and its Subsidiaries with such Company Trading Policies. The Company has provided the Company Trading Policies to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement. At no time between September 30, 2009 and the date of this Agreement, (i) has the Net Company Position not been within the risk parameters that are set forth in the Company Trading Policies or (ii) has the exposure of the Company and its Subsidiaries with respect to the Net Company Position resulting from all such transactions been material to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. From December 31, 2008 to the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has, in accordance with generally recognized mark to market accounting policies, experienced an aggregate net loss in its trading and related operations that would be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
- Section 3.17 <u>Required Vote of the Company Stockholders</u>. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding Company Common Stock entitled to vote on this Agreement and the Merger is the only vote of holders of securities of the Company that is required to approve this Agreement and the Merger (the "<u>Company Stockholder Approval</u>").

Section 3.18 Antitakeover Statutes; Rights Plan.

(a) Subject to the accuracy of the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub in Section 4.18, the Board of Directors of the Company has taken all actions necessary so that, to the extent applicable, the restrictions contained in Section 3-602 of the MGCL applicable to a "business combination" (as defined in Section 3-601(e) of the MGCL) will not apply to the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or the consummation

of the Merger and no other Takeover Laws are applicable to the Merger, this Agreement, or any of the Transactions. As used in this Agreement, "<u>Takeover Laws</u>" shall mean any "moratorium," "control share acquisition," "fair price," "supermajority," "affiliate transactions," or "business combination statute or regulation" or other similar state antitakeover Laws and regulations.

- (b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any stockholders' rights plan or similar plan or arrangement in effect.
- Section 3.19 Opinion of Financial Advisor. The Board of Directors of the Company has received the opinion of Goldman, Sachs & Co., dated the date of this Agreement and customary in form, scope and substance, to the effect that, as of such date and based upon and subject to the factors and assumptions set forth therein, the Merger Consideration is fair to the holders of Company Common Stock (other than Parent and its affiliates) from a financial point of view. The Company shall, promptly following receipt of said opinion in written form, furnish an accurate and complete copy of said opinion to Parent for informational purposes.
- Section 3.20 Finders or Brokers. Except for Goldman, Sachs & Co. (the fees and expenses of which will, prior to the Closing, be the responsibility of the Company), neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has employed any investment banker, broker or finder in connection with the Transactions who might be entitled to any fee or any commission in connection with or upon consummation of the Merger or the Transactions. The Company has furnished to Parent accurate and complete copies of its agreements with Goldman, Sachs & Co.
- Section 3.21 Reorganization under the Code. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken or agreed to take any action or knows of any fact, agreement, plan or other circumstance that will prevent or impede, or is reasonably likely to prevent or impede, the Merger from qualifying as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code.
- Section 3.22 Regulatory Proceedings. As of the date hereof, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries all or part of whose rates or services are regulated by a Governmental Entity (a) is a party to any rate proceeding before a Governmental Entity with respect to rates charged by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than in the ordinary course consistent with past practice, (b) has rates in any amounts that have been or are being collected subject to refund, pending final resolution of any rate proceeding pending before a Governmental Entity or on appeal to a court (other than rates based on estimated costs and/or revenues that are subject to adjustment once the actual costs and/or revenues become known, including the expanded net energy cost ("ENEC") clause in West Virginia) or (c) is a party to any contract with any Governmental Entity entered into other than in the ordinary course consistent with past practice imposing conditions on rates or services in effect as of the date hereof or which, to the knowledge of the Company, are as of the date hereof scheduled to go into effect at a later time, except in the case of clauses (a) through (c) that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 3.23 <u>Intellectual Property</u>. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and its Subsidiaries own or have a valid right to use all patents, trademarks, trade names, service marks, domain names, copyrights, and any applications and registrations therefor, technology,

trade secrets, know-how, computer software and tangible and intangible proprietary information and materials (collectively, "Intellectual Property Rights") used in connection with and reasonably necessary for the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted. To the Company's knowledge, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has infringed, misappropriated or violated in any material respect any Intellectual Property Rights of any third party except where such infringement, misappropriation or violation would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. To the Company's knowledge, no third party is infringing, misappropriating or violating any Intellectual Property Rights owned or exclusively licensed by or to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except where such infringement, misappropriation or violation would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.24 <u>Properties</u>. The Company or its applicable Subsidiary has (a) good and insurable title or (b) good and valid leasehold interest in and to each material parcel of real property owned or leased, as applicable, by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, subject to any Liens or exceptions that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.25 Material Contracts. As of the date hereof, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any Contract that (i) is a "material contract" (as such term is defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC), (ii) would, after giving effect to the Merger, limit or restrict the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries or any successor thereto, from engaging or competing in any line of business that it currently engages in or is a reasonable extension thereof (including with respect to Parent after the Effective Time) or in any geographic area or contains exclusivity or non-solicitation provisions with respect to customers, (iii) limits or otherwise restricts the ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions to its stockholders, or (iv) provides for the operation or management of any operating assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries by any person other than the Company or its Subsidiaries. Each Contract of the type described in this Section 3.25, whether or not set forth on Section 3.25 of the Company Disclosure Schedule and whether or not entered into on or prior to the date hereof, is referred to herein as a "Company Material Contract". Each Company Material Contract is a valid and binding obligation of the Company or its Subsidiary party thereto enforceable against the Company or its Subsidiary party thereto in accordance with its terms (except that (i) such enforcement may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws, now or hereafter in effect, relating to creditors' rights generally and (ii) equitable remedies of specific performance and injunctive and other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought) and, to the Company's knowledge, each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect, and each of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries which is a party thereto has performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it to the date hereof under each Company Material Contract and, to the Company's knowledge, each other party to each Company Material Contract has performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under such Company Material Contract, except, in each case, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has knowledge of, or has received notice

of, any violation of or default under (or any condition which with the passage of time or the giving of notice would cause such a violation of or default under) any Company Material Contract to which it is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is bound, except for violations or defaults that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or, after giving effect to the Merger, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. "Contract" or "contract" means any written agreement, undertaking, contract, commitment, lease, license, permit, franchise, concession, deed of trust, contract, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, arrangement or other instrument or obligation.

Section 3.26 No Additional Representations. The Company acknowledges that neither Parent nor Merger Sub makes any representation or warranty as to any matter whatsoever except as expressly set forth in this Agreement or in any certificate delivered by Parent or Merger Sub to the Company in accordance with the terms hereof, and specifically (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing) that neither Parent nor Merger Sub makes any representation or warranty with respect to (a) any projections, estimates or budgets delivered or made available to the Company (or any of their respective affiliates, officers, directors, employees or Representatives) of future revenues, results of operations (or any component thereof), cash flows or financial condition (or any component thereof) of Parent and its Subsidiaries or (b) the future business and operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries in each case except as expressly set forth in this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Except as disclosed in (a) the Parent SEC Documents filed prior to the date hereof (including exhibits; provided that any representations and warranties included in any such exhibit shall not be deemed to qualify any representation or warranty in this Article IV), (b) the draft Form 10-K (dated February 5, 2010) of Parent for the year ended December 31, 2009, a copy of which has been previously furnished to the Company or (c) the disclosure schedule delivered by Parent to the Company immediately prior to the execution of this Agreement (the "Parent Disclosure Schedule"), (provided that (a) with respect to the Parent SEC Documents or such draft Form 10-K: (i) any disclosures set forth in any risk factor section, (ii) any disclosures in any section relating to forward looking statements and (iii) any other disclosures included therein that are predictive, non-specific or forward-looking in nature shall be ignored and (b) any disclosure in the Parent SEC Documents or such draft Form 10-K shall be deemed to qualify any representation or warranty in this Article IV only to the extent that such disclosure is made in such a way as to make its relevance reasonably apparent on its face (but such Parent SEC Documents or draft Form 10-K shall in no event qualify the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.1, Section 4.2 or Section 4.3)), Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company as follows:

Section 4.1 Qualification; Organization, Subsidiaries, etc.

(a) Each of Parent and its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to own,

lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted and is qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or operation of its assets or properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so organized, validly existing, qualified or in good standing, or to have such power or authority, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Parent has made available to the Company prior to the date of this Agreement a true and complete copy of its articles of incorporation and bylaws, each as amended through the date hereof and which are in full force and effect (the "Parent Organizational Documents") and has made available to the Company prior to the date of this Agreement a true and complete copy of the articles of incorporation and bylaws or other equivalent organizational documents of each of its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, each as amended through the date hereof.

- Section 4.1(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule lists each Subsidiary of (b) Parent and its jurisdiction of organization or formation and the jurisdictions in which they are qualified to do business. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each Subsidiary of Parent have been validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each Subsidiary of Parent are owned by Parent, by one or more Subsidiaries of Parent or by Parent and one or more Subsidiaries of Parent, in each case free and clear of all Liens. Except for the capital stock and other equity interests of its Subsidiaries, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries owns, directly or indirectly, any capital stock or other equity interest in any other person (including through participation in any joint venture or similar arrangement), other than the ownership of securities primarily for investment purposes as part of routine cash management or investments of 2% or less in publicly traded companies, and there are no Parent Joint Ventures. "Parent Joint Venture" means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust or other entity which is not a Subsidiary of Parent and in which (i) Parent, directly or indirectly, owns or controls any shares of any class of the outstanding voting securities or other equity interests (other than the ownership of securities primarily for investment purposes as part of routine cash management or investments of 2% or less in publicly traded companies) or (ii) Parent or a Subsidiary of Parent is a general partner.
- event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence that is materially adverse to the business, condition (financial or otherwise), properties, results of operations, liabilities, assets or operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or on the ability of Parent to consummate the Transactions but shall not be deemed to include any event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence: (i) in or affecting the economy or the financial, securities or commodities markets in the United States or elsewhere in the world, the industry or industries in which Parent or its Subsidiaries operate generally or in any specific jurisdiction or geographical area or (ii) resulting from or arising out of (A) any changes or developments in international, national, regional, state or local wholesale or retail markets for electric power, capacity or fuel or related products, including those due to actions by competitors or due to changes in commodities prices or hedging markets therefor, (B) any changes or developments in national, regional, state or local electric transmission or distribution systems or decreases in planned spending with respect thereto, including any changes to projects required under PJM's Regional Transmission Expansion Plan or

Pennsylvania's Act 129, (C) the announcement or the existence of, or compliance with, this Agreement or the Transactions, including possible Union organizing activity, (D) any taking of any action at the written request of the Company, (E) any Action arising from allegations of breach of fiduciary duty or other violation of applicable Law relating to this Agreement or the Transactions, (F) any adoption, implementation, promulgation, repeal, modification, reinterpretation or proposal of any rule, regulation, ordinance, order, protocol or any other Law (including any Environmental Law) of or by any national, regional, state or local Governmental Entity, independent system operator, regional transmission organization or market administrator, (G) any changes in GAAP or accounting standards or interpretations thereof, (H) any weatherrelated or other force majeure event or outbreak or escalation of hostilities or acts of war or terrorism or (I) any reduction in the credit rating of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to the extent attributable to the expected consummation of the Merger but not to the extent attributable to a change in Parent's or, as the case may be, such Subsidiary's business, condition (financial or otherwise), properties, results of operations, liabilities, assets or operations; provided, however, that any event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence described in each of clauses (i) and (ii)A, B, F, G or H above shall not constitute or give rise to a Parent Material Adverse Effect only if and to the extent that such event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence does not have a disproportionate effect on Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other similarly situated participants in the utility industry.

Section 4.2 <u>Capital Stock</u>.

- The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of 375,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$100 par value ("Parent Preferred Stock"). As of February 5, 2010, (i) 304,835,407 shares of Parent Common Stock were issued and outstanding, (ii) no shares of Parent Common Stock were held in treasury, (iii) 3,057,926 shares of Parent Common Stock were reserved for issuance in respect of outstanding options to acquire Parent Common Stock with a weighted average exercise price per share as of December 31, 2009 of \$34.74, (iv) 2,013,803.12 shares of Parent Common Stock were reserved for issuance in respect of settlement of any outstanding awards of restricted share units, phantom shares, restricted stock or similar equity awards with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock and (v) no shares of Parent Preferred Stock were issued or outstanding. All outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and were not issued in violation of any pre-emptive right, purchase option, call, right of first refusal or any similar right and all shares of Parent Common Stock reserved for issuance as noted in clauses (iii) and (iv), when issued in accordance with the respective terms thereof, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and were not issued in violation of any pre-emptive right, purchase option, call, right of first refusal or any similar right. No shares of Parent Common Stock are held by any Subsidiary of Parent. Except as set forth in this Section 4.2(a), at the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the date of this Agreement, no shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, Parent were issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding.
- (b) Except as set forth in subsection (a) above, as of the date hereof, there are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, convertible securities or other similar rights, agreements or commitments relating to the issuance or repurchase of capital stock or other

equity interests to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or by which any of them is bound, obligating Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to (i) issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold, any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such shares or equity interests, (ii) grant, extend or enter into any such subscription, option, warrant, call, convertible securities or other similar right, agreement or arrangement, (iii) redeem or otherwise acquire any such shares of capital stock or other equity interests or (iv) provide a material amount of funds to, or make any material investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in, any Subsidiary.

- (c) There are outstanding no bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, the holders of which have the right to vote (or which are convertible into or exercisable for securities having the right to vote) with the shareholders of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries on any matter.
- (d) There are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with respect to the voting or registration of, or restricting any person from purchasing, selling, pledging or otherwise disposing of, the capital stock or other equity interest of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (e) Parent has delivered or made available to the Company an accurate and complete copy of all employee and director stock plans of Parent and the forms of options to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock ("Parent Stock Options"), restricted share units and phantom shares with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock (collectively, "Parent Equity Awards"). There have been no repricings of any Parent Stock Options through amendments, cancellation and reissuance or other means during the current or prior two calendar years. None of the Parent Stock Options was granted with an exercise price below or deemed to be below fair market value on the date of grant. All grants of Parent Equity Awards were validly made and properly approved by the Board of Directors of Parent (or a duly authorized committee or subcommittee thereof) in compliance with all applicable Laws and properly recorded on the consolidated financial statements of Parent in accordance with GAAP, and, where applicable, no such grants involved any "back dating," "forward dating" or similar practices with respect to grants of Parent Stock Options.
- (f) All outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock and all outstanding Parent Stock Options have been issued and granted in compliance with (i) all applicable Laws and (ii) all requirements set forth in contracts applicable to the issuance of Parent Common Stock, granting of Parent Stock Options or the issuance of equity interests of any Subsidiary of Parent.
- (g) As of the date of this Agreement, the authorized capital stock of Merger Sub consists of 1,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, all of which are validly issued and outstanding. All of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Merger Sub is, and at the Effective Time will be, owned by Parent or a direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent. Merger Sub has outstanding no option, warrant, right or any other agreement pursuant to which any person other than Parent may acquire any equity security of Merger Sub. Merger Sub has not conducted any business prior to the date hereof and has, and prior to the Effective Time

will have, no assets, liabilities or obligations of any nature other than those incident to its formation and pursuant to this Agreement and the Transactions.

Section 4.3 Corporate Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Violation.

- (a) Each of Parent and Merger Sub has requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and, subject to receipt of the Parent Shareholder Approval, to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions have been duly and validly authorized by the Boards of Directors of Parent and Merger Sub and by Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub, and, except for the Parent Shareholder Approval, no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent or Merger Sub are necessary to authorize the Merger, the Stock Issuance or the consummation of the Transactions. As of the date hereof, the Board of Directors of Parent has unanimously resolved to recommend (the "Parent Recommendation") that Parent's shareholders approve the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock in connection with the Merger (the "Stock Issuance") and an amendment to Parent's articles of incorporation providing for an increase in the authorized capital stock of Parent to 495,000,000 shares (the "Charter Amendment"), and such resolutions have not been subsequently rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub, and, assuming this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of the Company, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of each of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, except that (i) such enforcement may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws, now or hereafter in effect, relating to creditors' rights generally and (ii) equitable remedies of specific performance and injunctive and other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought.
- (b) Other than in connection with or in compliance with (i) the provisions of Ohio General Corporation Law, (ii) the Exchange Act, (iii) the Securities Act, (iv) the rules and regulations of the NYSE, (v) the HSR Act, (vi) the FPA and the FERC Approval, (vii) to the extent required, the rules and regulations of the Applicable PSCs and (viii) the matters set forth on Section 4.3(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule (collectively, the "Parent Approvals"), no authorization, consent, order, license, permit or approval of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, or action by, any Governmental Entity is necessary or required to be obtained or made under applicable Law in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub, the performance by Parent and Merger Sub of their respective obligations hereunder or the consummation of the Transactions by Parent and Merger Sub, except for such authorizations, consents, approvals or filings, that, if not obtained or made, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) The execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement do not, and, provided the Parent Approvals are obtained, the consummation of the Transactions and compliance with the provisions hereof will not (i) conflict with, result in any violation of, or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of a benefit under any

loan, guarantee of indebtedness or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease, agreement, contract, instrument, permit, concession, franchise, right or license binding upon Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or result in the creation of any Lien, other than any such Lien (A) for Taxes or governmental assessments, charges or claims of payment not yet due or delinquent, being contested in good faith or for which adequate accruals or reserves have been established, (B) which is a carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's or other similar lien arising in the ordinary course of business, (C) which is disclosed on the most recent consolidated balance sheet of Parent or notes thereto or securing liabilities reflected on such balance sheet, (D) which was incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of the most recent consolidated balance sheet of the Company or (E) which does not and would not reasonably be expected to materially impair the continued use and operation of the assets to which they relate as operated as of the date hereof or any property at which the material operations of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries are conducted as of the date hereof (each of the foregoing (A) through (E), a "Parent Permitted Lien"), upon any of the properties or assets of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) conflict with or result in any violation of any provision of the articles of incorporation or bylaws or other equivalent organizational document of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) conflict with or violate any applicable Laws, other than, in the case of clauses (i) and (iii), any such violation, conflict, default, termination, cancellation, acceleration, right, loss or Lien that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.4 SEC Reports, Financial Statements and Utility Reports.

- (a) Parent has filed or furnished all forms, documents and reports required to be filed or furnished by it with the SEC since January 1, 2009 (the "Parent SEC Documents"). As of their respective dates, or, if amended, as of the date of such amendment, the Parent SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as the case may be, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and none of the Parent SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (b) Parent has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting (as such terms are defined in paragraphs (e) and (f), respectively, of Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act), as required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act. Parent's disclosure controls and procedures are reasonably designed to ensure that all material information required to be disclosed by Parent in the reports that it files or furnishes under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that all such material information is accumulated and communicated to Parent's management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to make the certifications required pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and all such required certifications have been made. Parent's management has completed an assessment of the effectiveness of Parent's internal control over financial reporting in compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for the year ended December 31, 2008, and such assessment concluded that such controls were effective.

- (c) The audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited interim consolidated financial statements (including all related notes and schedules) of Parent included in the Parent SEC Documents complied as to form in all material respects with the rules and regulations of the SEC then in effect, fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial position of Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries, as at the respective dates thereof, and the consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows for the respective periods then ended (subject, in the case of the unaudited statements, to normal recurring year-end audit adjustments that were not or are not expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to the Company), and were prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated therein or in the notes thereto).
- (d) All filings (other than immaterial filings) required to be made by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries since January 1, 2007, with the FERC under the FPA or the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005, the Department of Energy, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (the "NRC") under the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (the "Atomic Energy Act") and any applicable state public utility commissions and under applicable state law, as the case may be, have been made, including all forms, statements, reports, agreements and all documents, exhibits, amendments and supplements appertaining thereto, including all rates, tariffs, franchises, service agreements, and related documents, and all such filings complied, as of their respective dates, with all applicable requirements of applicable statutes and the rules and regulations thereunder, except for filings the failure of which to make or the failure of which to make in compliance with all applicable requirements of applicable statutes and the rules and regulations thereunder, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (e) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to become a party to, any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any similar contract (including any contract or arrangement relating to any transaction or relationship between or among Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any unconsolidated affiliate, including any structured finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity or person, on the other hand, or any "off-balance-sheet arrangement" (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act)), where the result, purpose or intended effect of such contract is to avoid disclosure of any material transaction involving, or material liabilities of, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates.
- Section 4.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except (a) as reflected or reserved against in Parent's most recent audited consolidated balance sheets (or stated in the notes thereto) included in the Parent SEC Documents and (b) for liabilities and obligations incurred since January 1, 2009 in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, and neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has any liabilities or obligations of any nature, whether or not accrued, contingent or otherwise, that would be required by GAAP to be reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries (or in the notes thereto) other than those which would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

- Section 4.6 <u>Absence of Certain Changes or Events</u>. Since January 1, 2009 through the date of this Agreement, there has not been any event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence that has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 4.7 <u>Investigations; Litigation</u>. (a) There is no investigation, audit or review pending (or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened) by any Governmental Entity with respect to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) there are no actions, suits, inquiries, arbitrations, investigations or proceedings pending (or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened) against, relating to or affecting Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (including against or in respect of any Parent Benefit Plan), or any of their respective properties at law or in equity before, and (c) there are no orders, judgments or decrees of, or before, any Governmental Entity except, in the case of clauses (a) through (c), as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.8 <u>Information Supplied</u>. None of the information provided or to be provided by Parent or its Subsidiaries for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Form S-4 will, at the time the Form S-4 is filed with the SEC, at any time it is amended or supplemented or at the time it becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; provided, that, with respect to projected financial information provided by or on behalf of Parent, Parent represents only that such information was prepared in good faith by management of Parent on the basis of assumptions believed by such management to be reasonable as of the time made. None of the information provided by Parent or its Subsidiaries for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Joint Proxy Statement will, at the date it is first mailed to Parent's shareholders or the Company's stockholders at the time of the Parent Shareholders' Meeting or the Company Stockholders' Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided, that, with respect to projected financial information provided by or on behalf of Parent, Parent represents only that such information was prepared in good faith by management of Parent on the basis of assumptions believed by such management to be reasonable as of the time made. The Form S-4 and the Joint Proxy Statement (other than the portion thereof relating solely to the Company Stockholders' Meeting) and the Form S-4 will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 4.8, no representation or warranty is made by Parent with respect to information or statements made or incorporated by reference in the Form S-4 or the Joint Proxy Statement that were not supplied by or on behalf of Parent.

Section 4.9 Compliance with Law; Permits.

(a) Parent and each of its Subsidiaries are, and since January 1, 2007 have been, in compliance with and not in default under or in violation of any applicable Laws, except where such non-compliance, default or violation would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Within the past three years, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice or, to Parent's

knowledge, other communication from any Governmental Entity regarding any actual or possible violation of, or failure to comply with, any Law, except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

- (b) Parent and its Subsidiaries are in possession of all franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, easements, variances, exceptions, consents, certificates, approvals, clearances, permissions, qualifications and registrations and orders of any Governmental Entity, and all rights under any material contract with any Governmental Entity, necessary for Parent and its Subsidiaries to own, lease and operate their properties and assets or to carry on their businesses as they are now being conducted (the "Parent Permits"), except where the failure to have any of the Parent Permits would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. All Parent Permits are valid and in full force and effect, except where the failure to be in full force and effect would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Parent is, and each of its Subsidiaries is, and their respective businesses as currently conducted are, in compliance in all material respects with the terms and requirements of such Parent Permits.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything contained in this <u>Section 4.9</u>, no representation or warranty shall be deemed to be made in this <u>Section 4.9</u> in respect of the matters referenced in <u>Section 4.4</u>, or in respect of Tax, employee benefits, labor or environmental matters.

Section 4.10 Tax Matters.

Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect:

- (a) Parent and its Subsidiaries (i) have timely filed or caused to be filed (taking into account any extension of time within which to file) all Tax Returns required to have been filed by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, and all such Tax Returns were true, correct and complete, and all such Tax Returns filed on or before December 31, 2005 have been examined by the appropriate taxing authority or the period for assessment of the Taxes in respect of which such Tax Returns were required to be filed has expired; (ii) have timely paid or caused to be paid (taking into account any extension of time within which to pay) all Taxes shown as due on such Tax Returns; (iii) have established adequate accruals and reserves, in accordance with GAAP, on the financial statements included in the Parent SEC Documents for all Taxes payable by Parent and its Subsidiaries for all taxable periods and portions thereof through the date of such financial statements; and (iv) have not received any written notice of any deficiencies for any Tax of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries from any taxing authority for which there are not adequate accruals or reserves on the financial statements included in the Parent SEC Documents.
- (b) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is the subject of any currently ongoing audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes nor has any audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes been proposed against any of them in writing, and any deficiencies asserted or assessments made as a result of any audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes have been paid in full, are being contested in good faith, or adequate accruals or reserves for such deficiencies or assessments have been established. There are no Liens for Taxes on any of the

assets of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries other than Parent Permitted Liens. No claim has ever been made in writing by a taxing authority of a jurisdiction where Parent or one of its Subsidiaries has not filed Tax Returns that Parent or such Subsidiary is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.

- (c) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any written Tax allocation, indemnification, sharing or similar agreement (other than an agreement with Parent or its Subsidiaries), except for agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is liable under Section 1.1502-6 of the Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code (or any similar provision of the Tax Laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction) for any Tax of any person other than Parent and its Subsidiaries.
- (d) Parent and its Subsidiaries have withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or other third party; such withheld amounts were either timely paid to the appropriate taxing authority or set aside in accounts for such purpose. Parent and each of its Subsidiaries have reported such withheld amounts to the appropriate taxing authority and to each such employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or other third party, as required under Law.
- (e) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries was a "distributing corporation" or "controlled corporation" in a transaction intended to qualify under Section 355 of the Code within the past two years or otherwise as part of a plan that includes the Merger.
- (f) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has participated in any "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Section 1.6011-4 of the Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code.
- (g) Parent has made available to the Company or its legal or accounting representative copies of all U.S. Federal and state income Tax Returns for Parent and each of its Subsidiaries filed for all periods including and after the period ended December 31, 2007.
- (h) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) has filed any extension of time within which to file any Tax Returns that have not been filed, except in the ordinary course of business, (ii) has entered into any agreement or other arrangement waiving or extending the statute of limitations or the period of assessment or collection of any Taxes, (iii) has granted any power of attorney that is in force with respect to any matters relating to any Taxes, (iv) has applied for a ruling from a taxing authority relating to any Taxes that has not been granted or has proposed to enter into an agreement with a taxing authority that is pending or (v) has, since December 31, 2006, entered into any "closing agreement" as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) or been issued any private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda or similar agreement or rulings by any taxing authority.
- (i) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has agreed to, requested, or is required to include any adjustment under Section 481 of the Code (or any corresponding

provision of applicable state, local or foreign Tax Law) by reason of a change in accounting method or otherwise.

(j) It is agreed and understood that no representation or warranty is made by Parent in respect of Tax matters in any Section of this Agreement other than <u>Section 4.4</u>, <u>Section 4.5</u>, <u>Section 4.11</u>, <u>Section 4.21</u> and this <u>Section 4.10</u>.

Section 4.11 Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) Section 4.11(a) of Parent Disclosure Schedule lists all material compensation or employee benefit plans, programs, policies, agreements or other arrangements, whether or not "employee benefit plans" (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA), providing cash- or equity-based incentives, health, medical, dental, disability, accident or life insurance benefits or vacation, severance, retention, change in control, retirement, pension or savings benefits, that are sponsored, maintained or contributed to by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries for the benefit of current or former employees or directors of Parent or its Subsidiaries (the "Parent Benefit Plans").
- (b) Each Parent Benefit Plan has been operated and administered in all respects in accordance with its terms and all applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code. Each Parent Benefit Plan intended to be "qualified" within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code is the subject of a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service as to its qualification and, to Parent's knowledge, no event has occurred that could reasonably be expected to result in the disqualification of such Parent Benefit Plan.
- (c) Other than routine claims for benefits, no liability under Title IV of ERISA has been incurred by Parent or any its Subsidiaries that has not been satisfied in full when due, and no condition exists that could reasonably be expected to result in a material liability to Parent or its Subsidiaries under Title IV of ERISA.
- (d) The consummation of the Transactions will not (i) entitle any current or former employee or director of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to severance, retention or change in control pay, unemployment compensation or any other payment or (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or increase the amount, of compensation due any such current or former employee or director.
- (e) There are no material pending or, to Parent's knowledge, threatened claims against, by or on behalf of, or any Liens filed against or with respect to, any of the Parent Benefit Plans or otherwise involving any Parent Benefit Plan.
- (f) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement, contract or arrangement that could result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any "excess parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code.
- (g) No Parent Benefit Plan provides benefits, including death or medical benefits (whether or not insured), with respect to current or former employees or directors of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries beyond their retirement or other termination of service, other than (i) coverage mandated solely by applicable Law, (ii) death benefits or retirement benefits

under any "employee pension benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), (iii) deferred compensation benefits accrued as liabilities on the books of Parent or its Subsidiaries, or (iv) benefits the full costs of which are borne by the current or former employee or director or his or her beneficiary.

Section 4.12 Employment and Labor Matters.

- As of the date of this Agreement (i) neither Parent nor any of its (a) Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement, work rules or other agreement with any Union applicable to employees of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries ("Parent Employees"), (ii) none of the Parent Employees is represented by any Union with respect to his or her employment with Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) to Parent's knowledge, within the past three years, no Union has attempted to organize employees at Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or filed a petition with the National Labor Relations Board seeking to be certified as the bargaining representative of any Parent Employees, (iv) within the past three years, there have been no actual or, to Parent's knowledge, threatened (A) work stoppages, lock-outs or strikes, (B) slowdowns, boycotts, handbilling, picketing, walkouts, demonstrations, leafleting, sit-ins or sick-outs by Parent Employees causing significant disruption to the operations of a Parent facility, or (C) other form of Union disruption at Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, and (v) except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect, there is no unfair labor practice, labor dispute, or labor arbitration proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened with respect to Parent Employees.
- (b) Except for such matters that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect: (i) Parent and its Subsidiaries are, and within the past three years have been, in compliance with all applicable state, federal and local Laws respecting labor and employment, including all Laws relating to discrimination, disability, labor relations, unfair labor practices, hours of work, payment of wages, employee benefits, retirement benefits, compensation, immigration, workers' compensation, working conditions, occupational safety and health, family and medical leave, reductions in force, plant closings, notification of employees, and employee terminations and (ii) neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities under WARN or any state or local Laws requiring notice with respect to such layoffs or terminations.
- (c) In the past three years, (i) no Governmental Entity has threatened (to the knowledge of Parent) or initiated any material complaints, charges, lawsuits, grievances, claims, arbitrations, administrative proceedings, or other proceeding(s) or investigation(s) with respect to Parent or its Subsidiaries arising out of, in connection with, or otherwise relating to any Parent Employees or any Laws governing labor or employment, and (ii) no Governmental Entity has issued or, to Parent's knowledge, threatened to issue any significant citation, order, judgment, fine or decree against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any Parent Employees or any Laws governing labor or employment.

Section 4.13 Environmental Laws and Regulations.

(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect:

- (i) there is no pending or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened, claim, lawsuit, or administrative proceeding against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, under or pursuant to any Environmental Law, and neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice from any person, including any Governmental Entity, alleging that Parent has been or is in violation or potentially in violation of any applicable Environmental Law or otherwise may be liable under any applicable Environmental Law, which violation or liability is unresolved:
- (ii) Parent and its Subsidiaries are and, since January 1, 2005, have been in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and with all material permits, licenses and approvals required under Environmental Laws for the conduct of their business or the operation of their facilities;
- (iii) Parent and its Subsidiaries have all material permits, licenses and approvals required for the operation of the businesses and the operation of their facilities pursuant to applicable Environmental Law, all such permits, licenses and approvals are in effect, and, to the knowledge of Parent, there is no actual or alleged proceeding to revoke, modify or terminate such permits, licenses and approvals;
- (iv) to the knowledge of Parent, there has been no release of Hazardous Materials at any real property currently or formerly owned, leased, or operated by Parent or any Subsidiary in concentrations or under conditions or circumstances that (A) would reasonably be expected to result in liability to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries under any Environmental Laws or (B) would require reporting, investigation, remediation, or other corrective or response action by Parent or any Subsidiary under any Environmental Law and that has not otherwise been addressed through such reporting, investigation, remediation, or other corrective or responsive action by Parent or any Subsidiary; and
- (v) Parent is not party to any order, judgment or decree that imposes any obligations under any Environmental Law and, to the knowledge of Parent, has not, either expressly or by operation of Law, undertaken any such obligations, including any obligation for corrective or remedial action, of any other person.
- (b) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, including Section 4.13(a)(i)-(v), Parent makes no representation or warranty with respect to Parent's or any of its Subsidiaries' compliance with Environmental Laws relating to federal or state new source review or prevention of significant deterioration air permit laws or regulations, except to the extent that Parent or a Subsidiary has, as of the date of this Agreement, received a written notice or been subject to a judicial or administrative proceeding alleging non-compliance with such laws or regulations.

(c) The representations and warranties set forth herein are Parent's sole representations and warranties relating to Environmental Law, the Environment and Hazardous Materials.

Section 4.14 Operations of Nuclear Power Plants. The operations of the nuclear generation stations owned, in whole or part, by Parent or its Subsidiaries (collectively, the "Parent Nuclear Facilities") are and have been conducted in compliance with all applicable Laws and Parent Permits, except for such failures to comply that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Parent Nuclear Facilities maintains, and is in material compliance with, emergency plans designed to respond to an unplanned release therefrom of radioactive materials and each such plan conforms with the requirements of applicable Laws in all material respects. The plans for the decommissioning of each of the Parent Nuclear Facilities and for the storage of spent nuclear fuel generated or expected to be generated at each Parent Nuclear Facility, in each case, conform with the requirements of applicable Laws in all material respects, and solely with respect to the portion of the Parent Nuclear Facilities owned, directly or indirectly, by Parent, funded consistent with applicable Laws. The Department of Energy has taken possession of the spent nuclear fuel from TMI-2 pursuant to a contract between a Subsidiary of Parent, GPU Nuclear, Inc., and the Department of Energy. To the knowledge of Parent, there are no unpaid claims by the Department of Energy against Parent or its Subsidiaries relating to the disposal of TMI-2 spent nuclear fuel. The operations of the Parent Nuclear Facilities are not the subject of any outstanding notices of violation, any ongoing proceeding, heightened or additional inspections above the NRC baseline inspection program or requests for information from the NRC or any other agency with jurisdiction over such facility, except for such notices, proceedings, inspections or requests for information that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. No Parent Nuclear Facility is listed by the NRC in the Unacceptable Performance column of the NRC Action Matrix, as a part of NRC's Assessment of Plant Performance. Liability insurance to the full extent required by applicable Law for operating the Parent Nuclear Facilities remains in full force and effect regarding such facilities, except for failures to maintain such insurance in full force and effect that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.15 <u>Insurance</u>. <u>Section 4.15</u> of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of the material insurance policies naming Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any director, officer or employee thereof as an insured or beneficiary or as a loss payable payee or for which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has paid or is obligated to pay all or part of the premiums, as of the date hereof. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has received notice of any pending or threatened cancellation or premium increase (retroactive or otherwise) with respect thereto, and Parent and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance in all material respects with all conditions contained therein. From and after January 1, 2009, Parent and its Subsidiaries have been continuously insured with financially responsible insurers or have self-insured, in each case in such amounts and against such risks as is customary for the industries in which it and its Subsidiaries operate.

Section 4.16 <u>Trading</u>. Parent has established risk parameters, limits and guidelines in compliance with the risk management policy approved by Parent's Board of Directors (the

"Parent Trading Policies") to restrict the level of risk that Parent and its Subsidiaries are authorized to take with respect to, among other things, the net position resulting from all physical commodity transactions, exchange-traded futures and options transactions, over-the-counter transactions and derivatives thereof and similar transactions (the "Net Parent Position") and monitors compliance by Parent and its Subsidiaries with such Parent Trading Policies. Parent has provided the Parent Trading Policies to the Company prior to the date of this Agreement. At no time between September 30, 2009 and the date of this Agreement, (i) has the Net Parent Position not been within the risk parameters that are set forth in the Parent Trading Policies or (ii) has the exposure of Parent and its Subsidiaries with respect to the Net Parent Position resulting from all such transactions been material to Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. From December 31, 2008 to the date of this Agreement, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has, in accordance with generally recognized mark to market accounting policies, experienced an aggregate net loss in its trading and related operations that would be material to Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

Section 4.17 Required Vote of Parent Shareholders; Merger Sub Approval.

- (a) The affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the Parent Common Stock present or represented and entitled to vote on the Stock Issuance at the Parent Shareholders' Meeting, provided that at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock vote at such meeting, is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of Parent capital stock necessary to approve the Stock Issuance and the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of Parent capital stock necessary to approve the Charter Amendment (collectively, the "Parent Shareholder Approval"), and no other vote of the holders of any class or series of Parent capital stock is necessary to approve the Stock Issuance or to approve this Agreement or the Transactions.
- (b) The Board of Directors of Merger Sub, by written consent duly adopted prior to the date hereof, (i) determined that this Agreement and the Transactions are advisable and in the best interests of Merger Sub and its stockholder, (ii) duly approved this Agreement and the Transactions, which approval has not been rescinded or modified and (iii) submitted this Agreement for adoption, and the Transactions for approval, by Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub. Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub, has duly adopted this Agreement and approved the Transactions.
- Section 4.18 <u>Lack of Ownership of Company Common Stock</u>. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries beneficially owns directly or indirectly, any shares of Company Common Stock or other securities convertible into, exchangeable for or exercisable for shares of Company Common Stock or any securities of any Subsidiary of the Company (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, any shares of Company Common Stock that may be held by Parent Benefit Plans), and neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has any rights to acquire any shares of Company Common Stock except pursuant to this Agreement. There are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with respect to the voting of the capital stock or other equity interest of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.19 Opinion of Financial Advisor. The Board of Directors of Parent has received the opinion of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, dated the date of this Agreement and customary in form, scope and substance, to the effect that, as of such date, the Exchange Ratio is fair to Parent from a financial point of view. Parent shall, promptly following receipt of said opinion in written form, furnish an accurate and complete copy of said opinion to the Company.

Section 4.20 <u>Finders or Brokers</u>. Except for Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (the fees and expenses of which will be the responsibility of Parent), neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has employed any investment banker, broker or finder in connection with the Transactions who might be entitled to any fee or any commission in connection with or upon consummation of the Merger or the Transactions. Parent has furnished to the Company accurate and complete copies of its agreements with Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated.

Section 4.21 Reorganization under the Code. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken or agreed to take any action or knows of any fact, agreement, plan or other circumstance that will prevent or impede, or is reasonably likely to prevent or impede, the Merger from qualifying as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code.

Section 4.22 <u>Regulatory Proceedings</u>. As of the date hereof, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries all or part of whose rates or services are regulated by a Governmental Entity (a) is a party to any rate proceeding before a Governmental Entity with respect to rates charged by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries other than in the ordinary course consistent with past practice, (b) has rates in any amounts that have been or are being collected subject to refund, pending final resolution of any rate proceeding pending before a Governmental Entity or on appeal to a court (other than rates based on estimated costs and/or revenues that are subject to adjustment once the actual costs and/or revenues become known) or (c) is a party to any contract with any Governmental Entity entered into other than in the ordinary course consistent with past practice imposing conditions on rates or services in effect as of the date hereof or which, to the knowledge of Parent, are as of the date hereof scheduled to go into effect at a later time, except in the case of clauses (a) through (c) that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.23 Intellectual Property. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, Parent and its Subsidiaries own or have a valid right to use all Intellectual Property Rights used in connection with and reasonably necessary for the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted. To Parent's knowledge, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has infringed, misappropriated or violated in any material respect any Intellectual Property Rights of any third party except where such infringement, misappropriation or violation would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. To Parent's knowledge, no third party is infringing, misappropriating or violating any Intellectual Property Rights owned or exclusively licensed by or to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, except where such infringement, misappropriation or violation would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.24 <u>Properties</u>. Parent or its applicable Subsidiary has (a) good and insurable title or (b) good and valid leasehold interest in and to each material parcel of real property owned or leased, as applicable, by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, subject to any Liens or exceptions that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.25 Material Contracts. As of the date hereof, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any Contract that (i) is a "material contract" (as such term is defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC), (ii) would, after giving effect to the Merger, limit or restrict the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries or any successor thereto, from engaging or competing in any line of business that it currently engages in or is a reasonable extension thereof (including after the Effective Time) or in any geographic area or contains exclusivity or non-solicitation provisions with respect to customers, (iii) limits or otherwise restricts the ability of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions to its stockholders, or (iv) provides for the operation or management of any operating assets of Parent or its Subsidiaries by any person other than Parent or its Subsidiaries. Each Contract of the type described in this Section 4.25, whether or not set forth on Section 4.25 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule and whether or not entered into on or prior to the date hereof, is referred to herein as a "Parent Material Contract." Each Parent Material Contract is a valid and binding obligation of the Parent or its Subsidiary party thereto enforceable against Parent or its Subsidiary party thereto in accordance with its terms (except that (i) such enforcement may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws, now or hereafter in effect, relating to creditors' rights generally and (ii) equitable remedies of specific performance and injunctive and other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought) and, to Parent's knowledge, each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect, and each of Parent and each of its Subsidiaries which is a party thereto has performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it to the date hereof under each Parent Material Contract and, to Parent's knowledge, each other party to each Parent Material Contract has performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under such Parent Material Contract, except, in each case, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. None of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has knowledge of, or has received notice of, any violation of or default under (or any condition which with the passage of time or the giving of notice would cause such a violation of or default under) any Parent Material Contract to which it is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is bound, except for violations or defaults that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or, after giving effect to the Merger, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.26 No Additional Representations. Parent and Merger Sub acknowledge that the Company makes no representations or warranties as to any matter whatsoever except as expressly set forth in this Agreement or in any certificate delivered by the Company to Parent or Merger Sub in accordance with the terms hereof, and specifically (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing) that the Company makes no representations or warranties with respect to (a) any projections, estimates or budgets delivered or made available to Parent or Merger Sub (or any of their respective affiliates, officers, directors, employees or Representatives) of future revenues, results of operations (or any component thereof), cash flows

or financial condition (or any component thereof) of the Company and its Subsidiaries or (b) the future business and operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries in each case except as expressly set forth in this Agreement.

ARTICLE V

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

- Section 5.1 <u>Conduct of Business by the Company</u>. From and after the date hereof and prior to the earlier of the Effective Time or the date, if any, on which this Agreement is earlier terminated pursuant to <u>Section 7.1</u> (the "<u>Termination Date</u>"), and except (i) as may be required by applicable Law, (ii) as may be agreed to in writing by Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), (iii) as may be expressly contemplated or required by this Agreement or (iv) as set forth in <u>Section 5.1</u> of the Company Disclosure Schedule:
- (a) the Company covenants and agrees with Parent that the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall be conducted in, and that such entities shall not take any action except in, the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and shall use their reasonable best efforts to preserve intact their present business organizations, to maintain in effect all existing Permits, subject to prudent management of workforce and business needs, to keep available the services of their key officers and employees, to maintain their assets and properties in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, to preserve their relationships with Governmental Entities, customers and suppliers and others having significant business dealings with them and to comply in all material respects with all Laws, orders and Permits of all Governmental Entities applicable to them; provided, however, that no action by the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to matters specifically addressed by any provision of Section 5.1(b) shall be deemed a breach of this sentence unless such action would constitute a breach of such other provision; and
- (b) the Company agrees with Parent, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, that between the date hereof and the Effective Time, without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), the Company:
 - (i) shall not adopt any amendments to its charter or bylaws or similar applicable organizational documents, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to adopt any amendments to its charter or bylaws or similar applicable organizational documents;
 - (ii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, declare, set aside or pay any dividends on or make any distribution with respect to its outstanding shares of capital stock (whether in cash, assets, stock or other securities of the Company or its Subsidiaries), except (1) the declaration and payment of quarterly cash dividends with respect to the Company Common Stock not to exceed the current dividend rate, with record dates and payment dates consistent with the Company's past dividend practice and (2) the declaration and

payment of dividends from a Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or to another wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company;

- (iii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, split, combine, reclassify or take similar actions with respect to any of its capital stock or issue or authorize or propose the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, except for any such transaction in the ordinary course by a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company which remains a wholly-owned Subsidiary after consummation of such transaction and that does not adversely affect the Company;
- (iv) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization, or enter into a letter of intent or agreement in principle with respect thereto, other than the Merger and other than any merger, consolidation, restructurings or reorganizations among the Company's wholly-owned Subsidiaries in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect the Company;
- (v) except for transactions between (x) the Company and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or (y) among the Company's wholly-owned Subsidiaries, in each case in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect the Company, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, redeem, repurchase, defease, cancel or otherwise acquire any indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than (x) at or within 120 days of stated maturity, (y) any required amortization payments and mandatory prepayments and (z) indebtedness for borrowed money arising under the agreements disclosed in Section 5.1(b)(v) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, in each case in accordance with the terms of the instrument governing such indebtedness as in effect on the date hereof;
- (vi) except (A) as permitted pursuant to Section 5.1(b)(vii)(A) and (B) as made in connection with any transaction solely between (x) the Company and a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company or (y) between wholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Company, in each case in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect the Company, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, acquire or agree to acquire (whether by merger, consolidation, purchase or otherwise) any person or assets, if (A) the amount to be expended pursuant thereto (including the amount of any assumed indebtedness) exceeds \$5 million in any one transaction (or series of related transactions) or \$25 million in the aggregate in any 12-month period for all such acquisitions) or (B) any such acquisition is reasonably likely, individually or in the aggregate, to materially delay the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(g) or Section 6.3(g) or prevent the satisfaction of such conditions;
- (vii) except (A) capital expenditures made in accordance with, and not exceeding the amounts set forth in, the Company's annual budget for

2010 and capital expenditure plan for 2011, in each case as furnished to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement; provided, that any amounts included in such budget or plan with respect to environmental matters shall be limited to amounts required by Law or that are necessary or reasonably anticipated to be necessary to meet compliance deadlines required by Law; and provided further that any amounts not spent by the Company pursuant to such budget or capital expenditure plan may be spent by the Company on reliability/availability routine maintenance projects with priority given to supercritical coal units, (B) capital expenditures (1) required by Law or Governmental Entities or (2) incurred in connection with the repair or replacement of facilities destroyed or damaged due to casualty or accident (whether or not covered by insurance), (C) other capital expenditures in an aggregate amount not to exceed (x) \$30 million on or prior to December 31, 2010 or (y) an additional \$60 million after December 31, 2010, provided that any such capital expenditures related to transmission and distribution made pursuant to clauses (x) or (y) shall not exceed \$10 million in the aggregate on or prior to December 31, 2010 and an additional \$10 million in the aggregate after December 31, 2010, or (D) capital expenditures related to the TrAIL project, the PATH project based on its required in-service date, or other projects, in each case that are either fully recoverable through FERC formula rates or can be collected in retail rates of customers through an existing pass through or tracking mechanism (or a pass through or tracking mechanism for which there is a pending request), shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, make any capital expenditures;

- except (A) dispositions among the Company and its (viii) wholly-owned Subsidiaries, (B) dispositions among the Company's whollyowned Subsidiaries, (C) dispositions of obsolete equipment or assets or dispositions of assets being replaced, in each case in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (D) dispositions by the Company or its Subsidiaries of its assets in accordance with the terms of restructuring and divestiture plans mandated by applicable local or state regulatory agencies, (E) Liens arising under existing first mortgage bond, pollution control bond, solid waste disposal bond, transition bond or other similar indentures and related securities and agreements of operating Subsidiaries of the Company, (F) provisions under existing credit facilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries that provide for the cash collateralization of letters of credit upon a default and (G) dispositions of accounts receivable of Subsidiaries of the Company under any accounts receivable financing, securitization, factoring or similar arrangements and Liens associated therewith, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, lease, license, transfer, exchange or swap, mortgage (including securitizations), subject to any Lien or otherwise dispose in any 12month period of more than \$15 million in the aggregate of its properties or assets, including the capital stock of Subsidiaries;
- (ix) except as required by the terms of a Company Benefit Plan set forth on Section 3.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule as of the date of this Agreement or by applicable Law, shall not, and shall not permit any of its

Subsidiaries to, (A) except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, increase the compensation or other benefits (including equity-based awards) payable or provided to the Company's directors, executive officers, managers or employees (other than as required by any applicable collective bargaining agreement), (B) enter into any employment, change of control, severance or retention agreement with any current or future employee of the Company (except (1) for agreements entered into with any newly-hired, nonexecutive officer employees or replacements or as a result of promotions, in each case to the extent consistent with past practice, (2) for employment agreements terminable on less than 30 days' notice without penalty or (3) for severance agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice with employees who are not executive officers, in connection with terminations of employment), (C) establish, adopt, enter into, accelerate any rights or benefits under, or amend (other than any amendment that is immaterial or administrative in nature) any plan, policy, program or arrangement for the benefit of any current or former directors, officers or employees or any of their beneficiaries, except as permitted pursuant to clause (B) above, or (D) enter into, accelerate any rights or benefits under, amend or renew any collective bargaining agreements other than as set forth on Section 5.1(b)(ix) of the Company Disclosure Schedule;

except for transactions (x) among the Company and its (x) wholly-owned Subsidiaries or (y) among the Company's wholly-owned Subsidiaries, in each case in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect the Company, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber, or authorize the issuance, sale, pledge, disposition or encumbrance of, any shares of its capital stock or other ownership interest in the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any such shares or ownership interest, or any rights, warrants or options to acquire or with respect to any such shares of capital stock, ownership interest or convertible or exchangeable securities or take any action to cause to be exercisable any otherwise unexercisable option under any existing stock option plan (except as otherwise provided by the terms of this Agreement, as required by the terms of any Company Benefit Plan, or the express terms of any unexercisable or unexercised options outstanding on the date hereof), other than (A) issuances of shares of Company Common Stock in respect of any exercise of Company Stock Options and settlement of any Company Performance Shares and Company RSUs outstanding on the date hereof or as may be granted after the date hereof as permitted under this Section 5.1(b), (B) the sale of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of options exercisable into, or the vesting of awards with respect to, Company Common Stock, to purchase Company Common Stock if necessary to effectuate an optionee direction upon exercise or for withholding of Taxes and (C) the grant of equity compensation awards in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the Company's customary compensation practices, provided that any such awards granted after the date hereof shall be granted on terms pursuant to which such awards shall not vest or accelerate as a result of the Merger or the occurrence of the Closing

(<u>provided further</u>, however, that such awards may provide that they shall vest and/or accelerate upon a termination of employment without "cause" or upon a "good reason termination" within the meaning of the applicable award agreement or the Company's Executive Change in Control Severance Plan (determined without regard to whether the holder of the award is a participant in such plan and without regard to whether a change in control within the meaning of such plan has occurred));

- (xi) except for transactions (x) among the Company and its wholly-owned (directly or indirectly) Subsidiaries or (y) among the Company's wholly-owned (directly or indirectly) Subsidiaries, in each case in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect the Company, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of the capital stock of any of them or any rights or options to acquire any such shares;
- shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (A) create, incur, assume, suffer to exist or otherwise be liable with respect to any indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantees thereof or enter into any "keep well" or other agreement to maintain any financial condition of another person or enter into any arrangement having the economic effect of any of the foregoing (including any capital leases, "synthetic" leases or conditional sale or other title retention agreement) or issue or sell any debt securities, other than (1) in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice on terms that allow for prepayment at any time without penalty, (2) indebtedness incurred by any Subsidiary of the Company under any loan permitted by clause (B) in this Section 5.1(b)(xii), (3) in connection with a refinancing of existing indebtedness within 120 days of its stated maturity or at a lower cost of funds or (4) for borrowings under the Company's and its Subsidiaries' existing commercial paper programs or revolving credit facilities, provided in the case of each of clauses (1) through (4) such actions are not reasonably likely to cause any two of Fitch Ratings, Ltd., Standard & Poor's or Moody's Investors Service to recognize the Company's corporate credit rating to be less than investment grade; or (B) other than in connection with actions permitted by Section 5.1(b)(vi) and Section 5.1(b)(vii), make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other person, other than (1) in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (2) between the Company and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or between the Company's wholly-owned Subsidiaries or (3) as required pursuant to any obligation in effect as of the date of this Agreement;
- (xiii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, materially change financial accounting policies or procedures or any of its methods of reporting income, deductions or other material items for financial accounting purposes, except as required by GAAP, SEC rule or policy or applicable Law (except for any normal purchase/normal sale designation or designation of hedge accounting relationships for derivatives);

- (xiv) shall not amend or terminate the Company Trading Policies, or take any action that materially violates the Company Trading Policies or that causes the Net Company Position to be materially outside the risk parameters set forth in the Company Trading Policies;
- (xv) except (x) as required by applicable Law or (y) as would not reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (A) settle or compromise any claim, action or proceeding relating to Taxes, (B) make, change or revoke any Tax election, except in the ordinary course of business, (C) change any methods of Tax accounting, except as required by GAAP, (D) file any amended Tax Return, (E) enter into any closing agreement affecting any Tax liability or refund or (F) extend or waive the application of any statute of limitations regarding the assessment or collection of any Tax (this clause (xv) being the sole provision of this Section 5.1(b) governing Tax matters);
- (xvi) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, pay or settle any material legal proceedings, other than payments or settlements (A) that do not exceed \$25 million individually or \$40 million in the aggregate in any consecutive 12-month period, (B) that have become due and payable prior to the date hereof or (C) in connection with regulatory proceedings before any Governmental Entities excluding the item on Section 5.1(b)(xvi) of the Company Disclosure Schedule; (provided that the exceptions set forth in clauses (A), (B) and (C) shall not apply to any proceedings arising out of or related to this Agreement or the Transactions);
- (xvii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (A) enter into any new line of business or (B) conduct any business outside the United States except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (xviii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, agree or consent to any material agreements or material modifications of existing agreements or course of dealings with any Governmental Entities in respect of the operations of their businesses, except as required by Law to renew Permits or agreements in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (xix) shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries, to maintain with financially responsible insurance companies (or through self-insurance not inconsistent with such party's past practice), insurance in such amounts and against such risks and losses as are customary for companies engaged in the utility industry;
- (xx) (A) to the extent permitted by applicable Law, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, on a reasonable basis, (1) discuss with Parent any changes in its or its Subsidiaries' regulated rates or charges (other than pass-through charges, including the ENEC or rate changes in accordance with existing formula rates), standards of service or regulatory

accounting from those in effect on the date of this Agreement or (2) consult with Parent prior to making any filing (or any amendment thereto), or effecting any agreement, commitment, arrangement or consent, whether written or oral, formal or informal, with respect thereto (other than filings related to the ENEC and to implement rate changes in accordance with existing formula rates); and (B) the Company will not make, or permit any Subsidiary to make, any filing to change its rates on file with the FERC or any other regulatory commission that would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have (1) a Company Material Adverse Effect or (2) a Company Material Adverse Effect on the applicable Subsidiary (provided that for such purposes, the Company shall be deemed to be an entity the size and scale of such Subsidiary). Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to consult or have discussions with Parent prior to (i) entering into arrangements with customers in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices and (ii) taking any of the actions described in this Section 5.1(b)(xx) concerning pass-through charges, the ENEC, or rate changes in accordance with existing formula rates:

- (xxi) shall not, and shall not permit its Subsidiaries to, enter into, terminate or materially modify or amend any contract that is or would be a (x) Company Material Contract, (y) power sale contract which has a term of three years or longer or (z) coal purchase contract which has a term of two years or longer; provided that (A) the foregoing shall apply solely to the extent permitted by applicable Law, (B) the Company and its Subsidiaries may enter into contracts covered by this subsection (xxi) in a amount not exceeding \$5 million for any individual contract or \$25 million in the aggregate per fiscal year, (C) the Company and its Subsidiaries may enter into contracts in respect of the TrAIL project, PATH project or any other project that is fully recoverable through FERC formula rates or that can be collected in retail rates of customers through an existing pass through or tracking mechanism (or a pass through or tracking mechanism for which there is a pending request), (D) the Company and its Subsidiaries may enter into any power sale contract awarded in a competitive procurement process irrespective of the terms of such contract, and (E) for avoidance of doubt, this subsection (xxi) shall not apply to those contracts which are otherwise permitted to be entered into by the Company or its Subsidiaries pursuant to Section 5.1(b);
- (xxii) shall not, and shall not permit its Subsidiaries to, enter into or amend any contract, or take any other action, if such contract, amendment of a contract or action would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the consummation of the Merger or the Transactions; and
- (xxiii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, agree or commit, in writing or otherwise, to take any of the foregoing actions.

- Section 5.2 <u>Conduct of Business by Parent</u>. From and after the date hereof and prior to the earlier of the Effective Time and the Termination Date, and except (i) as may be required by applicable Law, (ii) as may be agreed to in writing by the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), (iii) as may be expressly contemplated or required by this Agreement or (iv) as set forth in Section 5.2 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule:
- (a) Parent covenants and agrees with the Company that the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries shall be conducted in, and that such entities shall not take any action except in, the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and shall use their reasonable best efforts to preserve intact their present business organizations, to maintain in effect all existing Permits, subject to prudent management of workforce and business needs, to keep available the services of their key officers and employees, to maintain their assets and properties in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, to preserve their relationships with Governmental Entities, customers and suppliers and others having significant business dealings with them and to comply in all material respects with all Laws, orders and Permits of all Governmental Entities applicable to them; provided, however, that no action by Parent or its Subsidiaries with respect to matters specifically addressed by any provision of Section 5.2(b) shall be deemed a breach of this sentence unless such action would constitute a breach of such other provision; and
- (b) Parent agrees with the Company, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, that between the date hereof and the Effective Time, without the prior written consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), Parent:
 - (i) shall not adopt any amendments to its articles of incorporation or bylaws or similar applicable organizational documents, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, to adopt any amendments to its articles of incorporation or bylaws or similar applicable organizational documents;
 - (ii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, declare, set aside or pay any dividends on or make any distribution with respect to its outstanding shares of capital stock (whether in cash, assets, stock or other securities of Parent or its Subsidiaries), except (1) the declaration and payment of quarterly cash dividends with respect to Parent Common Stock not to exceed the current dividend rate, with record dates and payment dates consistent with Parent's past dividend practice and (2) the declaration and payment of dividends from a Subsidiary of Parent to Parent or to another wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent;
 - (iii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, split, combine, or reclassify or take similar actions with respect to any of its capital stock or issue or authorize or propose the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, except for any such transaction in the ordinary course by a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent which remains a wholly-owned Subsidiary after consummation of such transaction and that does not adversely affect Parent;

- (iv) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization, or enter into a letter of intent or agreement in principle with respect thereto, other than the Merger and other than any merger, consolidation, restructurings or reorganizations among Parent's wholly-owned Subsidiaries, in each case, in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect Parent;
- (v) except for transactions between (x) Parent and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or (y) among Parent's wholly-owned Subsidiaries, in each case in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect Parent, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries, to redeem, repurchase, defease, cancel or otherwise acquire any indebtedness for borrowed money of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, other than (x) at or within 120 days of stated maturity, (y) any required amortization payments and mandatory prepayments and (z) indebtedness for borrowed money arising under the agreements disclosed in Section 5.2(b)(v) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, in each case in accordance with the terms of the instrument governing such indebtedness as in effect on the date hereof;
- (vi) except as made in connection with any transaction solely between (x) Parent and a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent or (y) between wholly-owned Subsidiaries of Parent, in each case in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect Parent, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, acquire or agree to acquire (whether by merger, consolidation, purchase or otherwise) any person or assets, if (A) the amount to be expended pursuant thereto (including the amount of any assumed indebtedness) exceeds \$350 million in any one transaction (or series of related transactions) or \$700 million in the aggregate for all such acquisitions; provided that any such acquisition would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a downgrade of Parent's unsecured credit rating below investment grade or (B) any such acquisition is reasonably likely, individually or in the aggregate, to materially delay the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(g) or Section 6.3(g) or prevent the satisfaction of such conditions;
- (vii) except for (A) dispositions among Parent and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries, (B) dispositions among Parent's wholly-owned Subsidiaries, (C) dispositions of obsolete equipment or assets or dispositions of assets being replaced, in each case in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (D) dispositions by Parent or its Subsidiaries of its assets in accordance with the terms of restructuring and divestiture plans mandated by applicable local or state regulatory agencies, (E) Liens arising under existing first mortgage bond, pollution control bond, solid waste disposal bond, transition bond or other similar indentures and related securities and agreements of operating Subsidiaries of Parent, (F) provisions under existing credit facilities of Parent and its Subsidiaries that provide for the cash collateralization of letters of credit upon a default and (G) dispositions of accounts receivable of Subsidiaries of Parent under any accounts receivable financing, securitization, factoring or similar arrangements and Liens

associated therewith, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, lease, license, transfer, exchange or swap, mortgage (including securitizations), subject to any Lien or otherwise dispose of any material portion of its material properties or assets, including the capital stock of Subsidiaries;

- except as required by the terms of a Parent Benefit Plan set forth on Section 4.11(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule as of the date of this Agreement, by applicable Law or in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (A) materially increase the compensation or other benefits (including equity-based awards), payable or provided to Parent's directors, executive officers, managers or employees (other than as required by any applicable collective bargaining agreement), (B) enter into any employment, change of control, severance or retention agreement with any current or future employee of Parent (except (1) for agreements entered into with any newly-hired employees or replacements or as a result of promotions, in each case to the extent consistent with past practice, (2) for employment agreements terminable on less than 30 days' notice without penalty (3) for severance agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice with employees who are not executive officers, in connection with terminations of employment, (4) renewals of existing severance agreements or (5) employment or severance agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice with executive officers, provided that such agreements will not result in payments solely as a result of the consummation of the Transactions), (C) establish, adopt, enter into, accelerate any rights or benefits under, or amend (other than any amendment that is immaterial or administrative in nature) any plan, policy, program or arrangement for the benefit of any current or former directors, officers or employees or any of their beneficiaries, except as permitted pursuant to clause (B) above, or (D) enter into, accelerate any rights or benefits under, amend or renew any collective bargaining agreements except in the ordinary course of business;
- except for transactions (x) among Parent and its whollyowned (directly or indirectly) Subsidiaries or (y) among Parent's wholly-owned (directly or indirectly) Subsidiaries, in each case in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect Parent, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber, or authorize the issuance, sale, pledge, disposition or encumbrance of, any shares of its capital stock or other ownership interest in Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any such shares or ownership interest, or any rights, warrants or options to acquire or with respect to any such shares of capital stock, ownership interest or convertible or exchangeable securities or take any action to cause to be exercisable any otherwise unexercisable option under any existing stock option plan (except as otherwise provided by the terms of this Agreement, as required by the terms of any Parent Benefit Plan, or the express terms of any unexercisable or unexercised options outstanding on the date hereof), other than (A) issuances of shares of Parent Common Stock in respect of any exercise of Parent Stock Options and settlement

of any restricted share units, phantom shares, restricted stock or similar equity awards with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock outstanding on the date hereof or as may be granted after the date hereof as permitted under this Section 5.2(b), (B) the sale of shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of options exercisable into, or the vesting of awards with respect to, Parent Common Stock, to purchase Parent Common Stock if necessary to effectuate an optionee direction upon exercise or for withholding of Taxes and (C) the grant of equity compensation awards in the ordinary course of business in accordance with Parent's customary compensation practices, provided that any such awards granted after the date hereof shall be granted on terms pursuant to which such awards shall not vest or accelerate as a result of the Merger or the occurrence of the Closing;

- (x) except for transactions (x) among Parent and its whollyowned Subsidiaries or (y) among Parent's wholly-owned Subsidiaries, in each case in the ordinary course and that do not adversely affect Parent, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of the capital stock of any of them or any rights or options to acquire any such shares;
- shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (A) create, incur, assume, suffer to exist or otherwise be liable with respect to any indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantees thereof or enter into any "keep well" or other agreement to maintain any financial condition of another person or enter into any arrangement having the economic effect of any of the foregoing (including any capital leases, "synthetic" leases or conditional sale or other title retention agreement) or issue or sell any debt securities, other than (1) in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (2) indebtedness incurred by any Subsidiary of Parent under any loan permitted by clause (B) in this Section 5.2(b)(xi), (3) in connection with a refinancing of existing indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or (4) for borrowings under Parent's and its Subsidiaries' existing commercial paper programs or revolving credit facilities, provided in the case of each of clauses (1) through (4) such actions are not reasonably likely to cause any two of Fitch Ratings, Ltd., Standard & Poor's or Moody's Investors Service to recognize the Parent's corporate credit rating to be less than investment grade; or (B) other than in connection with actions permitted by Section 5.2(b)(vi) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other person, other than (1) in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (2) between Parent and its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or between Parent's wholly-owned Subsidiaries, or (3) as required pursuant to any obligation in effect as of the date of this Agreement;
- (xii) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, materially change financial accounting policies or procedures or any of its methods of reporting income, deductions or other material items for financial accounting purposes, except as required by GAAP, SEC rule or policy or

applicable Law (except for any normal purchase/normal sale designation or designation of hedge accounting relationships for derivatives);

- (xiii) shall not amend or terminate the Parent Trading Policies, or take any action that materially violates the Parent Trading Policies or that causes the Net Parent Position to be materially outside the risk parameters set forth in the Parent Trading Policies;
- (xiv) except (x) as required by applicable Law or (y) as would not reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (A) settle or compromise any claim, action or proceeding relating to Taxes, (B) make, change or revoke any Tax election, except in the ordinary course of business, (C) change any methods of Tax accounting, except as required by GAAP, (D) file any amended Tax Return, (E) enter into any closing agreement affecting any Tax liability or refund or (F) extend or waive the application of any statute of limitations regarding the assessment or collection of any Tax (this clause (xiv) being the sole provision of this Section 5.2(b) governing Tax matters);
- (xv) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, pay or settle any material legal proceedings, other than payments or settlements (A) that do not exceed \$30 million individually or \$70 million in the aggregate in any consecutive 12-month period, (B) that have become due and payable prior to the date hereof or (C) in connection with regulatory proceedings before any Governmental Entities; (provided that the exceptions set forth in clauses (A), (B) and (C) shall not apply to any proceedings arising out of or related to this Agreement or the Transactions);
- (xvi) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (A) enter into any new line of business or (B) conduct any business outside the United States except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (xvii) shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries, to maintain with financially responsible insurance companies (or through self-insurance not inconsistent with such party's past practice), insurance in such amounts and against such risks and losses as are customary for companies engaged in the utility industry;
- (xviii) shall not, and shall not permit its Subsidiaries to, enter into or amend any contract, or take any other action, if such contract, amendment of a contract or action would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the consummation of the Merger or the Transactions; and
- (xix) shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, agree or commit, in writing or otherwise, to take any of the foregoing actions.

Section 5.3 <u>Investigation</u>.

- (a) Each of the Company and Parent shall afford the other party and (x) the officers and employees and (y) the accountants, consultants, legal counsel, financial advisors and agents and other representatives (such persons described in this clause (y), collectively, "Representatives") of such other party reasonable access during normal business hours, throughout the period prior to the earlier of the Effective Time and the Termination Date, to its and its Subsidiaries' personnel and properties, contracts, commitments, books and records and any report, schedule or other document filed or received by it pursuant to the requirements of applicable Laws and with such additional accounting, financing, operating and other data and information regarding the Company and its Subsidiaries, as Parent may reasonably request, and Parent and its Subsidiaries, as the Company may reasonably request, as the case may be. Consistent with applicable Law, each of Parent and the Company shall, and shall cause each of its respective Subsidiaries to, (i) confer, on a reasonable basis, with one or more representatives of the other party to discuss material operational and regulatory matters and the general status of its ongoing operations for purposes related to the completion of the Transactions (including a party's assessment of the proper accounting for such transactions, any public disclosures that a party is required to make regarding such transactions and reasonable access to management and systems needed for integration planning) or the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement and (ii) furnish promptly all other information concerning its business, properties and personnel, in each case as such other party may reasonably request in connection with activities relating to the completion of the Transactions or the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement. The Company shall afford Parent and its officers, employees and Representatives access to the Company's and its Subsidiaries' properties for the purpose of performing environmental site assessments, provided, however, that such assessments shall not include environmental sampling or testing unless expressly authorized by the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Company nor Parent shall be required to afford the access described in this Section 5.3 if it would unreasonably disrupt the operations of such party or any of its Subsidiaries, would cause a violation of any agreement to which such party or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, would cause a risk of a loss of privilege to such party or any of its Subsidiaries or would constitute a violation of any applicable Law.
- (b) The parties hereto hereby agree that all information provided to them or their respective officers, directors, employees or Representatives in connection with this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions shall be deemed to be "Proprietary Information," as such term is used in, and shall be treated in accordance with, the Confidentiality Agreement, dated as of January 8, 2010, between the Company and Parent (the "Confidentiality Agreement").

Section 5.4 Non-Solicitation by the Company.

(a) The Company agrees that neither it nor any Subsidiary of the Company, nor any of their respective officers, directors or employees, shall, and that it shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their respective Representatives not to (and shall not authorize or permit its and their respective Representatives to), directly or indirectly: (i) solicit, initiate, seek or knowingly encourage (including by way of furnishing information) or knowingly take any other action designed to facilitate any inquiries or the making, submission or announcement of any Company Acquisition Proposal, (ii) furnish any nonpublic information regarding the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any person (other than Parent or Merger Sub)

in connection with or in response to a Company Acquisition Proposal, (iii) engage or participate in any discussions or negotiations with any person (other than Parent or Merger Sub) with respect to any Company Acquisition Proposal, (iv) approve, endorse or recommend any Company Acquisition Proposal or (v) enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle or other agreement providing for any Company Acquisition Transaction (except as contemplated by Section 7.1(j); provided, however, that this Section 5.4 shall not prohibit (A) the Company, or the Board of Directors of the Company, directly or indirectly through any officer, employee or Representative, prior to the receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, from furnishing nonpublic information regarding the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to, or entering into or participating in discussions or negotiations with, any person in response to an unsolicited, bona fide written Company Acquisition Proposal that the Board of Directors of the Company concludes in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors, constitutes or is reasonably likely to lead to a Company Superior Offer if (1) the Board of Directors of the Company concludes in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that the failure to take such action with respect to such Company Acquisition Proposal would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the exercise by the Board of Directors of their duties under applicable Laws, (2) such Company Acquisition Proposal did not result from a breach of this Section 5.4(a) (other than any such breach that is unintentional and immaterial in effect), (3) the Company gives to Parent the notice required by Section 5.4(b), and (4) the Company furnishes any nonpublic information provided to the maker of the Company Acquisition Proposal only pursuant to a confidentiality agreement between the Company and such person on terms no less favorable to the Company than the Confidentiality Agreement (provided that such confidentiality agreement shall not in any way restrict the Company from complying with its disclosure obligations under this Agreement, including with respect to such proposal), and such furnished information is delivered to Parent at substantially the same time (to the extent such information has not been previously furnished or made available by the Company to Parent); or (B) the Company from taking and disclosing to its stockholders a position contemplated by Rule 14d-9 and Rule 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act with regard to any Company Acquisition Proposal, provided, however, that compliance with such rules shall not in any way limit or modify the effect that any action taken pursuant to such rules has under any other provision of this Agreement and in no event shall the Company or the Company Board of Directors or a committee thereof take any action that would constitute a Company Change in Recommendation in respect of a Company Acquisition Proposal other than in compliance with Section 5.4(d).

(b) The Company shall promptly, and in no event later than 24 hours after its receipt of any Company Acquisition Proposal, or any request for nonpublic information relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with a Company Acquisition Proposal, advise Parent orally and in writing of such Company Acquisition Proposal or request, including providing the identity of the person making or submitting such Company Acquisition Proposal or request, and, (x) if it is in writing, a copy of such Company Acquisition Proposal and any related draft agreements and (y) if oral, a reasonably detailed summary of any such Company Acquisition Proposal or request that is made or submitted by any person during the period between the date hereof and the Closing. The Company shall (i) keep Parent informed in all material respects on a prompt basis with respect to any change to the status or material terms of any such Company Acquisition Proposal (and in no event later than 24 hours following any such change), (ii) provide to Parent as soon as practicable after receipt or delivery thereof with copies of all correspondence and other written material sent or provided to the Company from any third

party in connection with any Company Acquisition Proposal or sent or provided by the Company to any third party in connection with any Company Acquisition Proposal and (iii) provide Parent with advance written notice of any scheduled meeting of the Company Board of Directors to discuss a Company Acquisition Proposal.

- (c) Upon the execution of this Agreement, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and its and their respective officers, directors and employees, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their respective Representatives to, immediately cease and terminate any discussions existing as of the date of this Agreement between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective officers, directors, employees or Representatives and any person (other than Parent) that relate to any Company Acquisition Proposal and, to the extent provided by the applicable confidentiality agreement or similar agreement governing such discussions, require any third party to such discussions to return to the Company or to destroy all confidential information of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Company agrees not to, and to cause its Subsidiaries not to, waive, or otherwise release any third party from, the confidentiality and standstill provisions of any agreement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may become a party and agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to enforce the provisions of such agreements.
- Except as contemplated by this Section 5.4(d), neither the Board of (d) Directors of the Company nor any committee thereof shall (i) (A) withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify, or resolve to or publicly propose to withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify the Company Recommendation in a manner adverse to Parent, (B) make any other public statement in connection with the Company Stockholders' Meeting or this Agreement or the Transactions inconsistent with the Company Recommendation, (C) approve, adopt or recommend any Company Acquisition Proposal or (D) fail to reaffirm or re-publish the Company Recommendation within five days of being requested by Parent to do so (each such action set forth in clauses (A) through (D) above being a "Company Change of Recommendation") or (ii) approve, adopt or recommend, or publicly propose to approve, adopt or recommend, a merger agreement, letter of intent, agreement in principle, share purchase agreement, asset purchase agreement, share exchange agreement, option agreement or other similar contract (other than the confidentiality agreement referred to in Section 5.4(a)) or any tender offer providing for, with respect to, or in connection with any Company Acquisition Proposal. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board of Directors of the Company may at any time prior to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, in respect of a Company Acquisition Proposal, (i) make a Company Change of Recommendation and (ii) terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(j) of this Agreement, if (and only if): (A) a Company Acquisition Proposal is made to the Company by a third party, and such offer is not withdrawn; (B) the Company's Board of Directors determines in good faith after consultation with its financial advisors that such offer constitutes a Company Superior Offer; (C) following consultation with outside legal counsel, the Company's Board of Directors determines that the failure to make a Company Change of Recommendation, or to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(j) of this Agreement, would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the exercise of its duties under applicable Laws, (D) the Company Board of Directors has provided to Parent five business days prior written notice of its intent to effect a Company Change of Recommendation (which notice shall include the reasonable details regarding the cause for, and nature of, the Company Change of Recommendation and, if requested by Parent, negotiated in good faith with Parent during such

five business day period regarding revisions to this Agreement which would avoid such Company Change of Recommendation; and (E) the Company Board of Directors has provided to Parent advance written notice of such Company Change of Recommendation at least two hours prior thereto. The Board of Directors of the Company may not, in respect of a Company Acquisition Proposal, make a Company Change of Recommendation in a manner adverse to Parent except in compliance in all respects with this Section 5.4(d). For the avoidance of doubt, a change of the Company Recommendation to "neutral" is a Company Change of Recommendation.

(e) Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit or restrict the Board of Directors of the Company, at any time prior to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, in circumstances not involving or relating to a Company Acquisition Proposal, from effecting a Company Change of Recommendation if the Board of Directors of the Company determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the exercise by the Board of Directors of its duties under applicable Laws if (and only if): (A) the Company Board of Directors has provided to Parent five business days prior written notice of its intent to effect a Company Change of Recommendation (which notice shall include the reasonable details regarding the cause for, and nature of, the Company Change of Recommendation) and, if requested by Parent, negotiated in good faith with Parent during such five business day period regarding revisions to this Agreement that would avoid such Company Change of Recommendation and (B) the Company Board of Directors has provided to Parent advance written notice of such Company Change of Recommendation at least two hours prior thereto.

(f) As used in this Agreement:

- (i) "<u>Company Acquisition Proposal</u>" shall mean any bona fide offer, inquiry, proposal or indication of interest received from a third party (other than an offer, inquiry, proposal or indication of interest by a party to this Agreement) relating to any Company Acquisition Transaction;
- (ii) "Company Acquisition Transaction" shall mean any transaction or series of transactions involving: (a) any merger, consolidation, share exchange, recapitalization, business combination or similar transaction involving the Company other than the Transactions; (b) any direct or indirect acquisition of securities, tender offer, exchange offer or other similar transaction in which a person or "Group" (as defined in the Exchange Act) of persons directly or indirectly acquires beneficial or record ownership of securities representing twenty percent (20%) or more of any class of equity securities of the Company; (c) any direct or indirect acquisition of any business or businesses or of assets that constitute or account for twenty percent (20%) or more of the consolidated net revenues, net income or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; or (d) any liquidation or dissolution of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; and
- (iii) "Company Superior Offer" shall mean a Company Acquisition Proposal to acquire at least a majority of the outstanding equity

securities or assets of the Company on terms that the Company's Board of Directors determines, in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and its financial advisor, is more favorable, from a financial point of view, to the Company's stockholders than the Merger and the Transactions (including any proposal by Parent to amend the terms of this Agreement which are committed to in writing) and is reasonably likely to be consummated, taking into account, (a) all financial considerations and financial aspects of such Company Acquisition Proposal and the Merger and other Transactions, (b) all strategic considerations, including whether such Company Acquisition Proposal is more favorable from a long-term strategic standpoint, (c) all legal and regulatory considerations of such Company Acquisition Proposal and the Merger and other Transactions, (d) the identity of the third party making such Company Acquisition Proposal, (e) the conditions and likelihood of completion of such Company Acquisition Proposal as compared to the Merger and other Transactions (taking into account any necessary regulatory approvals), (f) whether such Company Acquisition Proposal is likely to impose material obligations on the Company (or the post-closing entity in which the Company's stockholders will hold securities) in connection with obtaining necessary regulatory approvals, (g) whether such Company Acquisition Proposal is subject to a financing condition and the likelihood of such Company Acquisition Proposal being financed, and (h) the payment of any Company Termination Fee, if relevant.

Section 5.5 Non-Solicitation by Parent.

Parent agrees that neither it nor any Subsidiary of Parent, nor any of their (a) respective officers, directors or employees, shall, and that it shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their respective Representatives not to (and shall not authorize or permit its and their respective Representatives to), directly or indirectly: (i) solicit, initiate, seek or knowingly encourage (including by way of furnishing information) or knowingly take any other action designed to facilitate any inquiries or the making, submission or announcement of any Parent Acquisition Proposal, (ii) furnish any nonpublic information regarding Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to any person (other than the Company) in connection with or in response to a Parent Acquisition Proposal, (iii) engage or participate in any discussions or negotiations with any person (other than the Company) with respect to any Parent Acquisition Proposal, (iv) approve, endorse or recommend any Parent Acquisition Proposal or (v) enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle or other agreement providing for any Parent Acquisition Transaction (except as contemplated by Section 7.1(k)); provided, however, that this Section 5.5 shall not prohibit (A) Parent, or the Board of Directors of Parent, directly or indirectly through any officer, employee or Representative, prior to the receipt of the Parent Shareholder Approval, from furnishing nonpublic information regarding Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to, or entering into or participating in discussions or negotiations with, any person in response to an unsolicited, bona fide written Parent Acquisition Proposal that the Board of Directors of Parent concludes in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors, constitutes or is reasonably likely to lead to a Parent Superior Offer if (1) the Board of Directors of Parent concludes in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that the failure to take such action with respect to such Parent Acquisition Proposal would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the exercise by the Board of Directors of their fiduciary duties under applicable Laws, (2) such Parent

Acquisition Proposal did not result from a breach of this Section 5.5(a) (other than any such breach that is unintentional and immaterial in effect), (3) Parent gives to the Company the notice required by Section 5.5(b), and (4) Parent furnishes any nonpublic information provided to the maker of the Parent Acquisition Proposal only pursuant to a confidentiality agreement between Parent and such person on terms no less favorable to Parent than the Confidentiality Agreement (provided that such confidentiality agreement shall not in any way restrict Parent from complying with its disclosure obligations under this Agreement, including with respect to such proposal), and such furnished information is delivered to the Company at substantially the same time (to the extent such information has not been previously furnished or made available by Parent to the Company); or (B) Parent from taking and disclosing to its shareholders a position contemplated by Rule 14d-9 and Rule 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act with regard to any Parent Acquisition Proposal, provided, however, that compliance with such rules shall not in any way limit or modify the effect that any action taken pursuant to such rules has under any other provision of this Agreement and in no event shall Parent or the Parent Board of Directors or a committee thereof take any action that would constitute a Parent Change in Recommendation in respect of a Parent Acquisition Proposal other than in compliance with Section 5.5(d).

- Parent shall promptly, and in no event later than 24 hours after its receipt (b) of any Parent Acquisition Proposal, or any request for nonpublic information relating to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with a Parent Acquisition Proposal, advise the Company orally and in writing of such Parent Acquisition Proposal or request, including providing the identity of the person making or submitting such Parent Acquisition Proposal or request, and, (x) if it is in writing, a copy of such Parent Acquisition Proposal and any related draft agreements and (y) if oral, a reasonably detailed summary of any such Parent Acquisition Proposal or request that is made or submitted by any person during the period between the date hereof and the Closing. Parent shall (i) keep the Company informed in all material respects on a prompt basis with respect to any change to the status or material terms of any such Parent Acquisition Proposal (and in no event later than 24 hours following any such change), (ii) provide to the Company as soon as practicable after receipt or delivery thereof with copies of all correspondence and other written material sent or provided to Parent from any third party in connection with any Parent Acquisition Proposal or sent or provided by Parent to any third party in connection with any Parent Acquisition Proposal and (iii) provide the Company with advance written notice of any scheduled meeting of the Parent Board of Directors to discuss a Parent Acquisition Proposal.
- C) Upon the execution of this Agreement, Parent shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and its and their respective officers, directors and employees, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their respective Representatives to, immediately cease and terminate any discussions existing as of the date of this Agreement between Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective officers, directors, employees or Representatives and any person (other than the Company) that relate to any Parent Acquisition Proposal and, to the extent provided by the applicable confidentiality agreement or similar agreement governing such discussions, require any third party to such discussions to return to Parent or to destroy all confidential information of Parent and its Subsidiaries. Parent agrees not to, and to cause its Subsidiaries not to, waive, or otherwise release any third party from, the confidentiality and standstill provisions of any agreement to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is or may

. 59

become a party and agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to enforce the provisions of such agreements.

- (d) Except as contemplated by this Section 5.5(d), neither the Board of Directors of Parent nor any committee thereof shall (i) (A) withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify, or resolve to or publicly propose to withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify the Parent Recommendation in a manner adverse to the Company, (B) make any other public statement in connection with the Parent Shareholders' Meeting or this Agreement or the Transactions inconsistent with the Parent Recommendation, (C) approve, adopt or recommend any Parent Acquisition Proposal or (D) fail to reaffirm or re-publish the Parent Recommendation within five days of being requested by the Company to do so (each such action set forth in clauses (A) through (D) above being a "Parent Change of Recommendation") or (ii) approve, adopt or recommend, or publicly propose to approve, adopt or recommend, a merger agreement, letter of intent, agreement in principle, share purchase agreement, asset purchase agreement, share exchange agreement, option agreement or other similar contract (other than the confidentiality agreement referred to in Section 5.5(a)) or any tender offer providing for, with respect to, or in connection with any Parent Acquisition Proposal. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board of Directors of Parent may at any time prior to receipt of the Parent Shareholder Approval, in respect of a Parent Acquisition Proposal, make a Parent Change of Recommendation and (ii) terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(k) of this Agreement, if (and only if): (A) a Parent Acquisition Proposal is made to Parent by a third party, and such offer is not withdrawn; (B) Parent's Board of Directors determines in good faith after consultation with its financial advisors that such offer constitutes a Parent Superior Offer; (C) following consultation with outside legal counsel, Parent's Board of Directors determines that the failure to make a Parent Change of Recommendation, or to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(k) of this Agreement, would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the exercise of its fiduciary duties under applicable Laws, (D) the Parent Board of Directors has provided to the Company five business days prior written notice of its intent to effect a Parent Change of Recommendation (which notice shall include the reasonable details regarding the cause for, and nature of, the Parent Change of Recommendation and, if requested by the Company, negotiated in good faith with the Company during such five business day period regarding revisions to this Agreement which would avoid such Parent Change of Recommendation and (E) the Parent Board of Directors has provided to the Company advance written notice of such Parent Change of Recommendation at least two hours prior thereto. The Board of Directors of Parent may not, in respect of Parent Acquisition Proposal, make a Parent Change of Recommendation in a manner adverse to the Company except in compliance in all respects with this Section 5.5(d). For the avoidance of doubt, a change of the Parent Recommendation to "neutral" is a Parent Change of Recommendation.
- (e) Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit or restrict the Board of Directors of Parent, at any time prior to receipt of the Parent Shareholder Approval, in circumstances not involving or relating to a Parent Acquisition Proposal, from effecting a Parent Change of Recommendation if the Board of Directors of Parent determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the exercise by the Board of Directors of its fiduciary duties under applicable Laws if (and only if): (A) the Parent Board of Directors has provided to the Company five business days prior written notice of its intent to effect a Parent Change of Recommendation

(which notice shall include the reasonable details regarding the cause for, and nature of, the Parent Change of Recommendation and, if requested by the Company, negotiated in good faith with the Company during such five business day period regarding revisions to this Agreement that would avoid such Parent Change of Recommendation and (B) the Parent Board of Directors has provided to the Company advance written notice of such Parent Change of Recommendation at least two hours prior thereto.

(f) As used in this Agreement:

- (i) "Parent Acquisition Proposal" shall mean any bona fide offer, inquiry, proposal or indication of interest received from a third party (other than an offer, inquiry, proposal or indication of interest by a party to this Agreement) relating to any Parent Acquisition Transaction;
- (ii) "Parent Acquisition Transaction" shall mean any transaction or series of transactions involving: (a) any merger, consolidation, share exchange, recapitalization, business combination or similar transaction involving Parent other than the Transactions; (b) any direct or indirect acquisition of securities, tender offer, exchange offer or other similar transaction in which a person or "Group" (as defined in the Exchange Act) of persons directly or indirectly acquires beneficial or record ownership of securities representing twenty percent (20%) or more of any class of equity securities of Parent; (c) any direct or indirect acquisition of any business or businesses or of assets that constitute or account for twenty percent (20%) or more of the consolidated net revenues, net income or assets of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole or (d) any liquidation or dissolution of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries; and
- "Parent Superior Offer" shall mean a Parent Acquisition Proposal to acquire at least a majority of the outstanding equity securities or assets of Parent on terms that Parent's Board of Directors determines, in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and its financial advisor, is more favorable, from a financial point of view, to Parent's shareholders than the Merger and the Transactions (including any proposal by the Company to amend the terms of this Agreement which are committed to in writing) and is reasonably likely to be consummated, taking into account (a) all financial considerations and financial aspects of such Parent Acquisition Proposal and the Merger and other Transactions, (b) all strategic considerations, including whether such Parent Acquisition Proposal is more favorable from a long-term strategic standpoint, (c) all legal and regulatory considerations of such Parent Acquisition Proposal and the Merger and other Transactions, (d) the identity of the third party making such Parent Acquisition Proposal, (e) the conditions and likelihood of completion of such Parent Acquisition Proposal as compared to the Merger and other Transactions (taking into account any necessary regulatory approvals), (f) whether such Parent Acquisition Proposal is likely to impose material obligations on Parent (or the post-closing entity in which Parent's shareholders will hold securities) in connection with obtaining necessary regulatory approvals, (g) whether such Parent Acquisition Proposal is subject to a financing condition and

the likelihood of such Parent Acquisition Proposal being financed, and (h) the payment of any Parent Termination Fee, if relevant.

Section 5.6 Filings; Other Actions.

(a) As soon as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement, Parent and the Company shall prepare and file with the SEC the Joint Proxy Statement, and Parent shall prepare and file with the SEC the Form S-4, in which the Joint Proxy Statement will be included as a prospectus. Each of Parent and the Company shall use reasonable best efforts to have the Form S-4 declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as reasonably practicable after such filing and to keep the Form S-4 effective as long as necessary to consummate the Transactions. Parent will cause the Joint Proxy Statement to be mailed to Parent's shareholders, and the Company will cause the Joint Proxy Statement to be mailed to the Company's stockholders, in each case as promptly as reasonably practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective under the Securities Act. Parent shall also take any action required to be taken under any applicable state or provincial securities laws in connection with the issuance and reservation of shares of Parent Common Stock in the Merger and the conversion of Company Stock Options into options for shares of Parent Common Stock, the conversion of the Restricted Shares into shares of Parent Common Stock as set forth in Section 5.7(a)(ii) and the conversion of the Company Performance Shares and Company RSUs into shares of Parent Common Stock as set forth in Section 5.7(a)(iii), and the Company shall furnish all information concerning the Company and the holders of Company Common Stock as may be reasonably requested in connection with any such action. Except for annual, quarterly and current reports filed or furnished with the SEC under the Exchange Act, which may be incorporated by reference therein (but subject to Section 5.10), no filing of, or amendment or supplement to, the Form S-4 or the Joint Proxy Statement will be made by Parent or the Company, as applicable, without the other's prior consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned) and without providing the other the opportunity to review and comment thereon. Parent or the Company, as applicable, will advise the other promptly after it receives oral or written notice of the time when the Form S-4 has become effective or any supplement or amendment has been filed, the issuance of any stop order, the suspension of the qualification of the Parent Common Stock issuable in connection with the Merger for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or any oral or written request by the SEC for amendment of the Joint Proxy Statement or the Form S-4 or comments thereon and responses thereto or requests by the SEC for additional information, and will promptly provide the other with copies of any written communication from the SEC or any state securities commission. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any information relating to Parent or the Company, or any of their respective affiliates, officers or directors, should be discovered by Parent or the Company which should be set forth in an amendment or supplement to any of the Form S-4 or the Joint Proxy Statement, so that any of such documents would not include any misstatement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, the party which discovers such information shall promptly notify the other parties hereto and an appropriate amendment or supplement describing such information shall be promptly filed with the SEC and, to the extent required by law, disseminated to the respective stockholders of Parent and the Company.

- (b) Each of the Company and Parent shall, as promptly as practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective under the Securities Act, take all action necessary in accordance with applicable Laws and the Company Organizational Documents, in the case of the Company, and the Parent Organizational Documents, in the case of Parent, to duly give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of its stockholder or shareholders, respectively, to be held as promptly as practicable to consider, in the case of Parent, the Stock Issuance and the Charter Amendment (the "Parent Shareholders' Meeting") and, in the case of the Company, the adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Transactions including the Merger (the "Company Stockholders' Meeting"). Except in the case of a Company Change of Recommendation in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Company will, through its Board of Directors, recommend that its stockholders adopt this Agreement and will use reasonable best efforts to solicit from its stockholders proxies in favor of the adoption of this Agreement and to take all other action necessary or advisable to secure the vote or consent of its stockholders required by the rules of the NYSE or applicable Laws to obtain such approvals. Except in the case of a Parent Change of Recommendation in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, Parent will, through its Board of Directors, recommend that its shareholders approve the Stock Issuance and the Charter Amendment, and will use reasonable best efforts to solicit from its shareholders proxies in favor of the Stock Issuance and the Charter Amendment and to take all other action necessary or advisable to secure the vote or consent of its shareholders required by the rules of the NYSE or applicable Laws to obtain such approval.
- (c) Each of the Company and Parent will use reasonable best efforts to hold the Company Stockholders' Meeting and the Parent Shareholders' Meeting, respectively, on the same date as the other party and as soon as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement.
- (d) The Company shall take all action necessary to comply timely with applicable notification requirements under applicable Law in respect of any Company Benefit Plan holding Company Common Stock, including causing any Company Benefit Plan administrator to issue any such notices.

Section 5.7 Stock Options and Other Stock-Based Awards; Employee Matters.

- (a) Stock Options and Other Stock-Based Awards.
- (i) Each option to purchase shares of Company Common Stock (each, a "Company Stock Option") granted under the employee and director stock plans of the Company (the "Company Stock Plans"), whether vested or unvested, that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, as of the Effective Time, automatically and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, be amended and converted into an option to acquire, on the same terms and conditions as were applicable under such Company Stock Option (giving effect to any terms and conditions resulting from the Transactions), the number of shares of Parent Common Stock (rounded down to the nearest whole share) equal to the product of the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Stock Option and the Exchange Ratio, at an exercise price per share of Parent Common Stock (rounded up to the nearest whole cent) equal to

the quotient obtained by dividing the aggregate exercise price for the shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Stock Option by the Exchange Ratio (each, as so adjusted, an "Adjusted Option"). The adjustments provided in this Section 5.7(a)(i) with respect to any Company Stock Option to which Section 409A or 421(a) of the Code applies shall be and are intended to be effected in a manner which is consistent with Section 409A and 424(a) of the Code, respectively. As soon as practicable following the Effective Time, Parent shall deliver to the holders of Adjusted Options appropriate notices setting forth such holders' rights pursuant to the respective Company Stock Plans and the agreements evidencing the grants of such Adjusted Options, which shall provide, among other things, that such Adjusted Options and agreements have been assumed by Parent and shall continue in effect on the same terms and conditions (subject to the adjustments required by this Section 5.7(a)(i) after giving effect to the Merger and giving effect to any terms and conditions resulting from the Transactions).

- (ii) At the Effective Time, each award of restricted Company Common Stock granted under a Company Stock Plan that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (the "Restricted Shares") shall, automatically and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, be converted into the right to receive, on the same terms and conditions as were applicable under such Restricted Shares (giving effect to any terms and conditions resulting from the Transactions), a number of shares of Parent Common Stock (and cash in lieu of fractional shares), restricted, as applicable after giving effect to any terms and conditions resulting from the Transactions, equal to the product of (A) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such grant of Restricted Shares and (B) the Exchange Ratio; provided, that, unless the holder shall have remitted to the Company the amount required to be withheld with respect to the making of such payment under the Code or any provision of state, local or foreign tax Law, such number of shares of Parent Common Stock shall be reduced by a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the amount required to be deducted and withheld with respect to the making of such payment under the Code or any provision of state, local or foreign tax Law divided by the volume weighted average per-share trading price of Parent Common Stock on the NYSE on the five trading days trailing the Closing Date (the "Parent Stock Conversion Price") and the Surviving Corporation shall be responsible for timely and properly remitting any such withholdings to the proper taxing authority.
- (iii) Effective as of the Effective Time, each award of performance shares (the "Company Performance Shares") or restricted stock units (the "Company RSUs") with respect to shares of Company Common Stock under a Company Stock Plan that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, automatically and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, be converted, on the same terms and conditions as were applicable under such Company Performance Shares or Company RSUs (giving effect to any terms and conditions resulting from the Transactions), into the right to receive from Parent a

number of performance shares or stock units, restricted as applicable after giving effect to any terms and conditions resulting from the Transactions, in respect of Parent Common Stock (and cash in lieu of fractional shares) equal to the product of (A) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such grant of Company Performance Shares or Company RSUs at the target level of performance and (B) the Exchange Ratio; provided, that, unless the holder shall have remitted to the Company the amount required to be withheld with respect to the making of such payment under the Code or any provision of state, local or foreign tax Law, such number of shares of Parent Common Stock shall be reduced by a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the amount required to be deducted and withheld with respect to the making of such payment under the Code or any provision of state, local or foreign tax Law divided by the Parent Stock Conversion Price (and the Surviving Corporation shall be responsible for timely and properly remitting any such withholdings to the proper taxing authority).

- (iv) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall pass resolutions to effect the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.7(a).
- (v) As soon as practicable following the Effective Time, Parent shall prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-8 (or another appropriate form) registering shares of Parent Common Stock subject to issuance upon the exercise of the Adjusted Options, and substitute restricted shares, performance shares and stock units in respect of Parent Common Stock issuable in accordance with subsections (ii) and (iii) of this Section 5.7(a). The Company shall cooperate with, and assist Parent in the preparation of, such registration statement. Parent shall keep such registration statement effective (and maintain the current status of the prospectus required thereby) for so long as any Adjusted Options, substitute restricted shares, performance shares and stock units in respect of Parent Common Stock remain outstanding.

(b) Employee Matters.

(i) Subject to the terms of this Agreement, from and after the Effective Time, Parent shall honor or cause the Surviving Corporation to continue to honor all Company Benefit Plans set forth on Section 3.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule in accordance with their terms as in effect immediately before the Effective Time, provided, that nothing herein shall prohibit Parent or the Surviving Corporation from amending or terminating any such Company Benefit Plans, arrangements or agreements in accordance with their terms as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time or from terminating the employment of any Company Employee to the extent permitted by applicable Laws. For a period of at least one year following the Effective Time, Parent shall provide, or shall cause to be provided, to each current and former Company Employee, other than such employees covered by collective bargaining agreements, compensation and employee benefits that are no less favorable, in the aggregate, than the compensation and benefits provided to current and former

Company Employees (as the case may be) immediately before the Effective Time; provided that Parent shall be entitled to make modifications thereto to the extent such modifications do not result in compensation and benefits for the Company Employees not covered by collective bargaining agreements that are less favorable in the aggregate than that which is then provided to similarly situated Parent Employees not covered by collective bargaining agreements.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, neither the Surviving Corporation nor any of its affiliates shall reduce the rate at which any Company Employee, who immediately prior to the Effective Time earned at least five (5) weeks paid vacation per year, earns paid vacation time after the Effective Time; provided that there shall be no obligation to increase the rate at which such Company Employee earns vacation to a rate greater than that in effect for such Company Employee immediately before the Effective Time.

For purposes of vesting, eligibility to participate and (ii) accrual and level of benefits under the employee benefit plans of Parent and its Subsidiaries providing benefits to any Company Employees after the Effective Time (the "New Plans"), each Company Employee shall be credited for his or her years of service with the Company and its Subsidiaries and their respective predecessors before the Effective Time, to the same extent as such Company Employee was entitled, before the Effective Time, to credit for such service under any similar Company employee benefit plan in which such Company Employee participated or was eligible to participate immediately prior to the Effective Time, provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply to the extent that its application would result in a duplication of benefits or to benefit accrual under a defined benefit pension plan. In addition, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (A) Parent shall cause each Company Employee to be immediately eligible to participate, without any waiting time, in any and all New Plans to the extent coverage under such New Plan is comparable to a Company Benefit Plan set forth on Section 3.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule in which such Company Employee participated immediately before the Effective Time (such plans, collectively, the "Old Plans") and (B) for purposes of each New Plan providing medical, dental, pharmaceutical or vision benefits to any Company Employee, Parent shall cause all pre-existing condition exclusions and actively-atwork requirements of such New Plan to be waived for such employee and his or her covered dependents, unless such conditions would not have been waived under the comparable plans of the Company or its Subsidiaries in which such employee participated immediately prior to the Effective Time, and Parent shall cause any eligible expenses incurred by such employee and his or her covered dependents during the portion of the plan year of the Old Plan ending on the date such employee's participation in the corresponding New Plan begins to be taken into account under such New Plan for purposes of satisfying all deductible, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket requirements applicable to such employee and his or her covered dependents for the applicable plan year as if such amounts had been paid in accordance with such New Plan.

- (iii) Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries, following the Effective Time, to honor, without modification, all contracts, agreements, collective bargaining agreements and commitments of the parties prior to or at the date hereof or made herein or permitted to be entered into prior to the Effective Time pursuant to this Agreement which apply to any current or former employee or current or former director of the Company; provided, however, that this undertaking is not intended to prevent the Surviving Corporation or its Subsidiaries from enforcing such contracts, agreements, collective bargaining agreements and commitments in accordance with their terms, including any reserved right to amend, modify, suspend, revoke or terminate any such contract, agreement, collective bargaining agreement or commitment.
- (iv) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary and subject to the provisions of Section 5.7(b)(i), for a period of at least one year following the Effective Time, Parent shall provide severance benefits on an individual-by-individual basis that are no less favorable to Company Employees than the severance benefits provided to such Company Employees under the Company's severance programs as of immediately prior to the Effective Time.
- (v) Without limiting the provisions of Section 5.7(b)(ii), if an applicable Company Benefit Plan is terminated in which non-bargaining unit employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries participate, Parent shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, to:
 - (A) permit such employees to participate in any similar plan established by Parent in a manner substantially similar to similarly situated employees of Parent and its Subsidiaries, recognizing that the availability, providers or benefit levels of such plan established by Parent may reflect differing circumstances;
 - (B) waive any pre-existing condition exclusions and actively-at-work requirements with respect to the applicable plan of Parent; and
 - (C) provide that any expenses incurred on or before the Effective Time by any such employee or any such employee's covered dependent shall be taken into account for purposes of satisfying applicable deductible, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket provisions with respect to the applicable plan of Parent.
 - (vi) Parent shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to:
 - (A) allow, after the Effective Time such employees to use the remaining amount of accrued but unused vacation and sick leave such employees were entitled immediately prior to the Effective Time:

- (B) allow such employees to participate, as soon as practical, in all job placement, job posting, job training, career development and educational programs of Parent and its Subsidiaries; and
- (C) consider such employees for positions at Parent and its Subsidiaries resulting from the Merger using criteria including previous work history, job experience and qualifications.

Section 5.8 Regulatory Approvals; Third-Party Consents; Reasonable Best Efforts.

- Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, each of the (a) parties hereto shall use its reasonable best efforts (subject to, and in accordance with, applicable Law) to take promptly, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do promptly, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other parties in doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Laws to consummate and make effective the Transactions, including (i) the obtaining of all necessary actions or nonactions, waivers, consents and approvals, including the Company Approvals and the Parent Approvals, from Governmental Entities and the making of all necessary registrations and filings and the taking of all steps as may be necessary to obtain an approval or waiver from, or to avoid an action or proceeding by, any Governmental Entity, (ii) the obtaining of all necessary consents, approvals or waivers from third parties, (iii) the defending of any lawsuits or other legal proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this Agreement or the consummation of the Transactions and (iv) the execution and delivery of any additional instruments necessary to consummate the Transactions; provided, however, that in no event shall the Company or Parent or any of their respective Subsidiaries be required to pay (and the Company and its Subsidiaries shall not pay or agree to pay more than \$17.5 million in the aggregate without Parent's prior written consent), prior to the Effective Time, any fee, penalty or other consideration to any third party under any contract or agreement for any consent or approval required for the consummation of the Transactions.
- Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided and without limiting (b) the foregoing, the Company and Parent shall (i) as promptly as practicable, but in no event later than 10 business days after filing with the FERC an application for the FERC Approval, make their respective filings and thereafter make any other required submissions under the HSR Act, (ii) use reasonable best efforts to cooperate with each other in (A) determining whether any filings are required to be made with, or consents, permits, authorizations, waivers or approvals are required to be obtained from, any third parties or other Governmental Entities in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions and (B) timely making all such filings and timely seeking all such consents, permits, authorizations or approvals, (iii) subject to Section 5.8(d), use reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all other actions and do, or cause to be done, all other things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective the Transactions, including taking all such further action as may be necessary to resolve such objections, if any, as the FERC, the United States Federal Trade Commission (the "FTC"), the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice (the "DOJ"), the Applicable PSCs or competition authorities of any other nation may assert under Regulatory Law with respect to the Transactions so as to enable the Closing to occur as soon as reasonably possible (and in any event no later than the End Date), including (A)

proposing, negotiating, committing to and effecting, by consent decree, hold separate order or otherwise, the sale, divestiture or disposition of such assets or businesses of Parent or its Subsidiaries or affiliates or of the Company or its Subsidiaries and (B) otherwise taking or committing to take actions that after the Closing Date would limit Parent's or its Subsidiaries' (including the Surviving Corporation's) or its affiliates' freedom of action with respect to, or its or their ability to retain, one or more of its or its Subsidiaries' (including the Surviving Corporation's) businesses, product lines or assets, in each case as may be required in order to avoid the entry of, or to effect the dissolution of, any injunction, temporary restraining order or other order in any suit or proceeding which would otherwise have the effect of preventing or materially delaying the Closing, and (iv) subject to applicable legal limitations and the instructions of any Governmental Entity, keep each other apprised of the status of matters relating to the completion of the transactions contemplated thereby, including promptly furnishing the other with copies of notices or other communications received by the Company or Parent, as the case may be, or any of their respective Subsidiaries, from any third party or any Governmental Entity with respect to such transactions. The Company and Parent shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to file applications for approval with the FERC and the Applicable PSCs as promptly as practicable after the date hereof. The Company and Parent shall permit counsel for the other party reasonable opportunity to review in advance, and consider in good faith the views of the other party in connection with, any proposed written communication to any Governmental Entity. Each of the Company and Parent agrees not to participate in any substantive meeting or discussion, either in person or by telephone, with any Governmental Entity in connection with the proposed transactions unless it consults with the other party in advance and, to the extent not prohibited by such Governmental Entity, gives the other party the opportunity to attend and participate.

- (c) In furtherance and not in limitation of the covenants of the parties contained in this Section 5.8, if any administrative or judicial action or proceeding, including any proceeding by a private party, is instituted (or threatened to be instituted) challenging any transaction contemplated by this Agreement as violative of any Regulatory Law, each of the Company and Parent shall cooperate in all respects with each other and shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to contest and resist any such action or proceeding and to have vacated, lifted, reversed or overturned any decree, judgment, injunction or other order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that is in effect and that prohibits, prevents or restricts consummation of the Transactions. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement, nothing in this Section 5.8 shall limit a party's right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(b) or 7.1(c) so long as such party has, prior to such termination, complied with its obligations under this Agreement, including this Section 5.8.
- (d) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, "reasonable best efforts" shall not require, any party to (i) sell, or agree to sell, hold or agree to hold separate, or otherwise dispose or agree to dispose of any asset, or conduct or agree to conduct its business in any particular manner, or take any other action, as may be required to resolve objections if any, of the FERC, the FTC, or the DOJ, in each case if such sale, separation or disposition, agreement, conduct or action with respect thereto would (a) individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (without giving effect to the Merger) or (b) individually or in the aggregate (giving effect to any such actions required by the Applicable PSCs) reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (determined after giving

69

effect to the Merger) or (ii) sell, or agree to sell, hold or agree to hold separate, or otherwise dispose or agree to dispose of any asset, or conduct or agree to conduct its business in any particular manner, or take any other action, as may be required to resolve objections, if any, of the Applicable PSCs, in each case if such sale, separation or disposition, agreement, conduct or action with respect thereto would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or a Parent Material Adverse Effect (provided that for purposes of determining whether a potential adverse effect would constitute a Parent Material Adverse Effect for purposes of this clause (ii), Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, shall be deemed to be a consolidated group of entities of the size and scale of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole). The Company and Parent will consult with each other prior to agreeing to any merger requirements sought by any state regulator. Nothing in this Section 5.8 shall obligate Parent or the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries to take any action that is not conditioned on the Closing.

- (e) As used in this Agreement, "Regulatory Law" means the Sherman Act of 1890 as amended, the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914 as amended, the HSR Act, the FPA, the Atomic Energy Act, the rules and regulations of the Applicable PSCs and all other federal, state or foreign statutes, rules, regulations, orders, decrees, administrative and judicial doctrines and other Laws, including any antitrust, competition or trade regulation Laws, that are designed or intended to (i) prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or lessening competition through merger or acquisition or (ii) protect the national security or the national economy of any nation.
- Section 5.9 <u>Takeover Statute</u>. If any Takeover Law may become, or may purport to be, applicable to the Transactions, each of the Company and Parent shall grant such approvals and take such actions as are reasonably necessary so that the Transactions may be consummated as promptly as practicable on the terms contemplated hereby and otherwise act to eliminate or minimize the effects of such statute or regulation on the Transactions.
- Section 5.10 Public Announcements. Except with respect to a Company Change of Recommendation or Parent Change of Recommendation or any action taken by the Company or Parent or their Boards of Directors pursuant to, and in accordance with, Section 5.4 or Section 5.5, respectively, so long as this Agreement is in effect, the parties shall use reasonable best efforts to consult with each other before issuing any press release or making any public announcement relating to this Agreement or the Transactions and, except for any press release or public announcement as may be required by applicable Law, court process or any listing agreement with any national securities exchange, shall use reasonable efforts not to issue any such press release or make any such public announcement without consulting the other parties. Parent and the Company agree to issue a mutually acceptable initial joint press release announcing this Agreement.

Section 5.11 <u>Indemnification and Insurance</u>.

(a) From and after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to honor all rights to exculpation, indemnification and advancement of expenses now existing in favor of the current or former directors, officers or employees, as the case may be, of the Company or its Subsidiaries as provided in their respective charter or bylaws or other

70

organization documents or in any agreement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, which rights shall survive the Merger and shall continue in full force and effect to the extent permitted by Law. For a period of six years from the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to maintain in effect the exculpation, indemnification and advancement of expenses provisions of the Company's and any Company Subsidiary's charter and bylaws or similar organization documents in effect as of the date hereof or in any indemnification agreements of the Company or its Subsidiaries with any of their respective directors, officers or employees in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, and shall not amend, repeal or otherwise modify any such provisions in any manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of any individuals who immediately before the Effective Time were current or former directors, officers or employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; provided, however, that all rights to indemnification in respect of any Action pending or asserted or any claim made within such period shall continue until the disposition of such Action or resolution of such claim. Parent shall assume, be jointly and severally liable for, and honor, guaranty and stand surety for, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries to honor, in accordance with their respective terms, each of the covenants contained in this Section 5.11 without limit as to time.

- From and after the Effective Time, each of Parent and the Surviving (b) Corporation shall, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law, indemnify and hold harmless (and advance funds in respect of each of the foregoing) each current and former director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and each person who served as a director, officer, member, trustee or fiduciary of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, pension or other employee benefit plan or enterprise if such service was at the request or for the benefit of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (each, together with such person's heirs, executors or administrators, an "Indemnified Party") against any costs or expenses (including advancing attorneys' fees and expenses in advance of the final disposition of any claim, suit, proceeding or investigation to each Indemnified Party to the fullest extent permitted by law), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages, liabilities and amounts paid in settlement (provided that any Action may only be settled with the prior written consent of Parent, not to be unreasonably withheld) in connection with any actual or threatened claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (an "Action"). arising out of, relating to or in connection with any action or omission occurring or alleged to have occurred before or at the Effective Time (including acts or omissions in connection with such persons serving as an officer, director or other fiduciary in any entity if such service was at the request or for the benefit of the Company). In the event of any such Action, Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall cooperate with the Indemnified Party in the defense of any such Action.
- (c) For a period of six years from the Effective Time, the Parent shall cause to be maintained in effect the coverage provided by the policies of directors' and officers' liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance in effect as of the Closing Date maintained by the Company and its Subsidiaries with respect to matters arising on or before the Effective Time either through the Company's existing insurance provider or another provider reasonably selected by Parent; provided, however, that, after the Effective Time, Parent shall not be required to pay annual premiums in excess of 250% of the last annual premium paid by the Company prior to the date hereof in respect of the coverages required to be obtained pursuant hereto, but in

. 71

such case shall purchase as much coverage as reasonably practicable for such amount; provided further, however, that in lieu of the foregoing insurance coverage, Parent may direct the Company to purchase "tail" insurance coverage, at a cost no greater than the aggregate amount which the Surviving Corporation would be permitted to spend during the six-year period provided for in this Section 5.11(c), that provides coverage no materially less favorable than the coverage described above.

- (d) Parent shall pay all reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, that may be incurred by any Indemnified Party in enforcing the indemnity and other obligations provided in this <u>Section 5.11</u>.
- (e) The rights of each Indemnified Party hereunder shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other rights such Indemnified Party may have under the articles of restatement or bylaws or other organization documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the Surviving Corporation, any other indemnification arrangement, the MGCL or otherwise. The provisions of this Section 5.11 shall survive the consummation of the Merger and expressly are intended to benefit, and are enforceable by, each of the Indemnified Parties.
- (f) In the event that the Surviving Corporation or any of its respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity in such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any person, then, and in either such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving Corporation shall assume the obligations set forth in this Section 5.11.
- Section 5.12 <u>Integration Committee</u>. Parent and the Company shall create a transition team and transition steering committee comprised of adequate management and senior executives, respectively, from both Parent and the Company to examine various alternatives regarding the manner in which to best integrate the businesses of the Company and Parent after the Effective Time, subject to applicable Law.
- Section 5.13 <u>Control of Operations</u>. Without in any way limiting any party's rights or obligations under this Agreement, the parties understand and agree that (i) nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Parent, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the Company's operations prior to the Effective Time and (ii) prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over its operations.
- Section 5.14 <u>Certain Transfer Taxes</u>. Any liability arising out of any real estate transfer Tax with respect to interests in real property owned directly or indirectly by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries immediately prior to the Merger, if applicable and due with respect to the Merger, shall be borne by the Surviving Corporation and expressly shall not be a direct liability of stockholders of the Company.
- Section 5.15 Section 16 Matters. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent and the Company shall take all such steps as may be required to cause any dispositions of Company Common Stock (including derivative securities with respect to Company Common Stock) or acquisitions

of Parent Common Stock (including derivative securities with respect to Parent Common Stock) resulting from the Transactions by each individual who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to the Company or will become subject to such reporting requirements with respect to Parent, to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

Section 5.16 Tax Matters.

- (a) Each party shall cooperate with the other parties, and use its reasonable best efforts, to cause the Merger to qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code (the "Intended Tax Treatment"), including (i) reasonably refraining from any action that such party knows is reasonably likely to prevent the Intended Tax Treatment, (ii) executing such amendments to this Agreement as may be reasonably required in order to obtain the Intended Tax Treatment (it being understood that no party will be required to agree to any such amendment that it determines in good faith is reasonably likely to materially adversely affect the value of the Merger to such party or its stockholders), and (iii) using its reasonable best efforts to obtain the opinions referred to in Section 6.2(e) and Section 6.3(e), including by executing customary letters of representation.
- (b) As soon as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement, Parent shall deliver to the Company a copy of the proposed form of the Parent Tax Opinion together with all letters or certificates that form the basis therefor (collectively, the "Parent Tax Opinion Materials"). The Company shall be entitled to a reasonable amount of time to provide Parent with written comments on the Parent Tax Opinion Materials. Parent shall furnish the Company with a copy of the final Parent Tax Opinion Materials.
- (c) As soon as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver to Parent a copy of the proposed form of the Company Tax Opinion together with all letters or certificates that form the basis therefor (collectively, the "Company Tax Opinion Materials"). Parent shall be entitled to a reasonable amount of time to provide the Company with written comments on the Company Tax Opinion Materials. The Company shall furnish Parent with a copy of the final Company Tax Opinion Materials.
- Section 5.17 <u>Stock Exchange Listing</u>. Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued as Merger Consideration to be listed on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance, prior to the Effective Time.
- Section 5.18 <u>Charitable Contributions</u>. During the three-year period immediately following the Effective Time, Parent shall provide, directly or indirectly, community development and charitable contributions within the service areas of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries that are utilities at levels consistent with the levels of community development and charitable contributions historically provided by the Company and its Subsidiaries and thereafter at levels consistent with those provided by Parent and its Subsidiaries within their service areas.

ARTICLE VI

CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER

- Section 6.1 <u>Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger</u>. The respective obligations of each party to effect the Merger shall be subject to the fulfillment (or waiver by all parties) at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:
- (a) Each of the Company Stockholder Approval and Parent Shareholder Approval shall have been obtained.
- (b) No (i) temporary restraining order or preliminary or permanent injunction or other order by any Federal or state court of competent jurisdiction preventing consummation of the Merger or (ii) applicable Federal or state law prohibiting consummation of the Merger (collectively, "Restraints") shall be in effect.
- (c) The Form S-4 shall have been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Form S-4 shall have been issued by the SEC and no proceedings for that purpose shall have been initiated or threatened by the SEC.
- (d) The shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued in the Merger and such other shares of Parent Common Stock to be reserved for issuance in connection with the Merger shall have been approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance.
- Section 6.2 <u>Conditions to Obligation of the Company to Effect the Merger</u>. The obligation of the Company to effect the Merger is further subject to the fulfillment of, or the waiver by the Company on or prior to the Effective Time of, the following conditions:
- (a) The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth herein (i) with respect to Section 4.2(a), Section 4.3(a) and Section 4.17 shall be true and correct both when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), in all respects (except in the case of Section 4.2(a) for such inaccuracies as are de minimis in the aggregate) and (ii) with respect to all other representations and warranties shall be true and correct both when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except in the case of clause (ii) where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to "materiality" or "Parent Material Adverse Effect" set forth therein) does not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Each of Parent and Merger Sub shall have in all material respects performed all obligations and complied with all covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Effective Time.

- (c) There shall not have occurred any event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence that has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) Parent shall have delivered to the Company a certificate, dated the Effective Time and signed by its Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, certifying to the effect that the conditions set forth in Sections 6.2(a), 6.2(b) and 6.2(c) have been satisfied.
- (e) The Company shall have received from Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, a written tax opinion, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, to the effect that the Merger will qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code (the "Company Tax Opinion"); it being understood that in rendering such opinion, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP shall be entitled to rely upon customary representations provided by the relevant parties.
 - (f) The Company shall have received a copy of the Parent Tax Opinion.
- (i) the Company Approvals and the Parent Approvals shall have been (g) obtained (including, in each case, the expiration or termination of the waiting periods (and any extensions thereof) under the HSR Act applicable to the Merger and the Transactions) at or prior to the Effective Time, and such approvals shall have become Final Orders, and (ii) such Final Orders of the FERC, the FTC or the DOJ shall not impose terms or conditions that (a) individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (without giving effect to the Merger) or (b) individually or in the aggregate (giving effect to any such actions required by the Applicable PSCs) would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (determined after giving effect to the Merger), and such Final Orders of the Applicable PSCs shall not impose terms or conditions that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or a Parent Material Adverse Effect (provided that for these purposes, Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, shall be deemed to be a consolidated group of entities of the size and scale of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole). "Final Order" means action by the relevant Governmental Entity that has not been reversed, stayed, enjoined, set aside. annulled or suspended, with respect to which any waiting period prescribed by Law before the Transactions may be consummated has expired (a "Final Order Waiting Period") and as to which all conditions to the consummation of the Transactions prescribed by Law, regulation or order required to be satisfied at or prior to the Effective Time have been satisfied.
- Section 6.3 <u>Conditions to Obligation of Parent to Effect the Merger</u>. The obligation of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger is further subject to the fulfillment of, or the waiver by the Company on or prior to the Effective Time of, the following conditions:
- (a) The representations and warranties of the Company set forth herein (i) with respect to Section 3.2(a), Section 3.3(a), Section 3.17 and Section 3.18 shall be true and correct both when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), in all respects (except in the case of Section 3.2(a) for such inaccuracies as are de minimis in the aggregate) and (ii) with respect to all other representations and warranties shall be true and

75

correct both when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except in the case of clause (ii) where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to "materiality" or "Company Material Adverse Effect" set forth therein) does not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

- (b) The Company shall have in all material respects performed all obligations and complied with all covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Effective Time.
- (c) There shall not have occurred any event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence that has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) The Company shall have delivered to Parent a certificate, dated the Effective Time and signed by its Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, certifying to the effect that the conditions set forth in Sections 6.3(a), 6.3(b) and 6.3(c) have been satisfied.
- (e) Parent shall have received from Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP, a written tax opinion, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, to the effect that the Merger will qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code (the "Parent Tax Opinion"); it being understood that in rendering such opinion, Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP shall be entitled to rely upon customary representations provided by the relevant parties.
 - (f) Parent shall have received a copy of the Company Tax Opinion.
- obtained (including, in each case, the expiration or termination of the waiting periods (and any extensions thereof) under the HSR Act applicable to the Merger and the Transactions) at or prior to the Effective Time, and such approvals shall have become Final Orders, and (ii) such Final Orders of the FERC, the FTC or the DOJ shall not impose terms or conditions that (a) individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (without giving effect to the Merger) or (b) individually or in the aggregate (giving effect to any such actions required by the Applicable PSCs) would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (determined after giving effect to the Merger), and such Final Orders of the Applicable PSCs shall not impose terms or conditions that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or a Parent Material Adverse Effect (provided that for these purposes Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, shall be deemed to be a consolidated group of entities of the size and scale of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole).
- (h) The Company shall have received, in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent, fully executed consents, waivers or other approvals from sufficient lenders under each of the Company's credit facilities listed in <u>Section 3.3(c).1</u> of the Company Disclosure Schedule, such that the Transactions will not cause, and will not have the effect of causing, any change of

76

control, put, call, acceleration, default, event of default, termination event or other similar consequence under any such facility, or in the absence of receiving such consents, waivers or other approvals, the Company or its Subsidiaries shall have terminated and replaced the applicable credit facility or facilities with new credit facilities providing an aggregate amount of available liquidity to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, comparable to the credit facilities that were terminated and on terms and conditions not materially less favorable to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as the terminated facilities.

Section 6.4 <u>Frustration of Closing Conditions</u>. Neither the Company nor Parent may rely, as a basis either for not consummating the Merger or terminating this Agreement and abandoning the Merger, on the failure of any condition set forth in <u>Section(s) 6.1, 6.2</u> or <u>6.3</u>, as the case may be, to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such party's material breach of any material provision of this Agreement or failure to use its reasonable best efforts to consummate the Merger and the other Transactions, as required by and subject to Section 5.8.

ARTICLE VII

TERMINATION

- Section 7.1 <u>Termination or Abandonment</u>. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement may be terminated and abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after any approval of the matters presented in connection with the Merger by the stockholders of the Company:
 - (a) by the mutual written consent of the Company and Parent;
- (b) by either Parent or the Company if the Merger shall not have been consummated on or prior to the 14 month anniversary of the date hereof (the "End Date"), provided, however, that either Parent or the Company may for any reason extend the End Date by three months prior to the original End Date by written notice to the other, and provided further if all of the conditions to Closing shall have been satisfied or shall be then capable of being satisfied (other than the conditions set forth in Section 6.1(b), Section 6.2(g) and Section 6.3(g)), the End Date may be extended by Parent or the Company from time to time by written notice to the other party up to a date not beyond an additional three months after the End Date, the latest of any of which dates shall thereafter be deemed to be the End Date; and if the End Date (as it may be extended pursuant to this Section 7.1(b) shall occur during any Final Order Waiting Period, the End Date shall be extended until the third business day after the expiration of such Final Order Waiting Period; provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(b) shall not be available to a party if the failure of the Closing to occur by such date shall be due to the failure of such party to perform or comply in all material respects with the covenants and agreements of such party set forth in this Agreement;
- (c) by either the Company or Parent if any Restraint having any of the effects set forth in Section 6.1(b) shall be in effect and shall have become final and nonappealable; provided, that the party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(c) shall have used its reasonable best efforts to prevent the entry of and to remove such Restraint;

- (d) by either the Company or Parent if the Company Stockholders' Meeting (including any adjournments or postponements thereof) shall have concluded and the Company Stockholder Approval contemplated by this Agreement shall not have been obtained; provided, however, that the right to terminate under this Section 7.1(d) shall not be available to the Company where the failure to obtain the Company Stockholder Approval shall have been caused by or related to the Company's material breach of the Agreement;
- (e) by either the Company or Parent if the Parent Shareholders' Meeting (including any adjournments or postponements thereof) shall have concluded and the Parent Shareholder Approval contemplated by this Agreement shall not have been obtained; provided, however, that the right to terminate under this Section 7.1(e) shall not be available to Parent where the failure to obtain the Parent Shareholder Approval shall have been caused by or related to Parent's material breach of the Agreement;
- (f) by the Company, if Parent shall have breached or failed to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would result in a failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.1 or Section 6.2 and (ii) cannot be cured by the End Date, provided, that the Company shall have given Parent written notice, delivered at least 30 days prior to such termination (but no later than the expected Closing Date), stating the Company's intention to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(f) and the basis for such termination;
- (g) by Parent, if the Company shall have breached or failed to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would result in a failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.1 or Section 6.3 and (ii) cannot be cured by the End Date, provided, that Parent shall have given the Company written notice, delivered at least 30 days prior to such termination (but no later than the expected Closing Date), stating Parent's intention to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(g) and the basis for such termination;
- (h) by the Company, in the event Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective Representatives or affiliates shall have breached in any material respect any of their respective obligations under <u>Section 5.5</u>;
- (i) by Parent, in the event the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective Representatives or affiliates shall have breached in any material respect any of their respective obligations under <u>Section 5.4</u>;
- (j) by the Company, at any time prior to obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, in order to enter into a written definitive agreement for a Company Superior Offer, if the Company has complied with its obligations under Section 5.4(d) and the Company has provided Parent at least five business days advance written notice of the intent to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(j) and Parent does not make, within five business days of receipt of the Company's written notification of its intention to enter into a written definitive agreement for a Company Superior Offer, an offer that the Board of Directors of the Company determines (after good faith negotiation with Parent), in its reasonable good faith judgment after consultation with its financial advisors, is more favorable, from a financial point of view, to the

stockholders of the Company as the applicable Company Superior Offer (taking into account the factors set forth in the definition of Company Superior Offer); provided, that any such purported termination by the Company pursuant to this Section 7.1(j) shall be void and of no force or effect unless the Company pays to Parent the Company Termination Fee in accordance with Section 7.2;

- (k) by Parent, at any time prior to obtaining the Parent Shareholder Approval, in order to enter into a written definitive agreement for a Parent Superior Offer, if Parent has complied with its obligations under Section 5.5(d) and Parent has provided the Company at least five business days advance written notice of the intent to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(k) and the Company does not make, within five business days of receipt of Parent's written notification of its intention to enter into a written definitive agreement for a Parent Superior Offer, an offer that the Board of Directors of Parent determines (after good faith negotiation with the Company), in its reasonable good faith judgment after consultation with its financial advisors, is more favorable, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of Parent as the applicable Parent Superior Offer (taking into account the factors set forth in the definition of Parent Superior Offer); provided, that any such purported termination by Parent pursuant to this Section 7.1(k) shall be void and of no force or effect unless Parent pays to the Company the Parent Termination Fee in accordance with Section 7.2;
 - (l) by the Company, if there has been a Parent Change of Recommendation;
 - (m) by Parent, if there has been a Company Change of Recommendation; and
- by Parent, if there is a default by the Company under one or more of the (n) credit agreements listed in Section 3.3(c).1 of the Company Disclosure Schedule due to the expiration or termination for any reason of the waivers described in Section 3.3(c).1 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, provided that Parent has provided to the Company at least 10 days advance written notice of its intent to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(n) and; provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(n) shall not be available to Parent after the date that is 30 days after the date of the expiration or termination for any reason of any of the waivers described in Section 3.3(c).1; provided, further, that if the Company or its Subsidiaries repays the outstanding indebtedness under the applicable credit facilities pursuant to which a default occurs, terminates such credit facilities, and enters into replacement credit facilities providing an aggregate amount of available liquidity to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, comparable to the credit facilities that were terminated and on terms and conditions not materially less favorable to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as the terminated facility or facilities, the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(n) shall not be available to Parent.

In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1, this Agreement shall terminate (except for the provisions of Sections 7.2, 8.2, 8.4, 8.5 and 8.6), and there shall be no other liability on the part of the Company or Parent to the other except under such provisions, liability arising out of an intentional breach of this Agreement or as provided for in the Confidentiality Agreement, in which case the aggrieved party shall be entitled to all rights and remedies available at law or in equity.

Section 7.2 Effect of Termination.

- Parent and the Company agree that (i) if this Agreement is terminated by (a) (A) Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(i) or Section 7.1(m) or (B) the Company pursuant to Section 7.1(j); or (ii) (A) if this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(g) and the breach or other circumstance giving rise to such termination was willful, or by the Company or Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(b) or Section 7.1(d), (B) prior to any such termination, any person (other than Parent or its affiliates) shall have made a Company Acquisition Proposal which shall have been publicly announced or disclosed (or any person shall have publicly announced a bona fide intention, whether or not conditional, to make a Company Acquisition Proposal) and (C) within 12 months after such termination of this Agreement, the Company shall have entered into an agreement to consummate, or shall have consummated, a Company Acquisition Transaction, then the Company shall pay to Parent the Company Termination Fee and reimburse Parent all of Parent's Transaction Expenses. Any Company Termination Fee shall be paid to Parent by the Company in immediately available funds (x) upon termination of this Agreement in the case of a termination pursuant to clause (i)(B) above, (y) within five business days after termination in the case of a termination pursuant to clause (i)(A) above and (z) upon the execution of or entrance into a definitive agreement with respect to a Company Acquisition Transaction in the case of a termination pursuant to clause (ii) above. Parent's Transaction Expenses shall be paid in immediately available funds to Parent by the Company within five business days of receipt of reasonable documentation thereof.
- (b) Parent and the Company agree that (i) if this Agreement is terminated by (A) the Company pursuant to Section 7.1(h) or Section 7.1(l) or (B) Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(k); or (ii)(A) if this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 7.1(f) and the breach or other circumstance giving rise to such termination was willful, or by the Company or Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(b) or Section 7.1(e), (B) prior to any such termination, any person (other than the Company or its affiliates) shall have made a Parent Acquisition Proposal which shall have been publicly announced or disclosed (or any person shall have publicly announced a bona fide intention, whether or not conditional, to make a Parent Acquisition Proposal) and (C) within 12 months after such termination of this Agreement, Parent shall have entered into an agreement to consummate, or shall have consummated, a Parent Acquisition Transaction, then Parent shall pay to the Company the Parent Termination Fee and reimburse the Company all of the Company's Transaction Expenses. Any Parent Termination Fee shall be paid to the Company by Parent in immediately available funds (x) upon termination of this Agreement in the case of a termination pursuant to clause (i)(B) above, (y) within five business days after termination in the case of a termination pursuant to clause (i)(A) above and (z) upon the execution of or entrance into a definitive agreement with respect to a Parent Acquisition Transaction in the case of a termination pursuant to clause (ii) above. The Company's Transaction Expenses shall be paid in immediately available funds to the Company by Parent within five business days of receipt of reasonable documentation thereof.
- (c) Parent and the Company agree that if (i) this Agreement is terminated by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 7.1(d) and (ii) no amount is payable by the Company pursuant to Section 7.2(a) because clause (ii)(B) thereof is not satisfied, then the Company shall reimburse Parent all of Parent's Transaction Expenses. Parent's Transaction Expenses shall be

80

paid in immediately available funds to Parent by the Company within five business days of receipt of reasonable documentation thereof.

- (d) Parent and the Company agree that if (i) this Agreement is terminated by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 7.1(e) and (ii) no amount is payable by Parent pursuant to Section 7.2(b) because clause (ii)(B) thereof is not satisfied, then Parent shall reimburse the Company all of the Company's Transaction Expenses. The Company's Transaction Expenses shall be paid in immediately available funds to the Company by Parent within five business days of receipt of reasonable documentation thereof.
- (e) Parent and the Company agree that if this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(n), then the Company shall reimburse Parent 75% of Parent's Transaction Expenses and such amount shall be paid in immediately available funds to Parent by the Company within five business days of receipt of reasonable documentation thereof.
- (f) Solely for purposes of this <u>Section 7.2</u>, "<u>Company Acquisition</u> <u>Transaction</u>" and "<u>Parent Acquisition Transaction</u>" shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in <u>Section 5.4</u> and <u>Section 5.5</u>, respectively, except that all references to twenty percent (20%) shall be changed to fifty percent (50%).
- (g) As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 - (i) "Company Termination Fee" shall mean \$150 million.
 - (ii) "Parent Termination Fee" shall mean \$350 million.
 - (iii) "<u>Transaction Expenses</u>" shall mean, with respect to a party, such party's reasonably documented expenses in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions in an amount not to exceed \$45 million.
- (h) Upon payment of either the Company Termination Fee or the Parent Termination Fee in accordance with this <u>Section 7.2</u>, the paying party shall have no further liability to the other party or its stockholders with respect to this Agreement or the Transactions; <u>provided</u>, that nothing herein shall release any party from liability for intentional breach or fraud. The parties acknowledge and agree that in no event shall a party be required to pay the Company Termination Fee or the Parent Termination Fee on more than one occasion.

ARTICLE VIII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 8.1 <u>No Survival</u>. None of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Merger, except for covenants and agreements which contemplate performance after the Effective Time or otherwise expressly by their terms survive the Effective Time.

- Section 8.2 Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.2, whether or not the Merger is consummated, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger, this Agreement and the Transactions shall be paid by the party incurring or required to incur such expenses, except that the HSR Act filing fees and expenses incurred in connection with the printing, filing and mailing of the Joint Proxy Statement (including applicable SEC filing fees) shall be borne equally by Parent and the Company.
- Section 8.3 <u>Counterparts; Effectiveness</u>. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts (including by facsimile), each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument, and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered (by telecopy or otherwise) to the other parties.
- Section 8.4 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with (a) the Laws of the State of Maryland with respect to matters, issues and questions relating to the Merger or the duties of the Board of Directors of the Company or Merger Sub, (b) the Laws of the State of Ohio with respect to matters, issues and questions relating to the fiduciary duties of the Board of Directors of Parent, and (c) the Laws of the State of New York with respect to all other matters, issues and questions, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of New York or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the Laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York.
- Section 8.5 Jurisdiction; Specific Enforcement. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed, or were threatened to be not performed, in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that, in addition to any other remedy that may be available to it, including monetary damages, each of the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement exclusively in the Federal court located in the Borough of Manhattan in The City of New York. The parties further agree that no party to this Agreement shall be required to obtain, furnish or post any bond or similar instrument in connection with or as a condition to obtaining any remedy referred to in this Section 8.5 and each party waives any objection to the imposition of such relief or any right it may have to require the obtaining, furnishing or posting of any such bond or similar instrument. In addition, each of the parties hereto irrevocably agrees that any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect of this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder brought by the other party hereto or its successors or assigns, shall be brought and determined exclusively in the Federal court located in the Borough of Manhattan in The City of New York. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably submits with regard to any such action or proceeding for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, to the personal jurisdiction of the aforesaid court and agrees that it will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or any of the Transactions in any court other than the aforesaid court. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise, in any action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement, (a) any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above named court for any reason

other than the failure to serve in accordance with this <u>Section 8.5</u>, (b) any claim that it or its property is exempt or immune from jurisdiction of such court or from any legal process commenced in such court (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise) and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by the applicable Laws, any claim that (i) the suit, action or proceeding in such court is brought in an inconvenient forum, (ii) the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper or (iii) this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be enforced in or by such court.

Section 8.6 <u>WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL</u>. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS.

Section 8.7 <u>Notices</u>. Any notice required to be given hereunder shall be sufficient if in writing, and sent by facsimile transmission (<u>provided</u>, that any notice received by facsimile transmission or otherwise at the addressee's location on any non-business day or any business day after 5:00 p.m. (addressee's local time) shall be deemed to have been received at 9:00 a.m. (addressee's local time) on the next business day), by reliable overnight delivery service (with proof of service) or hand delivery, addressed as follows:

To Parent or Merger Sub:

FirstEnergy Corp. 76 South Main Street Akron, OH 44308

Facsimile: (330) 761-4101

Attention: Leila L. Vespoli, Esq.

Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Gary D. Benz

Director, Business Development

with copies to:

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP 1333 New Hampshire Avenue. N.W. Washington, D.C. 20036

Facsimile: (202) 887-4288

Attention: Rick L. Burdick, Esq.

Zachary N. Wittenberg, Esq.

To the Company:

Allegheny Energy, Inc. 800 Cabin Hill Drive Greensburg, PA 15601 Facsimile: (724) 853-4230 Attention: David Feinberg, Esq.

Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Kirk R. Oliver

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

with copies to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP 1440 New York Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20005-2111 Facsimile: (202) 393-5760 Attention: Michael P. Rogan, Esq.

Pankaj K. Sinha, Esq.

or to such other address as any party shall specify by written notice so given, and such notice shall be deemed to have been delivered as of the date so telecommunicated or personally delivered. Any party to this Agreement may notify any other party of any changes to the address or any of the other details specified in this paragraph; provided, however, that such notification shall only be effective on the date specified in such notice or five business days after the notice is given, whichever is later. Rejection or other refusal to accept or the inability to deliver because of changed address of which no notice was given shall be deemed to be receipt of the notice as of the date of such rejection, refusal or inability to deliver.

Section 8.8 <u>Disclosure Schedules</u>. The parties hereto agree that any reference in a particular Section of either the Company Disclosure Schedule or the Parent Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to be an exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) (i) the representations and warranties (or covenants, as applicable) of the relevant party that are contained in the corresponding Section of this Agreement and (ii) any other representations and warranties of such party that is contained in this Agreement (regardless of the absence of an express reference or cross-reference in a particular Section of this Agreement or a particular Section of either the Company Disclosure Schedule or Parent Disclosure Schedule), but only if the relevance of that reference as an exception to (or a disclosure for purposes of) such representations and warranties would be reasonably apparent.

Section 8.9 <u>Assignment; Binding Effect</u>. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties, except for assignments by Merger Sub to a wholly-owned direct or indirect Subsidiary of Parent. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 8.10 Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement which is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to that jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction. If any provision of this Agreement is so broad as to be unenforceable, such provision shall be interpreted to be only so broad as is enforceable.

Section 8.11 Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including the exhibits and schedules hereto) and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement, and supersede all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, between the parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and, except for the provisions of Section 5.11, is not intended to and shall not confer upon any person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder.

Section 8.12 Amendments; Waivers. At any time prior to the Effective Time, any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if, and only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and signed, in the case of an amendment, by the Company, Parent and Merger Sub or, in the case of a waiver, by the party against whom the waiver is to be effective; provided, however, that after receipt of Company Stockholder Approval, if any such amendment or waiver shall by applicable Law or in accordance with the rules and regulations of the NYSE require further approval of the stockholders of the Company, the effectiveness of such amendment or waiver shall be subject to the approval of the stockholders of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no failure or delay by the Company or Parent in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise of any other right hereunder.

Section 8.13 <u>Headings</u>. Headings of the Articles and Sections of this Agreement are for convenience of the parties only and shall be given no substantive or interpretive effect whatsoever. The table of contents to this Agreement is for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

Section 8.14 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article or Section, such reference shall be to an Article or Section of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. Whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation." The words "hereof," "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant thereto unless otherwise defined therein. The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term. Any agreement, instrument or statute defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means such agreement, instrument or statute as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of agreements or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of statutes) by succession of comparable successor statutes and references to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein. Each of the parties has participated in the drafting and negotiation of this Agreement. If an ambiguity or

question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement must be construed as if it is drafted by all the parties, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

Section 8.15 Definitions. References in this Agreement to "Subsidiaries" of any party shall mean any corporation, partnership, association, trust or other form of legal entity of which (i) more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power of the outstanding voting securities are on the date hereof directly or indirectly owned by such party or (ii) such party or any Subsidiary of such party is a general partner on the date hereof (excluding partnerships in which such party or any Subsidiary of such party does not have a majority of the voting interests in such partnership). References in this Agreement (except as specifically otherwise defined) to "affiliates" shall mean, as to any person, any other person which, directly or indirectly, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such person. As used in this definition, "control" (including, with its correlative meanings, "controlled by" and "under common control with") shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies of a person, whether through the ownership of securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract or otherwise. References in this Agreement (except as specifically otherwise defined) to "person" shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability company, an association, a trust or any other entity, group (as such term is used in Section 13 of the Exchange Act) or organization, including a Governmental Entity, and any permitted successors and assigns of such person. As used in this Agreement, "knowledge" means (i) with respect to Parent, the actual knowledge of the persons listed in Section 8.15 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule and (ii) with respect to the Company, the actual knowledge of the persons listed in Section 8.15 of the Company Disclosure Schedule. As used in this Agreement, "business day" shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which the banks in New York are authorized by law or executive order to be closed. References in this Agreement to specific laws or to specific provisions of laws shall include all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Any statute defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument referred to herein shall mean such statute as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including by succession of comparable successor statutes.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.

FIRSTENEROT CORF.
By: Anthony 7 Olymbe
Name:
Title:
ELEMENT MERGER SUB, INC.
liloge a al
By: WHY O-T COLX
Name:
Title:
ALLEGHENY ENERGY, INC.
· mandimit minitory itto
Ву:
Name:
Title:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.

FIRSTENERGY CORP.	
Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
ELEMENT MERGER SUB,	INC.
Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
ALLEGHENY ENERGY, II	NC.
By: Paul AE	vansen
Name:	
Title:	

COMPANY DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE

This disclosure schedule (this "Company Disclosure Schedule") has been prepared and delivered in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 10, 2010 (the "Agreement"), by and among First Energy Corp., an Ohio corporation ("Parent"), Element Merger Sub, Inc., a Maryland corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), and Allegheny Energy, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "Company") and constitutes the Company Disclosure Schedule contemplated by Article III and Sections 5.1 and 8.15 of the Agreement. Unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms used in this Company Disclosure Schedule have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement. The headings contained in this Company Disclosure Schedule are for convenience of reference only and shall not be deemed to modify or influence the interpretation of the Agreement or the information contained in this Company Disclosure Schedule.

This Company Disclosure Schedule is supplemented in its entirety by reference to the Company SEC Documents (including exhibits, provided that any representations and warranties included in any such exhibit shall not be deemed to supplement this Company Disclosure Schedule) and the draft Form 10-K (dated February 9, 2010) of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009, a copy of which has been previously furnished to Parent (provided that (i) with respect to the Company SEC Documents or such draft Form 10-K: (A) any disclosures set forth in any risk factor section, (B) any disclosures in any section relating to forward looking statements and (C) any other disclosures included therein that are predictive, non-specific or forward-looking in nature shall be ignored and (ii) any disclosure in the Company SEC Documents or such draft Form 10-K shall be deemed to qualify any representation or warranty in Article III only to the extent that such disclosure is made in such a way as to make its relevance reasonably apparent on its face (but such Company SEC Documents or draft Form 10-K shall in no event qualify the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.1, Section 3.2 or Section 3.3 of the Agreement)).

Any reference in a particular Section of the Company Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to be an exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) (i) the representations and warranties (or covenants, as applicable) that are contained in the corresponding Section of the Agreement and (ii) any other representations and warranties that are contained in the Agreement (regardless of the absence of an express reference or cross-reference in a particular Section of the Agreement or a particular Section of this Company Disclosure Schedule), but only if the relevance of that reference as an exception to (or a disclosure for purposes of) such representations and warranties would be reasonably apparent. This Company Disclosure Schedule is not intended to constitute, and shall not be construed as constituting, representations or warranties of the Company.

Matters reflected in this Company Disclosure Schedule are not necessarily limited to matters required by the Agreement to be reflected in this Company Disclosure Schedule. Such additional matters are set forth for informational purposes and do not necessarily include other matters of a similar nature. In no event shall the inclusion of any such matter in this Company Disclosure Schedule be deemed or interpreted to broaden the Company's representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in the Agreement. The mere inclusion of any

matter, information or item in this Company Disclosure Schedule shall not be deemed an acknowledgement or admission by the Company that such matter, information or item is required to be disclosed or is material or that such matter, information or item satisfies any threshold requirement for inclusion of information herein for purposes of the representations and warranties set forth in the Agreement or otherwise or that the subject matter of such disclosure may have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Any attachments to this Company Disclosure Schedule form an integral part of this Company Disclosure Schedule and are incorporated by reference for all purposes as if set forth fully herein.

The information disclosed herein shall only be used in conjunction with the Agreement and constitutes "Proprietary Information" for purposes of the Confidentiality Agreement dated January 8, 2010 by and between Parent and the Company, is subject to the Confidentiality Agreement, and should not be used for any purpose other than those contemplated by the Agreement.

SECTION 3.1

Qualification, Organization, Subsidiaries, etc.

- (a) None.
- (b)

1. Subsidiaries and Jurisdictions

COMPANY	STATE OF FORMATION (F) OR QUALIFICATION		
Acadia Bay Energy Company, LLC	DE (F)		
	IN		
AE Supply Renaissance Southwest, LLC	DE (F)		
	NV		
AET PATH Company, LLC	DE (F)		
AFN Finance Company No. 2, LLC	DE (F)		
Allegheny Communications Connect, Inc.	CO		
•	DC		
	DE (F)		
	IL		
	IN		
	KY		
	MD		
	MI		
	МО		
	NC		
	NJ		
	NY		
	ОН		
	ОК		
	PA		
	TN		
	VA		
	WV		
Allegheny Communications Connect of Pennsylvania, LLC	PA (F)		
Allegheny Communications Connect of Virginia, Inc.	VA (F)		

Allegheny Energy, Inc. (formerly Allegheny Power System Inc.)	MD (F)
Allegheny Energy OVEC Supply Company, LLC (formerly AE Supply Renaissance, LLC)	DE (F)
-	NV
Allegheny Energy Service Corporation (formerly Allegheny Power Service Corporation)	AZ
<u>-</u>	DC
	IN
-	MD (F)
	MS
	NC
-	NH
-	NJ
-	NY
·	ОН
	PA
	TN
	VA
	WV
Allegheny Energy Solutions, Inc.	DE (F)
	MD
	MN
	MS
-	NH
	NJ
	NY
	PA
	TN
	wv
Allegheny Energy Supply Capital, LLC	DE (F)
	NV
Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC	AZ
	CA
-	DC
	DE (F)

-	IN
	MD
-	NJ
	NV
	ОН
	PA
-	VA
	WV
Allegheny Energy Supply Development Services, LLC	DE (F)
	MD
Allegheny Energy Supply Renaissance, LLC (formerly Allegheny Energy Supply Units 3, 4 & 5, LLC)	DE (F)
-	PA
	NV
Allegheny Energy Supply Southwest, LLC	DE (F)
	NV
Allegheny Energy Transmission, LLC	DE (F)
Allegheny Generating Company	VA (F)
Allegheny Pittsburgh Coal Company	PA (F)
	WV
Allegheny Ventures, Inc. (formerly AYP Capital, Inc.)	DC
	DE (F)
· ·	MD
	PA
	VA
	WV
AYP Energy, Inc.	DE (F)
	MD
	ОН
	PA
	VA
	wv
Buchanan Energy Company of Virginia, LLC	VA (F)
Green Valley Hydro, LLC	VA (F)
Mon Power Renaissance, LLC	DE (F)

	NV
Monongahela Power Company	OH (F)
	PA
	VA
	WV
MP Environmental Funding LLC (formerly MP Funding, LLC)	DE (F)
	NV
	WV
MP Renaissance Funding, LLC	DE (F)
-	NV
	MD
-	WV
PATH Allegheny Virginia Transmission Corporation	VA (F)
PATH Ohio Transmission Company, LLC	DE (F)
PATH West Virginia Transmission Company, LLC	DE (F)
	WV
PATH-WV Land Acquisition Company	WV (F)
PE Environmental Funding LLC (formerly PE Funding, LLC)	DE (F)
-	NV
-	wv
PE Renaissance Funding, LLC	DE (F)
-	NV
PE Transferring Agent, LLC	DE (F)
-	wv
The Potomac Edison Company*	MD (F)
	PA
	VA (F)
-	wv
The West Virginia Power & Transmission Company	PA
<u> </u>	WV (F)
Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company*	MD (F)
	VA (F)
	PA

	WV
West Penn Power Company	PA (F)
	WV
WPP Funding, LLC	DE (F)
	NV
WPP Renaissance Funding, LLC	DE (F)
	NV

^{*} The Potomac Edison Company and Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company are dually incorporated in Maryland and Virginia.

2. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or equity interests of each Subsidiary listed above are 100% owned by the Company, by the Company and one or more of its wholly-owned Subsidiaries, or by one or more wholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Company, free and clear of all Liens except as detailed below:

Monongahela Power Company First Mortgage Indenture

All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each subsidiary of Monongahela Power Company owned by Monongahela Power Company are subject to the Lien of the Indenture, dated as of August 1, 1945, between Monongahela Power Company, as issuer, and Citibank, N.A. (as ultimate successor to City Bank Farmers Trust Company), as trustee, as supplemented by the first through ninety-third supplemental indentures thereto.

MP Environmental Funding LLC Indenture

All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each subsidiary of MP Environmental Funding LLC owned by MP Environmental Funding LLC, if any, are subject to the Lien of the Indenture dated as of April 11, 2007, between MP Environmental Funding LLC, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, as supplemented by the series supplements thereto dated April 11, 2007 and December 23, 2009, to the extent related to the environmental control bonds issued thereunder.

PE Environmental Funding LLC Indenture

All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each subsidiary of PE Environmental Funding LLC owned by PE Environmental Funding LLC, if any, are subject to the Lien of the Indenture dated as of April 11, 2007, between PE Environmental Funding LLC, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, as supplemented by the series supplements thereto dated April 11, 2007 and December 23, 2009, to the extent related to the environmental control bonds issued thereunder.

The Potomac Edison Company First Mortgage Indenture

All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each subsidiary of The Potomac Edison Company owned by The Potomac Edison Company are subject to the Lien of the Indenture, dated as of October 1, 1944, among The Potomac Edison Company, as issuer, J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as corporate trustee, and Thomas J. Foley, as individual trustee, as supplemented by the first through one hundred seventh supplemental indentures thereto.

WPP Funding, LLC Indenture

All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each subsidiary of WPP Funding, LLC owned by WPP Funding, LLC, if any, are subject to the Lien of the Indenture, dated as of September 27, 2005, between WPP Funding, LLC, as issuer and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as bond trustee.

3. Ownership of Other Equity Interests and Company Joint Ventures

COMPANY	OWNER	OWNERSHIP INTEREST	NOTES
AFN, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company	Allegheny Communications Connect, Inc.	45.43%	The company no longer does business and is being wound down.
Bath County Pumped Storage Hydroelectric Power Station	Allegheny Generating Company	40%	AGC has an undivided interest in the power station together with Dominion.
APS Constellation, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company	Allegheny Ventures, Inc.	50%	Provides energy conservation services to the National Cancer Institute at Fort Detrick in Maryland.
Buchanan Generation, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company	Buchanan Energy Company of Virginia, LLC	50%	Joint venture between with CNX Gas Corporation that own and operates an 88 MW coal bed methane gas-fired simple cycle, combustion turbine.
MABCO Steam Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company	Allegheny Ventures, Inc.	15.61%	Company was formed by a group of Creditors of Weirton Steel Corp. to facilitate the continued operation of Weirton. The asset of the Company is an electric steam generating plant, which is leased to FW Holdings, Inc., a subsidiary of Weirton Steel Corp.
Mon Synfuel, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company	Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC	2.45%	This company is no longer conducting any business.
NYC Energy LLC, a Delaware limited liability company	Allegheny Energy Supply Development Services, LLC	50%	This company is no longer conducting any business.
Odyssey Communications,	Allegheny Communications	40%	Telecommunications

LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company	Connect, Inc.		construction services.
Ohio Valley Electric Corporation, an Ohio corporation	Allegheny Energy, Inc.	3.5%	Owner and operator of the Kyger Creek Power Station (1,086 MW) and its wholly owned subsidiary, Indiana-Kentucky Electric Corporation, owns and operates the Clifty Creek Power Station (1,303 MW).
PATH Ohio Transmission Company, LLC	Ohio Series, Potomac- Appalachian Transmission Highline, LLC	100%	Part of joint venture to construct PATH.
PATH West Virginia Transmission Company, LLC	West Virginia Series, Potomac-Appalachian Transmission Highline, LLC	100%	Part of joint venture to construct PATH.
PATH-WV Land Acquisition Company	PATH West Virginia Transmission Company, LLC	100%	Part of joint venture to construct PATH.
Potomac-Appalachian Transmission Highline, LLC, a Delaware series limited liability company	AET PATH, LLC	50% in the West Virginia and Ohio Series 100% in the Allegheny Series	Joint venture to construct PATH.
Utility Associates, Inc.	Allegheny Ventures, Inc.	6.19%	This company engages in data collection solutions for the utility industry.
Virginia Capital, L.L.C., a Virginia limited liability company	The Potomac Edison Company	0.9%	Economic development company.

SECTION 3.1(c)

Material Adverse Effect

An event, change, effect, development, state of facts, circumstance, condition or occurrence relating to the following shall not be deemed to constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect:

1. A decision by PJM concerning PATH that either (i) extends the in-service date for PATH beyond 2014 or (ii) cancels or otherwise terminates the PATH project.

SECTION 3.3

Corporate Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Violation

(b) If an order is issued requiring approval of the Transaction by the state utility commissions in either or both of Ohio or New Jersey, or if the Parties mutually agree to seek such approval, Section 3.3(b) will be deemed to include such approval, the term "Applicable PSCs" will be deemed to include such commissions, and the terms "Company Approvals" and "Parent Approvals" will be deemed to include such approvals.

(c)

- 1. The execution of the Merger Agreement will constitute a "change of control" under the following credit agreements on the 90th day following the execution of the Merger Agreement, unless the Company shall have obtained the consents or replacements of such credit facilities in accordance with Section 6.3(h) within such 90 day period:
 - A. Credit Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2009, among Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, Bank of America, N.A., et al., as amended through the date hereof.
 - B. Credit Agreement, dated as of May 22, 2006, among the Company, Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, Citicorp North America, Inc., the Bank of Nova Scotia, et al., as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated September 11, 2007, and Amendment No. 2, dated December 8, 2008, and as further amended through the date hereof.
 - C. Credit Agreement, dated as of December 18, 2009, by and among Monongahela Power Company, The Bank of Nova Scotia, et al., as amended through the date hereof.
 - D. Credit Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2010, by and among Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company, BNP Paribas, et al., as amended through the date hereof.
- 2. Consent may be required of OVEC's lenders and bond trustee for the indirect transfer of the Company's equity ownership interest in OVEC.
- 3. If consent to the Transactions is required under the credit agreements listed in item 1 but the lenders do not provide consent (or unreasonably condition it or any waiver expires or terminates) and a default occurs under some or all of such credit agreements, various cross-default provisions could be triggered in other debt or trading agreements.

SEC Reports, Financial Statements and Utility Reports

(a)	None.
(b)	None.
(c)	None.
(d)	See the disclosure in Section 3.7(a), item 1 of this Company Disclosure Schedule

Investigations; Litigation

(a)

- 1. An investigation is underway, conducted by the Division of Investigations of the Office of Enforcement of FERC, into sales of ancillary services into the PJM market by Monongahela Power Company d/b/a as Allegheny Power ("Mon Power") over the period January 1, 2007 through February 11, 2008 without appropriate market based rate authority. This investigation stems from a self report made by Mon Power to FERC on February 18, 2008. Mon Power has determined that for such period it sold a net amount of ancillary services into the PJM market of approximately \$1.7 million from sales of ancillary services of approximately \$20.5 million and purchases of ancillary services of \$18.8 million. Approximately, \$600,000 of the net amount of ancillary services occurred during the period prior to the re-implementation of Mon Power's fuel clause. The approximately \$1.1 million net amount of ancillary services remaining flows through Mon Power's fuel clause to the benefit of its retail rate payers.
- 2. The Company and its Subsidiaries are subject to periodic audits by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, North American Electric Reliability Corporation, ReliabilityFirst Corporation, Maryland Public Service Commission, Pennsylvania Public Utilities Commission, Virginia State Corporation Commission and the Public Service Commission of West Virginia.

(b)

- 1. See the disclosure in Section 3.13(a)(i) of this Company Disclosure Schedule, items 1-3 under Environmental Proceedings.
- (c) None.

Compliance with Law; Permits

(a)

- 1. Allegheny Power is in the process of determining whether or not to self report to ReliabilityFirst Corporation ("RFC") an issue with clearances on Allegheny Power's Bulk Electric System (BES). Allegheny Power recently performed a survey of its transmission facilities, primarily to assess right-of-way conditions and assure compliance with federal vegetation management standards and it is approximately 60-70% complete in processing the data. As a result, Allegheny Power has uncovered National Electrical Safety Code line to ground clearance violations on a small amount of its facilities (less than .5%). There are no current standards for clearance in the RFC standards, however the RFC standards do cover the ratings of Allegheny Power's BES equipment, and the line ratings are dependent upon the allowable conductor sag.
- 2. See the disclosure in Section 3.7(a), item 1 of this Company Disclosure Schedule.
- (b) None.

Tax Matters

- (a) Certain Tax Returns are being examined (see Section 3.10(b), below).
- (b) Audits:

Company	Jurisdiction	Тах Туре	Audit Period	Amount Assessed	Under Appeal
Allegheny				Audit not	Audit not
Energy, Inc.	Federal	Income	2004-2006	complete	complete
The Potomac					
Edison			08/01/03 -		No Assessment
Company	MD	Sales & Use	07/31/07	Pending	Received Yet
					Appealed to
Allegheny					Board of
Energy Service			01/01/03 -		Finance &
Corporation	PA	Sales & Use	12/31/06	\$697,799.26	Revenue
					Appealed to
Allegheny ·					Board of
Energy Supply			1/1/04		Finance &
Company, LLC	PA	Sales & Use	12/31/06	\$451,836.77	Revenue
Allegheny			Rec'd Audit		
Energy Supply			Notice Dated	Audit Not	Audit Not
Company, LLC	PA	Sales & Use	2/2/10	Started	Started
			Rec'd Audit		
West Penn			Notice Dated	Audit Not	Audit Not
Power Company	PA	Sales & Use	2/2/10	Started	Started

- (c) None.
- (d) None.
- (e) None.
- (f) Reportable Transactions Reported by the Company and its Subsidiaries to the Internal Revenue Service on Form 8886:

Tax Year(s)	Types of Transactions
2000-2001; 2004	Deductions of specified minimum employer contributions to a 401(k) plan
2004-2005	Book/tax difference for depreciation
2004	Book/tax difference for amortization of intangibles
2004-2006	Section 165 losses exceeding \$10 million
2004-2005	Section 118 CIAC exclusion
2004-2005	Book/tax difference for section 162 repair expenses
2005	Book/tax difference relating to losses on sales
2007	Contractual protection: fees for tax services

(g) None.

(h)

(i) Extensions of Time Within Which to File Tax Returns:

Company	Tax Type	Year
Allegheny Energy, Inc. and its Subsidiaries	U.S. Federal Income	2009

(ii) Waivers or Extensions of Statutes of Limitations:

Company	Тах Туре	Year(s)	Extended Through
Allegheny Energy, Inc. and its Subsidiaries	U.S. Federal Income	2004-2005	December 31, 2010
Allegheny Energy Service Corporation	U.S. Federal Payroll	2005	April 15, 2010
		08/01/03 -	
The Potomac Edison Company	MD Sales & Use	07/31/07	February 28, 2010

(iii) Powers of Attorney Granted:

Company	Tax Type	Year(s)	Representative(s)
Allegheny Energy, Inc. and its Subsidiaries	U.S. Federal Income	1992-2006	Ernst & Young LLP
			Donna Hawkins,
			Michael Bradfield,
Allegheny Energy, Inc.	U.S. Federal Excise	1998-2001	James Jones
West Penn Power Company	PA Sales & Use	2003-2006	Ryan, Inc.
Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company	PA Sales & Use	2005-2007	Ryan, Inc.
Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC	PA Sales & Use	2004-2006	Ryan, Inc.
Allegheny Energy Service Corporation	PA Sales & Use	2003-2006	Ryan, Inc.
Allegheny Communications Connect, Inc.	PA Sales & Use	2005-2007	Ryan, Inc.

(v) Closing Agreements with the Internal Revenue Service since December 31, 2006:

Company	Тах Туре	Audit Period	Issue
Allegheny Energy, Inc. and its Subsidiaries	Income	1999-2003	§118
Allegheny Energy, Inc. and its Subsidiaries	Income	2001-2003	§263A

(v) Rulings Issued since December 31, 2006:

Company	Tax Type	Date Issued	Issue
The Potomac Edison			
Company	MD Franchise	11/30/07	Taxability of prepaid rate transition surcharge

(i) Subsidiaries of the Company have filed or will file Internal Revenue Service Form 3115's for changes in methods of tax accounting with respect to repairs and capital items, along with related gain or loss on dispositions of assets. These Form 3115's constitute automatic changes on the Internal Revenue Service List of Automatic Accounting Method Changes and are listed as numbers 144, 146 and 147.

The Subsidiaries filing these Form 3115's are: Monongahela Power Company, The Potomac Edison Company, West Penn Power Company, Allegheny Generating Company, and Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC.

Employee Benefit Plans

(a) Material Employee Benefit Plans, Arrangements, Policies and Agreements

ERISA Benefit Plans

- 1. AE Retirement Plan
- 2. AE Employee Stock Ownership and Savings Plan
- 3. AE Medical Plan (not Local 102)
- 4. Local 102 sponsored Medical Plan
- 5. AE Dental Plan
- 6. AE Vision Insurance Plan (not Local 102)
- 7. AE Long-term Disability Plan
- 8. AE Health Care Spending Account Plan
- 9. AE Dependent Care Spending Account Plan
- 10. AE Group Life Insurance Plan (Basic and AD&D)
- 11. AE Death Benefit Plan (not Local 102)
- 12. AE Travel Accident Insurance Plan
- 13. AE Sick Pay Allowance Plan
- 14. AE Sick Pay Allowance Plan (as contained in the bargaining agreements)
- 15. AE Separation Allowance Plan for Exempt Employees
- 16. AE Separation Allowance Plan for Non-Exempt Employees
- 17. AE Separation Allowance Plan (as contained in the bargaining agreements)
- 18. AE Educational Assistance Program
- 19. AE Pre-tax Premium Payment Plan
- 20. AE Flexible Benefits Plan

Non-ERISA Benefit Plans and/or Business Practices

- 1. Supplemental Life Insurance
- 2. Group Property and Casualty Coverage (not Local 102)
- 3. Discount Vision Plan
- 4. Vacation and Personal Convenience Time
- 5. Vacation and Personal Convenience Time (as modified in the collective bargaining agreements)
- 6. Vacation Donation Program
- 7. Holidays
- 8. Holidays (as modified in the collective bargaining agreements)
- 9. Military Duty and Furlough
- 10. Relocation Business Practices
- 11. AE Scholarship Program
- 12. Employee Service Credit
- 13. Retirement Gift Program
- 14. Death in Family

- 15. Death in Family (as modified in the collective bargaining agreements)
- 16. Family and Medical Leave of Absence
- 17. Leave of Absence and Emergency Absence
- 18. Leave of Absence and Emergency Absence (as provided for in the collective bargaining agreements)
- 19. Employee Assistance Program
- 20. Court Duty
- 21. Pursuant to a License Transfer Agreement by and among Allegheny Hydro Partners, Ltd., Allegheny Number 6 Hydro Partners, and Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC dated as of September 25, 2009, five employees may be eligible upon a qualifying termination of employment for cash severance in the aggregate not in excess of the sum of \$350,000 plus for each employee the value of 3 months of continued medical coverage.

Incentive Compensation Plans

- 1. AE Corporate Variable Pay Program
- 2. AE Annual Incentive Plan
- 3. AE Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan
- 4. AE Sales and Marketing Incentive Plan (new for 2010)
- 5. AE 2008 Long-term Incentive Plan

Other Executive Plans

- 1. AE Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (for participants listed on Appendix A to such plan effective as of February 9, 2010 as provided to Parent)
- 2. AE Executive Change in Control Severance Plan (for participants listed on Schedule A to such plan effective as of February 9, 2010 as provided to Parent)
- 3. AE Executive Severance Plan (for participants listed on Schedule A to such plan effective as of February 9, 2010 as provided to Parent)

Director Plans

- 1. Non-Employee Director Stock Plan
- 2. Plan for Deferral of Compensation of Directors
- 3. Restricted Stock Plan for Outside Directors

Employment Agreement

1. Paul J. Evanson

Retention Arrangements – Current retention arrangements exist for 21 non-officer employees totaling \$615,000 to be paid if individuals remain employed through a specified retention date (latest date is 6/1/2013).

- (b) None.
- (c) None.
- (d) Entitlements Resulting from a Change of Control

Upon approval of the Merger by the Company's stockholders, all then outstanding and unvested equity awards in respect of Company Common Stock (other than restricted stock awards held by directors) will become fully vested (and, in the case of performance awards, payable at the target level) and exercisable, and all stock options shall remain exercisable, in the case of Mr. Evanson, for their full term and, in the case of all other holders, for up to three years following retirement and for up to 90 days following a pre-retirement termination. Restricted stock held by directors will become fully vested upon consummation of the Merger.

Participants in the Company's Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan are entitled to a lumpsum cash payment of their account balance upon consummation of the Merger.

Participants in the Company's Executive Change in Control Severance Plan will become entitled to benefits under such plan upon a qualifying termination of employment.

Mr. Evanson is party to an employment agreement with Allegheny Energy Service Corporation that provides him with certain benefits upon consummation of the Merger and the termination of his employment.

- (e) None.
- (f) The Executive Change in Control Severance Plan provides for a gross-up payment in the event any payment thereunder is subject to the excise tax imposed by Code section 4999. However, effective May 5, 2009, the Company will no longer include this excise tax gross-up provision in any new agreement or arrangement with any officers. See also Schedule 3.11(d).
- (g) Current and retired employees are eligible to receive group life insurance coverage in retirement. Additionally, current and retired employees hired prior to January 1, 1993 (for members of Local 102 as of May 2006) receive post-retirement health insurance benefits. See item 21 under "Non-ERISA Benefit Plans and/or Business Practices" and item 1 under "Employment Agreement," both in Section 3.11(a) of this Company Disclosure Schedule.

Employment and Labor Matters

(a)

(i) Collective Bargaining Agreements:

- 1. Agreement between Allegheny Energy Service Corporation on behalf of Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC R. Paul Smith Station and Local Union 307 of the IBEW, May 1 2005 to May 1, 2010. Contract negotiations are currently underway.
- 2. Agreement between Monongahela Power Company dba Allegheny Power and Panhandle Division Unit of Local Union No. 2357 of the IBEW, AFL-CIO, CLC, March 1, 2005 through February 28, 2010. On January 27, 2010, the Company reached a revised tentative agreement (five-year term) with IBEW Local 2357 whose contract expires March 1, 2010. The outcome of the union membership vote will be known on February 18, 2010.
- 3. Agreement between Monongahela Power Company dba Allegheny Power and Local Union 50 of the IBEW, March 1, 2005 through February 28, 2010. On January 15, 2010, IBEW Local 50 ratified a new five year labor contract with Allegheny Energy that will become effective on March 1, 2010.
- 4. Agreement between Monongahela Power Company dba Allegheny Power and Clarksburg Division Unit of Local Union No. 2357 of the IBEW, AFL-CIO, CLC, March 1, 2005 through February 28, 2010. On January 27, 2010, the Company reached a revised tentative agreement (five-year term) with IBEW Local 2357 whose contract expires March 1, 2010. The outcome of the union membership vote will be known on February 18, 2010.
- 5. Agreement between Monongahela Power Company dba Allegheny Power and Morgantown Division Unit of Local Union No. 2357 of the IBEW, AFL-CIO, CLC, March 1, 2005 through February 28, 2010. On January 27, 2010, the Company reached a revised tentative agreement (five-year term) with IBEW Local 2357 whose contract expires March 1, 2010. The outcome of the union membership vote will be known on February 18, 2010.
- 6. Agreement between the Company and Local Union No. 102 of the Utility Workers of America, May 1, 2006 to May 1, 2011. Negotiations on a new contract are anticipated to begin by the end of 2010.
- (ii) Certain Company Employees are represented by System Local 102 of the Utility Workers Union of America, Local Union No. 2357 of the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers ("IBEW"), Local Union 50 of the IBEW, and Local 307 of the IBEW.
- (iii) & (iv) In the last three years, there has not been a petition for election filed with the National Labor Relations Board seeking to be certified as the bargaining representative of any Company Employees at Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Following is a listing of known coordinated Union organizing or other Union-related leafleting and mailing activity over the past three years:

- <u>December 2007</u>: Representatives of IBEW distributed leaflets at all Monangahela Power Comany West Virginia work locations; including Service Centers, Power Stations and Fairmont Customer Service Center.
- <u>Sept-Nov. 2008</u>: During a three month time period, IBEW representatives sent multiple home mailings to employees located at Gassaway/Summersville/Webster Springs Service Centers. Several union organizing meetings were conducted.
- <u>April-November 2009</u>: Over a six-month time period, UWUA representatives sent two mailings to employees located at Harrison and Pleasants/Willow Power Stations.
- <u>August 2009</u>: UWUA representatives distributed leaflets to employees at Pleasants/Willow Power Stations. The representatives were located outside of the plant exits during the shift change.
- <u>December 2009</u>: Over a three-week time period, IBEW representatives conducted one home mailing and distributed leaflets to employees located in the Fairmont Customer Service Center. The representatives were located at both entrances to the facility.

Environmental Laws and Regulations

(a)

(i) Environmental Proceedings

- 1. Malone, et. al. v. Monongahela Power Company, Circuit Court of Pleasants County, WV, filed December 12, 2006, Docket No. 06-C-61; plaintiffs live in close proximity to the Pleasants Power Station and have asserted several property damage and personal injury related claims allegedly due to emissions fallout from the power station.
- 2. Lowther, et. al. v. Monongahela Power Company d/b/a Allegheny Power, Circuit Court of Pleasants County, WV, filed March 27, 2009, Docket Nos. 09-C-12, 09-C-13 and 09-C-14; plaintiffs allege the same claims and causes of action as those asserted in the Malone case described above and this case was consolidated with Malone on August 24, 2009.
- 3. Consolidation Coal Company; Carolina Power & Light Company v. 3M Company, et. al., U.S. District Court, Eastern District of North Carolina, filed October 1, 2008, Docket Nos. 5:09-CV-191-FL and 5:09-CV-190-FL; Monongahela Power Company and West Penn Power Company are defendants in this matter. Plaintiffs are seeking reimbursement for prior and future response cost related to the former Ward Transformer Superfund Site. Six transformers formerly owned by Monongahela Power Company and West Penn Power Company were disposed of at this site.
- (iii) The following facilities are excepted from the representations and warranties in Section 3.13(a)(iii) of the Agreement only to the extent they may involve permits, licenses and approvals associated with the treatment of wastewater.
 - 1. Hatfield's Ferry Power Station Masontown, PA
 - 2. Fort Martin Power Station Maidsville, WV
 - 3. Pleasants Power Station Belmont, WV

These wastewater issues involve additional capital expenditures. See Section 5.1(b)(vii).

- (iv) The following facilities are excepted from the representations and warranties in Section 3.13(a)(iv) of the Agreement only to the extent that there may have been a release of Hazardous Materials as a result of the handling, storage or disposal of coal combustion byproducts at those facilities.
 - 1. Albright Power Station Albright, WV
 - 2. Armstrong Power Station Reesedale, PA (beneficial use site also)
 - 3. Harrison Power Station Haywood, WV
 - 4. Hatfield's Ferry Power Station Masontown, PA
 - 5. Fort Martin Power Station Maidsville, WV & Dunkard Township, PA
 - 6. Mitchell Power Station Monongahela, PA
 - 7. Pleasants Power Station Belmont, WV (impoundment site also)

- 8. R. Paul Smith Power Station Williamsport, PA & Potomac, WV (two impoundments)
- 9. Willow Island Power Station Belmont, WV
- 10. Milesburg, PA (former Milesburg power station)
- 11. Front Royal, VA (former Riverton power station)
- 12. Springdale, PA (former Springdale power station)
- 13. Brooke County, WV (former Windsor power station)
- 14. Washington County, PA (Mingo Run site, former disposal site for Mitchell)

The Connellsville, PA (current service center location) facility is excepted from the representations and warranties in Section 3.13(a)(iv) of the Agreement only to the extent that there may have been a release of Hazardous Materials at the facility (this involves polychlorinated biphenyls and is currently being remediated).

The following facilities are excepted from the representations and warranties in Section 3.13(a)(iv) of the Agreement only to the extent that there may have been a release of Hazardous Materials as a result of manufactured gas plant operations at those facilities.

- 1. Brownsville, PA
- 2. Clarksburg, WV
- 3. Connellsville, PA (this is a different location than the service center location described above)
- 4. Fairmont, WV
- 5. Frederick, MD Two locations
- 6. Grafton, WV
- 7. Hagerstown, MD Three locations
- 8. Uniontown, PA
- 9. Washington, PA

Insurance

General Description of Insurance program

The Company purchases insurance at the corporate level to provide coverage for the parent and all past, present and future subsidiaries, affiliates, joint ventures and LLC's, at all tiers. The Company's insurance program is comparable to similar integrated electric businesses that both own and operate electric generation facilities and also deliver electric utility service to customers.

Allegheny Insurance Captive

The Company utilizes an insurance captive known as Energy Insurance Services (EIS). EIS is a wholly owned subsidiary of Energy Insurance Mutual (EIM). EIS is organized as Mutual Business Protected Cell Program, generically known as a rent-a-cell organization.

Reinsurance through the Captive

The Company elects to reinsure 100% of two of the property insurance policies written by the captive. These two policies constitute the bulk of the property insurance program. Additionally, the Company elects to reinsure 100% of the property terrorism risk. The reinsurance policies contain a cut-through clause permitting payment directly from the reinsurance carrier to the Company. In general, the Company is able to access more property market capacity and obtain more competitive pricing by accessing the reinsurance markets through the captive.

Risk retained in the Captive

The Company elects to not reinsure some risks written by the Captive and to retain that risk in the captive. In general this provides greater efficiency in the working layers and provides additional flexibility, especially during hard market cycles.

Material insurance policies

1. All-Risk Property Insurance – 1st Layer (Incl. Boiler & Machinery Coverage)

Insuring Company: Energy Insurance Services, Inc.

Policy Number: P02-09-01

Policy Period: July 1, 2009 – July 1, 2010 Limit of Liability: \$2,500,000 per loss All-Risk

\$5,000,000 annual aggregate

Sub-limit for T&D: \$1,000,000 per loss T&D Claims

\$2,500,000 annual aggregate

Deductible: \$5,000,000

2. All-Risk Property Insurance – 2nd Layer

Insuring Company: Energy Insurance Services, Inc. (100% reinsured)

Policy Number: P02-09-15

Policy Period:

July 1, 2009 to July 1, 2010

Limit of Liability: Deductible:

\$350,000,000 \$7,500,000

Buchanan Deductible: \$1,000,000

3. All-Risk Property Insurance – Terrorism

Insuring Company: Energy Insurance Services, Inc. (100% reinsured)

Policy Number:

P02-09-31

Policy Period:

July 1, 2009 to July 1, 2010

Limit of Liability:

\$350,000,000

Deductible:

\$7,500,000 Buchanan Deductible: \$1,000,000

4. Aircraft Hull & Liability Insurance

Insuring Company:

United States Aircraft Insurance Group (USAIG)

Policy Number:

SIHL1-5801

Policy Period:

October 1, 2009 to October 1, 2010

Scheduled Aircraft:

2002 Leariet 45

2000 Bell 407 Helicopter

Coverage, Deductible, and Limit of Liability Liability - 2002 Learjet 45 and Bell Helicopter

Aircraft Liability

\$100,000,000/Occurrence

Physical Damage Hull Value

Lear Jet

\$8,250,000

Helicopter

\$2,500,000

5. Excess Liability – 1st Layer

Insuring Company:

Energy Insurance Services, Inc. (EIS)

Policy Number:

P02-10-02

Policy Period:

February 1, 2010 – February 1, 2011

Limit of Liability:

\$2,000,000 excess of \$3,000,000 deductible

Deductible:

\$3,000,000

Coverage:

Follows form of overlying AEGIS policy. Covers personal injury and

property damage arising out of our operation and liability imposed upon us by law or assumed under contract (within the scope of policy provisions and exclusions.) Coverage includes insured loss resulting from acts of

terrorism.

6. Excess Liability – 2nd Layer

Insuring Company:

Associated Electric and Gas Insurance Services, Ltd. (AEGIS)

Policy Number:

X0195A1A10

Policy Period:

February 1, 2010 - February 1, 2011

Retroactive Date:

October 31, 1986

Limit of Liability:

\$35,000,000 excess of \$5,000,000 deductible

Deductible: \$5,000,000

Coverage: Covers personal injury and property damage arising out of our operation

and liability imposed upon us by law or assumed under contract (within the scope of policy provisions and exclusions.) Coverage includes insured

loss resulting from acts of terrorism.

7. Excess Liability – 3rd Layer

Insuring Company: Energy Insurance Mutual

Policy Number: 251110-10GL

Policy Period: February 1, 2010 – February 1, 2011

Retroactive Date: July 31, 1986

Limit of Liability: \$75,000,000 excess of \$40,000,000 (\$3,000,000 deductible &

\$2,000,000 1st Layer & \$35,000,000 2nd Layer)

Deductible: \$40,000,000

Coverage: Covers personal injury and property damage, arising out of our operation

and liability imposed upon us by law or assumed under contract (within the scope of policy provisions and exclusions). Coverage includes insured loss resulting from acts of terrorism. NOTE: This policy does include

excess workers' compensation coverage.

8. Punitive Damages Wrap

Insuring Company: Associated Electric and Gas Insurance Services, Ltd. (AEGIS)

Policy Number: B0195A1A10

Policy Period: February 1, 2010 to February 1, 2011 Limit of Liability: \$35,000,000 excess of \$5,000,000

Deductible: \$5,000,000

Coverage: Policy responds to punitive damages where indemnification for punitive

damages is excluded from our Excess Liability policies because of

statutory, regulatory or case law, such as in Pennsylvania.

9. Excess Workers' Compensation – 1st Layer

Insuring Company: Energy Insurance Services, Inc.

Policy Number: P02-10-04

Policy Period: February 1, 2010 to February 1, 2011

Limit of Liability: \$750,000

Deductible: \$250,000 Self-Insured Retention

Coverage: Covers compensation and other benefits provided for under the law for

employees who are injured or killed while in the course of employment.

10. Excess Workers' Compensation – 2nd Layer

Insuring Company: Associated Electric and Gas Insurance Services, Ltd. (AEGIS)

Policy Number: C0195A1A10

Policy Period: February 1, 2010 – February 1, 2011

Limit of Liability: \$35,000,000 excess of \$1,000,000 each accident or

each employee for disease.

Coverage: Covers compensation and other benefits provided for under the law for

employees who are injured or killed while in the course of employment.

11. Primary Workers' Compensation (Non Self-Insured States)

Insuring Company:

Northern Insurance Company of New York (Zurich)

Policy Number:

WC0361367800

Policy Period:

June 1, 2009 to June 1, 2010

Limit of Liability:

N/A

Deductible: N/A

> Coverage: Covers compensation and other benefits provided for under the law for those employees working in states other than those in which Allegheny has been granted self-insured status for workers' compensation.

At inception policy covered two (2) External Affairs employees in Washington DC. Policy pays first dollar, every dollar of Compensation

benefit due to our employee.

12. Directors and Officers Liability – 1st Layer

Insuring Company:

Zurich Insurance Company

Policy Number:

DOC 8229045 12

Policy Period:

December 1, 2009 – December 1, 2010

Continuity Date:

March 26, 1974; Pending or Prior Date: October 31, 1987

Limit of Liability:

\$15,000,000

Deductible:

\$2,500,000 deductible Securities related matters

\$500,000 deductible non-securities matters

\$0 deductible for Side A coverage

Coverage:

This policy protects corporate directors and officers from claims for negligent acts (real or alleged) committed in their official capacities. The policy will also reimburse the Corporation for loss arising from claims against the directors and officers for negligent acts when the Corporation is required or permitted to indemnify the directors and officers for such loss under statutory or common law or pursuant to charter or by-law provisions. Policy also provides entity coverage.

Claims made, side A, B and C.

13. Directors and Officers Liability - 2nd Layer

Insuring Company:

U.S. Specialty Insurance Company (Houston Casualty Company, HCC)

Policy Number:

14-MGU-06-A20414

Policy Period:

December 1, 2009 – December 1, 2010

Continuity Date:

March 26, 1974; Pending or Prior Date: October 31, 1987

Limit of Liability:

\$15,000,000

Attachment:

\$15,000,000 excess of retention

Coverage:

This policy protects corporate directors and officers from claims for negligent acts (real or alleged) committed in their official capacities. The policy will also reimburse the Corporation for loss arising from claims against the directors and officers for negligent acts when the

Corporation is required or permitted to indemnify the directors and officers for such loss under statutory or common law or pursuant to charter or by-law provisions. Policy also provides entity coverage.

Claims made, side A, B and C.

14. Directors and Officers Liability - 3rd Layer

Insuring Company:

Federal Insurance Company (Chubb)

Policy Number:

6803-7542

Policy Period:

December 1, 2009 – December 1, 2010

Continuity Date:

March 26, 1974; Pending or Prior Date: October 31, 1987

Limit of Liability:

\$15,000,000

Attachment:

\$30,000,000 excess of retention

Coverage:

This policy protects corporate directors and officers from claims for negligent acts (real or alleged) committed in their official capacities. The policy will also reimburse the Corporation for loss arising from claims against the directors and officers for negligent acts when the Corporation is required or permitted to indemnify the directors and officers for such loss under statutory or common law or pursuant to charter or by-law provisions. Policy also provides entity coverage.

Claims made, side A, B and C.

15. Directors and Officers Liability – 4th Layer

Insuring Company:

Energy Insurance Mutual

Policy Number:

291385-09DO

Policy Period:

December 1, 2009 - December 1, 2010

Continuity Date:

March 26, 1974; Pending or Prior Date: October 31, 1987

Limit of Liability:

\$45,000,000

Attachment:

\$45,000,000 excess of retention

Coverage:

This policy protects corporate directors and officers from claims for negligent acts (real or alleged) committed in their official capacities. The policy will also reimburse the Corporation for loss arising from claims against the directors and officers for negligent acts when the Corporation is required or permitted to indemnify the directors and officers for such loss under statutory or common law or pursuant to charter or by-law provisions. Policy also provides entity coverage.

Claims made, side A, B and C.

16. Fiduciary Liability – 1st Layer

Insuring Company:

Houston Casualty Company (HCC)

Policy Number:

14-MG-09-A9853

Policy Period:

August 31, 2009 to August 31, 2010

Limit of Liability:

\$15,000,000

Deductible:

\$0.00 Non-indemnifiable

\$250,000 Indemnifiable, non-securities \$2,500,000 Indemnifiable, securities

Continuity Date:

December 31, 1974

Coverage:

To pay, on behalf of the Insured, all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay arising out of the insured's activity as a fiduciary of any employee benefit plan. NOTE: Covers insured's obligations under

the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

17. Fiduciary Liability - 2nd Layer

Insuring Company:

St. Paul Mercury Insurance Company (Travelers)

Policy Number:

EC06801492

Policy Period:

August 31, 2009 to August 31, 2010

Limit of Liability:

\$10,000,000

Attachment:

Policy responds excess of underlying HCC policy

(10 x 15 x Retention)

Continuity Date:

December 31, 1974

Coverage:

To pay, on behalf of the Insured, all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay arising out of the insured's activity as a fiduciary of any employee benefit plan. NOTE: Covers insured's obligations under

the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

18. Fiduciary Liability - 3rd Layer

Insuring Company:

Zurich American Insurance Company

Policy Number:

FLC967331501

Policy Period:

August 31, 2009 to August 31, 2010

Limit of Liability:

\$5,000,000

Attachment:

Policy responds excess of underlying Travelers policy

 $(5 \times 10 \times 15 \times Retention)$

Continuity Date:

December 31, 1974

Coverage:

To pay, on behalf of the Insured, all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay arising out of the insured's activity as a fiduciary of any employee benefit plan. NOTE: Covers insured's obligations under

the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

19. **Comprehensive Crime Bond**

Insuring Company:

Zurich American Insurance Company

Policy Number:

FID 387471706

Policy Period:

December 1, 2009 - December 1, 2010

Limit of Liability:

\$15,000,000 Blanket Crime, including employee theft, premises

(including computer fraud), transit, depositors forgery, and money orders-

counterfeit paper currency.

Deductible: Coverage:

\$500,000 (except \$1,000 deductible applies to credit card forgery) Insures against losses due to employee theft by officers or employees (including collection agents under contract), money and securities -

premises and messenger (and computer theft) and forgery or alteration of

outgoing checks or other written promises to pay.

20. Owner Controlled Insurance Program, Hatfield and Fort Martin FGD Projects, Primary Coverage

Insuring Company: American Home Assurance (AIG)

Policy Number: GL 179-85-79

Policy Period: October 14, 2006 to February 28, 2010 for Liability

From February 28, 2007 to February 28, 2010 for Workers' Compensation

Limit of Liability: Workers' Comp – Primary Coverage

General Liability - \$4M per site per year aggregate

Deductible: \$250,000

Coverage: Policy provides Workers' Compensation coverage for contractors

and sub-contractors on the Hatfield FGD project and general and excess liability for the contractors and subcontractors on both the Hatfield and the Fort Martin FGD projects. Allegheny reimburses the primary carrier for all losses up to the deductible, subject to aggregate stop-loss of \$8,718,651 for the life of the construction at both locations, subject to increase for payroll overrun. Total cost of program depends on losses. Losses fund through a Depleting Cash

Fund.

21. Owner Controlled Insurance Program, Hatfield and Fort Martin FGD Projects, Excess Liability – 2nd Layer

Insuring Company: American Home Assurance (AIG)

Policy Number: 9834733

Policy Period: October 14, 2006 to February 28, 2010 plus Completed Operations

Limit of Liability: \$25,000,000

Deductible: Excess of Primary

Coverage: Provides Excess Liability Coverage for Allegheny, Contractors and

Subcontractors enrolled in the OCIP for construction of the FGD projects at Fort Martin and Hatfield. Follows form of underlying

layers. Provides Completed Operations coverage.

22. Owner Controlled Insurance Program, Hatfield and Fort Martin FGD Projects, Excess Liability – 3rd Layer

Insuring Company: Liberty

Policy Number: 509/DL484107

Policy Period: October 14, 2006 to February 28, 2010 for Liability

plus Completed Operations

Limit of Liability: \$25,000,000

Deductible: Excess of \$25,000,000 Underlying

Coverage: Provides Excess Liability Coverage for Allegheny, Contractors and

Subcontractors enrolled in the OCIP for construction of the FGD projects at Fort Martin and Hatfield. Follows form of underlying

layers. Provides Completed Operations coverage.

23. Owner Controlled Insurance Program, Hatfield and Fort Martin FGD Projects, Excess Liability – 4th Layer

Insuring Company: Allied World Assurance Company (AWAC)

Policy Number:

C006943/001

Policy Period:

October 14, 2006 to February 28, 2010 plus Completed Operations

Limit of Liability:

\$50,000,000

Deductible:

Excess of \$50,000,000 Underlying

Coverage:

Provides Excess Liability Coverage for Allegheny, Contractors and Subcontractors enrolled in the OCIP for construction of the FGD projects at Fort Martin and Hatfield. Follows form of underlying

layers. Provides Completed Operations coverage.

24. Owner Controlled Insurance Program, Hatfield and Fort Martin FGD Projects, Workers' Compensation Coverage, Primary Coverage

Insuring Company: BrickStreet Insurance

Policy Number:

WC10206604-01

Policy Period:

August 13, 2007 to November 1, 2010

Limit of Liability:

Policy responds to cover all Workers' Compensation costs in excess of

deductible, including medical and indemnity

Deductible:

\$250,000

Coverage:

Policy provides Workers' Compensation coverage for contractors and subcontractors working in West Virginia under the OCIP for the Fort Martin FGD project, including all work at the Fabrication Yard at Fort Martin. Total cost of program depends on losses. Losses

fund through a Depleting Cash Fund.

25. All-Risk Builders' Risk Policy, 502 Junction Substation (TrAIL)

Insuring Company:

ACE American Insurance Company

Policy Number:

121119520001

Policy Period:

January 18, 2009 to May 1, 2010

Limit of Liability:

\$44,723,768

Deductible:

\$25,000

Coverage:

Builders' Risk policy provides property insurance on our property as it is

being built and tested.

26. All-Risk Builders' Risk Policy, Meadowbrook Substation (TrAIL)

Insuring Company:

ACE American Insurance Company

Policy Number:

121119519001

Policy Period:

January 18, 2009 to May 1, 2010

Limit of Liability:

\$22,288,938

Deductible:

\$25,000

Coverage:

Builders' Risk policy provides property insurance on our property as it is

being built and tested.

Material Contracts

(iii) Restrictions on dividends and distributions to stockholders:

Allegheny Energy, Inc. Credit Agreement

The Credit Agreement, dated as of May 22, 2006, among the Company, Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, Citicorp North America, Inc., the Bank of Nova Scotia, et al., limits or otherwise restricts the ability of the Company and its Subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions to its stockholders.

Allegheny Generating Company Indenture

Pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of December 1, 1986, between Allegheny Generating Company and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, as trustee, as supplemented by the first supplemental indenture thereto, Allegheny Generating Company is limited or restricted in its ability to pay any dividend or make any distribution as provided therein.

Monongahela Power Company First Mortgage Indenture.

Pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of August 1, 1945, between Monongahela Power Company, as issuer, and Citibank, N.A. (as ultimate successor to City Bank Farmers Trust Company), as trustee, as supplemented by the first through ninety-third supplemental indentures thereto, Monongahela Power Company covenants that it will not sell, assign, transfer, and will not mortgage, pledge or otherwise encumber (except thereunder), any coupon or right to interest or dividends delivered or assigned to it in respect of any of the capital stock or indebtedness of a Subsidiary held as a part of the trust estate.

MP Environmental Funding LLC Indenture

Pursuant to the Indenture dated as of April 11, 2007, between MP Environmental Funding LLC, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, as supplemented by the series supplements thereto dated April 11, 2007 and December 23, 2009, MP Environmental Funding LLC is limited or restricted in its ability to pay any dividend or make any distribution as provided therein.

PE Environmental Funding LLC Indenture

Pursuant to the Indenture dated as of April 11, 2007, between PE Environmental Funding LLC, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, as supplemented by the series supplements thereto dated April 11, 2007 and December 23, 2009, PE Environmental Funding LLC is limited or restricted in its ability to pay any dividend or make any distribution as provided therein.

The Potomac Edison Company First Mortgage Indenture

Pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of October 1, 1944, among The Potomac Edison Company, as issuer, J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as corporate trustee, and Thomas J. Foley, as individual trustee, as supplemented by the first through one hundred seventh supplemental indentures thereto, The Potomac Edison Company covenants that it will not sell, assign, transfer, and will not mortgage, pledge or otherwise encumber (except thereunder), any coupon or right to interest or dividends delivered or assigned to it in respect of any of the capital stock or indebtedness of a Subsidiary held as a part of the trust estate.

WPP Funding, LLC Indenture

Pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of September 27, 2005, between WPP Funding, LLC, as issuer and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as bond trustee, WPP Funding, LLC is limited or restricted in its ability to pay any dividend or make any distribution as provided therein.

(iv) Material contracts providing for the operation and management of any operating assets of the Company:

Bath Operating Agreement

Operating Agreement – Bath County Pumped Storage Project by and among Allegheny Generating Company, Monongahela Power Company, Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC (as successor in interest to West Penn Power Company and The Potomac Edison Company) and Virginia Electric and Power Company dated as of June 17, 1981.

Joint Ownership Agreement

Joint Ownership Agreement between Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company and Virginia Electric and Power Company effective as of January 31, 2010, for a Portion of the 500kv Meadowbrook to Loudoun Transmission Line.

EDS Professional Services Agreement

Professional Services Agreement by and among Allegheny Energy, Inc., EDS Information Services, L.L.C. and Electronic Data Systems Corporation dated as of September 19, 2005, and any amendments thereto.

Other operation or management provisions

A number of agreements governing outstanding indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries provide for remedies upon an event of default with respect to the collateral underlying such indebtedness, which remedies may include operation or management of such assets by a third party.

SECTION 5.1

Conduct of Business by the Company

(a)

Regulatory

The following shall be deemed to be ordinary course (but such list shall not be deemed to be an exhaustive list of items that are ordinary course), and the litigation, proceeding, negotiation, agreement, settlement or resolution of any of the following shall not be restricted by the terms of Section 5.1(b)(xx):

FERC

- Potomac Appalachian Transmission Highline, LLC on behalf of PATH West Virginia Transmission Company, LLC, and PATH-Allegheny Transmission Company, LLC files annual updates and true-ups for their formula rates.
- Final approval of the return on equity for Potomac Appalachian
 Transmission Highline, LLC on behalf of PATH West Virginia Transmission
 Company, LLC, and PATH-Allegheny Transmission Company, LLC.
- PATH West Virginia Transmission Company, LLC, PATH-Allegheny Transmission Company, LLC (including PATH-Virginia) rates are currently being collected subject to refund.
- Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company files annual updates and true-ups under its formula rate.
- Changes to Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company formula rate to provide for cost recovery for additional projects, including incentives.
- Implementation of formula rates for the Allegheny Power companies, which are to be effective January 1, 2011.
- For PATH Allegheny Maryland Transmission Company, LLC, we expect to file in the first quarter a request for a waiver of the FERC regulations to permit PATH-Maryland to file a consolidated Form 1 with PATH-Allegheny, which will also allow PATH-Maryland's costs to flow through the formula rate.
- For PATH Allegheny Maryland Transmission Company, LLC, we are planning to file to an FPA 204 request to borrow money. We previously requested authority for PATH-West Virginia and PATH-Allegheny, and need to add PATH-MD to the authority.

- For Allegheny Generating Company, a request to issue debt and request for declaratory order for a return on equity to AGC's shareholders is currently pending; an additional amendment may be necessary in connection with this matter.
- Upon the closing of Potomac Edison's Virginia asset sale, Green Valley Hydro will file a new non-exclusive use agreement.
- New interconnection agreements will need to be filed related to Potomac Edison's Virginia asset sale.

2. Pennsylvania

- On February 9, 2009, West Penn made a filing seeking authorization from the Pennsylvania PUC to pass through in its rates all of its transmission costs charged by PJM, whether that is for service on the Allegheny Power system or charged by third parties under the PJM tariff. This could trigger a requirement to file a base rate case.
- West Penn currently has pending proceedings dealing with Energy Efficiency, Demand Response and Smart Meter Implementation. Rates could be impacted by these proceedings.

3. West Virginia

- Monongahela Power Company and The Potomac Edison Company currently have a base rate case pending.
- Monongahela Power Company and The Potomac Edison Company are required to make each year a fuel clause reconciliation filing (Expanded Net Energy Charge (ENEC)) to true-up the prior year's costs, and begin collecting the next year's cost.
- The Potomac Edison Company will need to make numerous filings for approval of the purchase of SVEC's WV service territory, some of which could impact rates and terms and conditions of service.

4. Virginia

- If the Virginia sale is not approved, a base rate case will need to be filed in Virginia within 30 days.
- Levelized Purchased Power Factor filing to recover purchased power expenses.

5. Any supplemental filing to, any amendments of, or settlements regarding any of the foregoing matters in 1 through 4 above.

(b)

- (ii) Allegheny Generating Company has filed with FERC seeking authority to, among other things, issue \$60 million of medium-term or long-term indebtedness to realign the capital structure to its FERC formula rate by distributing cash to its equity owners, Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC and Monongahela Power Company, as a return of capital.
- (iv) WPP Funding, LLC and WPP Renaissance Funding, LLC are special purpose entities formed in connection with the securitization of West Penn Power Company's stranded costs. The bonds issued in connection with this securitization are due to mature in 2010 and those entities will be consolidated into West Penn Power Company thereafter.

(v)

- 1. Prepayments in the ordinary course of advances under any revolving credit facility of the Company or any wholly-owned Subsidiary.
- 2. Redemptions, mandatory purchases or repurchases or acquisitions of pollution control or similar notes of Subsidiaries of the Company or the related pollution control or similar bonds from time to time in connection with refundings, remarketings, conversions of interest rate modes, extensions, replacements or terminations of existing credit or liquidity support arrangements or restructuring of such indebtedness consistent with past practice.
- 3. See Section 5.1(b)(xii) of this Company Disclosure Schedule.

(vi)

- 4. Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, is investigating the potential purchase of two run of river hydro facilities (32 MW) located at Lock & Dam No. 8 and No. 9 on the Allegheny River in Pennsylvania. Elements of the transaction would most likely involve restructuring or paying off debt on facilities, renegotiating or buying out long term power purchase agreement, acquiring ownership of the facilities and assuming their operation. Estimated transaction consideration approximately \$50 million.
- 5. In connection with Potomac Edison's Virginia asset sale, Potomac Edison is currently negotiating a definitive agreement to purchase electric distribution operations in Hardy County, West Virginia from Shenandoah Valley Electric Cooperative ("SVEC") for cash proceeds of approximately \$15 million. This purchase requires approval from the West Virginia Public Service Commission and is contingent on the closing of the Virginia asset sale.

(vii)

Capital Expenditure Matters.

For informational purposes, the following is a list of potential generation related environmental capital expenditures that the Company currently anticipates may become necessary to meet compliance deadlines required by Law and therefore would be subject to Section 5.1(b)(vii)(B)(1) of the Agreement:

- 1. Fort Martin Power Station -coal combustion byproducts expansion for TDS.
- 2. Hatfield's Ferry Power Station coal combustion byproducts expansion for TDS.
- 3. Harrison Power Station blue plume.
- 4. Pleasants Power Station blue plume and coal combustion byproducts.
- 5. Armstrong Power Station cooling tower.
- 6. Mitchell Power Station cooling tower, trona injection, and Mingo wetlands.
- 7. R. Paul Smith Power Station coal combustion byproducts.
- 8. Rivesville Power Station wastewater treatment plant.
- 9. Willow Island Power Station cooling tower.
- 10. Springdale Power Station landfill stormwater reroute and landfill wastewater treatment.

Capital Expenditure Budget, 2010, and Plan, 2011

	Proj	jecte	<u>d</u>
(in millions)	2010	2	2011
Transmission and distribution facilities:			
TrAIL and related transmission expansion\$	358.9	\$	95.4
PATH Project ^(a)	21.3		23.8
Other transmission and distribution facilities	402.7		340.7
Total transmission and distribution facilities	782.9		459.9
Environmental:			
Fort Martin Scrubbers	34.0		
Hatfield Scrubbers	21.0		
Other	97.0		158.5
Total environmental	152.0		158.5
Other generation facilities	100.0		58.7
Other capital expenditures	46.0		19.1
Total capital expenditures\$	1,080.9	\$	696.2

⁽a) Excludes capital expenditures related to AEP's portion of the West Virginia Series of PATH, LLC, which were \$14.1 million in 2009 and are projected to be approximately \$10.0 in each of 2010 and 2011.

The following generation related environmental capital expenditures are included in the above 2010 and 2011 Capital Expenditure Budget and Plan:

- 1. Fort Martin Power Station stormwater improvements, wastewater treatment plant and wastewater treatment plant (TDS).
- 2. Harrison Power Station stormwater improvements.
- 3. Hatfield's Ferry Power Station Unit 1 SCR, Unit 2 SCR, Unit 3 SCR, common SCR, wastewater treatment plant and wastewater treatment plant (TDS).
- 4. Pleasants Power Station wastewater treatment plant.

For the avoidance of doubt, it is understood that the amounts included in the Capital Expenditure Budget and Plan for the above listed projects shall be subject to the restrictions set forth in Section 5.1(b)(vii) of the Agreement which limit expenditures of such plan amounts to those required by Law or that are necessary to meet reasonably anticipated environmental compliance deadlines, provided that any amounts not spent by the Company pursuant to such requirements may be spent by the Company on reliability/availability routine maintenance projects with priority given to supercritical coal units.

(viii)

Rappahannock and Shenandoah Agreements

The Potomac Edison Company ("Potomac Edison") has entered into agreements with each of Rappahannock Electric Cooperative ("Rappahannock") and Shenandoah Valley Electric Cooperative ("Shenandoah"), whereby Potomac Edison agreed to sell its electric distribution operations in Virginia for cash proceeds of approximately \$340 million. Potomac Edison may amend these agreements as reasonably necessary to secure the required regulatory approval or in connection with negotiations with Rappahannock and/or Shenandoah resulting from discussions with or decisions by the applicable regulator.

La Paz, Arizona Real Estate

Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC ("Supply") has entered into a purchase agreement with Vintage Farms, LLC (and/or its affiliates), whereby Supply agreed to sell its real estate in La Paz, Arizona for cash proceeds of approximately \$16 million.

Liens

Restrictions on Liens set forth in Section 5.1(b)(viii) of the Agreement shall apply to the extent permitted by the Company's credit agreements set forth in Section 3.3(c) of this Company Disclosure Schedule.

Liens in connection with the financing transactions set forth in Section 5.1(b)(xii) of this Company Disclosure Schedule.

Other

Disposition of emission allowances, renewable energy credits, and similar environmental attributes not needed for current and anticipated future operation of generating facilities.

Disposition of fuel supplies not needed for current and anticipated future operation of generating facilities.

(ix)

Retention Program

In order to retain key employees (below Vice President level)¹ to maintain business continuity throughout the transition process, the Company reserves the right to implement a

¹ For Company Employees at the level of General Manager or above immediately before the Effective Time, the terms of such Retention Program will provide that any such Company Employee who declines an offer made not later than forty-five (45) days following the Closing Date for a comparable employment position with the Surviving Corporation or its affiliates after the Effective Time, which position is outside a fifty (50) mile radius of the such Company Employee 's current work location, shall be eligible for benefits under the Retention Program only if the value of those benefits exceeds the value of the severance benefits otherwise owing to the Company Employee under other Company Benefit Plans and that benefits payable under the Retention Program in such circumstances shall be in lieu of such other severance benefits.

Retention Program. The maximum expenditure under the program will not exceed \$18.0 million. Prior to employees being offered the retention program the eligibility of such employees for the Retention Program will be reviewed by the Company's HR department and approved by its CEO. In addition, the Company will consider the following criteria as a guideline for determining each employee's potential eligibility for the Retention Program:²

- Loss of specific knowledge, intellectual capital or skills that would be difficult or unduly costly to replace
- Work could not be reasonably assumed by others in the department, temporary staff or outside contractors
- Loss of individual would result in potential significant risk of interruption of the ongoing operations of the company
- Individual will assume a critical role in the transition process or otherwise work directly on integration issues
- Individual will be assuming additional day-to-day responsibilities from other employees assigned to integration issues
- Individual will be needed for some period post-Closing to facilitate integration or otherwise

Prior to the Closing the Company shall have adopted the Retention Program with sufficient detail such that, not later than Closing, the Company will have been required to record an expense under GAAP for that portion of the Retention Program relating to services rendered by eligible employees through the Closing Date.

Special Circumstances Budget

The Company reserves the right to maintain a budget not to exceed \$5.0 million and, in its sole discretion, use these funds to address and/or mitigate potential employee issues or hardships as a result of this transaction.

Prior to the Closing the Company shall have adopted the Special Circumstances Budget with sufficient detail such that, not later than Closing, the Company will have been required to record an expense under GAAP for that portion of the Special Circumstances Budget relating to services rendered by eligible employees through the Closing Date.

AE Separation Allowance Plan for Exempt Employees & AE Separation Allowance Plan for Nonexempt Employees

The Company will modify the eligibility criteria under which participants in either Plan would receive severance payments, specifically, a participant would remain eligible to receive such separation allowance should such participant refuse an offer of comparable employment that is not within a 50-mile radius of such participant's current principal place of employment.

² An employee shall meet at least one of the criteria included in the guideline, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, in order to be eligible for the Retention Program.

Collective Bargaining Renewal or Amendments

- As may be called for as collective bargaining agreements expire or for business necessity, or as may result from or be related to the settlement of litigation or claims that derived from alleged violations of collective bargaining agreements.
- On January 15, 2010, IBEW Local 50 ratified a new five year labor contract with Monongahela Power Company d/b/a Allegheny Power that will become effective on March 1, 2010.
- On January 27, 2010, Monongahela Power Company d/b/a Allegheny Power reached a revised tentative agreement with IBEW Local 2357 whose contracts expire March 1, 2010. The outcome of the union membership vote will be known on February 18, 2010 and if approved the agreement will become effective.
- IBEW Local 307's labor contract with Allegheny Energy Service Corporation on behalf of Allegheny Energy Supply Co., LLC (R. Paul Smith Station) expires on May 1, 2010. Contract negotiations are currently underway.
- UWUA Local 102's labor agreement with the Company expires on May 1, 2011. Negotiations on a new contract are anticipated to begin by the end of 2010.

Employment Agreement

The Company may amend the employment agreement with Mr. Evanson to ensure compliance with Section 409A of the Code to the extent such amendments do not result in any additional cost to the Company.

(x)

Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

Equity grants under the LTIP for 2010 and 2011, if any, will not exceed \$19.0 million and \$20 million, respectively, in grant value. For 2010, all equity will be granted in the form of performance shares linked to the corporate results under the AE Annual Incentive Plan. Award agreements issued in 2010 and 2011, if any, will be revised from prior years to amend the definition of change in control to substitute "consummation of the transaction" in lieu of "approval by shareholders". The Company reserves the right to revise other provisions of the award agreement to align with the form of grant.

Annual Incentive Plan (AIP) and Corporate Variable Pay Program (CVPP)

For 2010, the total amounts payable based on target under the AIP and CVPP will not exceed \$7.0 million and \$15.0 million, respectively. Actual amounts payable under the plans will not exceed 200% of the target amounts. Plan provisions will be revised so that, in the event that the transaction is consummated prior to year-end 2010, participants will receive a prorated payout (based on length of service during plan year up to consummation) within 60 days of consummation date. Payout will be determined upon actual results to-date or target based, in the

sole discretion of the Company. In the event that the transaction is consummated after year-end 2010 but prior to being paid, participants will receive a payout based on the actual results for 2010.

For 2011, the total amounts payable based on target under the AIP and CVPP will not exceed \$7.0 million and \$16.0 million, respectively. Actual amounts payable under the plans will not exceed 200% of the target amounts. Plan provisions will be revised so that, in the event that the transaction is consummated prior to year-end 2011, participants will receive a prorated payout (based on length of service during plan year up to consummation) within 60 days of consummation date. Payout will be determined upon actual results to-date or target based, in the sole discretion of the Company.

Pledges of Capital Stock or other Ownership Interests in Subsidiaries

To the extent that each of Monongahela Power Company, MP Environmental Funding LLC, PE Environmental Funding LLC, The Potomac Edison Company and WPP Funding, LLC now or hereafter owns the capital stock or other equity interests of any respective subsidiary of such entity (whether acquired through the creation or merger or acquisition of a subsidiary of such entity or any issuance of capital stock or other equity interests of a subsidiary of such entity or otherwise), such capital stock or other equity interests shall be subjected to the Lien of the respective indenture of such entity, as disclosed in Section 3.1(b), item 2 of this Company Disclosure Schedule.

(xii)

2010-2011 Anticipated Financing Transactions

Issuer	Description of Transaction
Allegheny Generating	Issue \$60 million of medium-term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to align capital structure to FERC formula rate by distributing cash to equity owners
Company	Issue \$100 million of medium-term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to refinance \$100 million debentures due in 2023 (redemption premium: 0.98% in 2010 and 0.66% in 2011)
Allegheny Energy, Inc.	Enter into an up to \$400 million revolving credit facility (for replacement of current facility which matures in May 2011)
Allegheny Energy Supply	Issue \$151 million of medium-term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to refinance \$151 million medium-term notes due in 2011 either at maturity or in connection with a concurrent tender offer (with a market premium) or in the alternative tender with cash in hand
Company, LLC .	Issue \$504 million of medium-term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to refinance \$504 million medium-term notes due in 2012 in connection with a concurrent tender offer (with a market premium) or in the alternative tender with cash in hand

PATH Allegheny Transmission Company,	Issue \$100 million of short-term indebtedness or enter into \$100 million revolving credit facility to finance capital expenditures
LLC*	Issue \$450 million of medium-term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to finance capital expenditures
PATH Allegheny Virginia	Issue \$25 million of short-term indebtedness or enter into \$25 million revolving credit facility to finance capital expenditures
Transmission Corporation*	Issue \$100 million of medium-term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to finance capital expenditures
PATH West Virginia Transmission Company,	Issue \$150 million of short-term indebtedness or enter into \$150 million revolving credit facility to finance capital expenditures
LLC*	Issue \$800 million of medium-term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to finance capital expenditures
	Enter into \$150 million revolving credit facility
The Potomac Edison Company	Issue up to \$300 million of secured or unsecured medium- term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to finance capital expenditures
Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company	Increase revolving credit facility by up to \$100 million to finance capital expenditures
	Enter into \$200 million revolving credit facility
West Penn Power Company	Issue up to \$300 million of secured or unsecured medium- term or long-term indebtedness (through banks or capital markets) to finance capital expenditures

^{*}In connection with the construction of PATH should the PJM-directed in-service date for the project be in 2014 or sooner.

If the consents required under the credit agreements listed in Schedule 3.3(c) are not obtainable on commercially reasonable terms, the Company may seek to obtain replacement facilities and terminate the existing facilities in accordance with the terms of Section 6.3(h) of the Agreement.

(xvi)

For the avoidance of doubt, the litigation described in "Claims by the California Parties" as further described in (a) the Company SEC Documents or (b) the draft Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009 (a copy of which has been previously furnished to Parent), shall be subject to the limitations set forth in Section 5.1(b)(xvi) of the Agreement which restricts, among other things, the payment of certain settlements, and shall not be considered a "regulatory proceeding" that is excepted out of such limitations.

(xx)

The ordinary course regulatory matters set forth in Section 5.1(a) of this Company Disclosure Schedule shall not be subject to the limitations of Section 5.1(b)(xx) of the Agreement, except that the base rate case identified in item 4 of Section 5.1(a) that would need to be filed if the Virginia sale is not approved shall be subject to the limitations of Section 5.1(b)(xx)(A) of the Agreement (but shall not be subject to the limitations of Section 5.1(b)(xx)(B) of the Agreement).

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor Potomac Edison shall, without the prior written consent of Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), amend the purchase agreement related to the Virginia sale or agree to any condition or take any action in connection with the approval of the Virginia sale if such amendment, agreement or action would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect (provided that for such purposes, the Company shall be deemed to be an entity the size and scale of Potomac Edison).

(xxi)

- 1. Any modification or amendment in connection with the obtaining of the consents described in Section 6.3(h) of the Agreement.
- 2. Any modification or amendment to covenants of credit or other debt agreements to permit the Company to undertake any capital expenditure or other action otherwise specifically permitted under the Merger Agreement or this Company Disclosure Schedule.

3. Labor Agreements:

- On January 15, 2010, IBEW Local 50 ratified a new five year labor contract with Monongahela Power Company d/b/a Allegheny Power that has been approved and will become effective on March 1, 2010.
- On January 27, 2010, Monongahela Power Company d/b/a Allegheny Power reached a revised tentative agreement with IBEW Local 2357 whose contracts expire March 1, 2010. The outcome of the union membership vote will be known on February 18, 2010 and if approved the agreement will become effective.
- IBEW Local 307's labor contract with Allegheny Energy Service Corporation on behalf of Allegheny Energy Supply Co., LLC (R. Paul Smith Station) expires on May 1, 2010. Contract negotiations are currently underway.

- UWUA Local 102's labor agreement with the Company expires on May 1, 2011. Negotiations on a new contract are anticipated to begin by the end of 2010.
- 4. Any modifications or amendments to the Rappahannock and Shenandoah agreements as described in Section 5.1(b)(viii) of this Company Disclosure Schedule.
- 5. Any modification or amendment to the employment agreement with Mr. Evanson as described in Section 5.1(b)(ix) of this Company Disclosure Schedule.
- 6. Any modifications or amendments to award agreements under the LTIP as described in Section 5.1(b)(x).

SECTION 8.15

Company Knowledge

Paul Evanson
Kirk Oliver
Curtis Davis
Rodney Dickens
Ed Dudzinski
David Feinberg
Eric Gleason
Barry Pakenham
Bruce Sedlock
Rick Wahl
David Cannon

PARENT DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE

This disclosure schedule (the "Parent Disclosure Schedule") has been prepared and delivered in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 10, 2010 (the "Agreement"), by and among FirstEnergy Corp., an Ohio corporation ("Parent"), Element Merger Sub, Inc., a Maryland corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), and Allegheny Energy, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "Company") and constitutes the Parent Disclosure Schedule contemplated by Article IV and Sections 5.2, 6.3 and 8.15 of the Agreement. Unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms used in this Parent Disclosure Schedule have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement. The headings contained in this Parent Disclosure Schedule are for convenience of reference only and shall not be deemed to modify or influence the interpretation of the Agreement or the information contained in this Parent Disclosure Schedule.

This Parent Disclosure Schedule is supplemented in its entirety by (a) the Parent SEC Documents filed prior to the date hereof (including exhibits; provided that any representations and warranties included in any such exhibit shall not be deemed to supplement this Parent Disclosure Schedule) and (b) the draft Form 10-K (dated February 5, 2010) of Parent for the year ended December 31, 2009, a copy of which has been previously furnished to the Company (provided that (i) with respect to the Parent SEC Documents or such draft Form 10-K: (A) any disclosures set forth in any risk factor section, (B) any disclosures in any section relating to forward looking statements and (C) any other disclosures included therein that are predictive, non-specific or forward-looking in nature shall be ignored and (ii) any disclosure in the Parent SEC Documents or such draft Form 10-K shall be deemed to qualify any representation or warranty in Article IV of the Agreement only to the extent that such disclosure is made in such a way as to make its relevance reasonably apparent on its face (but such Parent SEC Documents or draft Form 10-K shall in no event qualify the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.1, Section 4.2 or Section 4.3)). Any reference in a particular Section of the Parent Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to be an exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) (i) the representations and warranties (or covenants, as applicable) of the relevant party that are contained in the corresponding Section of the Agreement and (ii) any other representations and warranties of such party that is contained in the Agreement (regardless of the absence of an express reference or cross-reference in a particular Section of the Agreement or a particular Section of this Parent Disclosure Schedule), but only if the relevance of that reference as an exception to (or a disclosure for purposes of) such representations and warranties would be reasonably apparent. This Parent Disclosure Schedule is not intended to constitute, and shall not be construed as constituting, representations or warranties of the Parent.

Matters reflected in this Parent Disclosure Schedule are not necessarily limited to matters required by the Agreement to be reflected in this Parent Disclosure Schedule. Such additional matters are set forth for informational purposes and do not necessarily include other matters of a similar nature. In no event shall the inclusion of any such matter in this Parent Disclosure Schedule be deemed or interpreted to broaden the Parent's representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in the Agreement. The mere inclusion of any matter, information or item in this Parent Disclosure Schedule shall not be deemed an acknowledgement or admission by the Parent that such matter, information or item is required to be disclosed or is material or that such matter, information or item satisfies any threshold requirement for inclusion of

information herein for purposes of the representations and warranties set forth in the Agreement or otherwise or that the subject matter of such disclosure may have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Any attachments to this Parent Disclosure Schedule form an integral part of this Parent Disclosure Schedule and are incorporated by reference for all purposes as if set forth fully herein.

The information disclosed herein shall only be used in conjunction with the Agreement and constitutes "Proprietary Information" for purposes of the Confidentiality Agreement dated January 8, 2010 by and between Parent and the Company, is subject to the Confidentiality Agreement, and should not be used for any purpose other than those contemplated by the Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub

SECTION 4.1(b)

Qualification, Organization, Subsidiaries, etc.

1. Subsidiaries and Jurisdictions

Entity	Jurisdiction of Formation/Organization (F) and Jurisdictions of Oualification
American Transmission Systems, Incorporated	Ohio (F)
	Pennsylvania
	West Virginia
Bay Shore Power Company	Ohio (F)
Centerior Funding Corporation	Delaware (F)
FE Aircraft Leasing Corp.	Ohio (F)
FELHC, Inc. ¹	Ohio (F)
FirstEnergy Engineering, Incorporated ²	Ohio (F)
FirstEnergy Facilities Services Group, LLC ³	Ohio (F)
FirstEnergy Fiber Holdings Corp. ⁴	Delaware (F)
	District of Columbia
	Illinois
	Maryland
	New Jersey
	New York
	Ohio
	Pennsylvania
FirstEnergy Generation Corp.	Ohio (F)
	Michigan
	Pennsylvania
	West Virginia
FirstEnergy Generation Mansfield Unit 1 Corp.	Ohio (F)
	Pennsylvania

¹ Formerly known as FirstEnergy License Holding Corp.

² Formerly known as OES Engineering, Incorporated

³ FirstEnergy Facilities Services Group, Inc. was merged into FirstEnergy Facilities Services Group, LLC effective December 29, 1999

⁴ Formerly known as GPU Telecom Services, Inc. and FirstEnergy Telecom Services Inc.

FirstEnergy Nuclear Generation Corp.	Ohio (F)
	Pennsylvania
FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company	Ohio (F)
	Pennsylvania
FirstEnergy Properties, Inc. ⁵	Ohio (F)
FirstEnergy Service Company	Ohio (F)
(Assumed Name New Jersey: FirstEnergy Service Company of Ohio)	District of Columbia
	New Jersey
	Pennsylvania
FirstEnergy Solutions Corp.	Ohio (F)
(Assumed Name Delaware: FirstEnergy Services Corp. of Delaware)	Delaware
	District of Columbia
	Illinois
	Indiana
	Kentucky
•	Maryland
•	Michigan
	New Jersey
	New York
	Oklahoma
	Pennsylvania
	Virginia
	West Virginia
FirstEnergy Ventures Corp.	Ohio (F)
	Pennsylvania
GPU Nuclear, Inc.	New Jersey (F)
	Pennsylvania

Jersey Central Power & Light Company

New Jersey (F)

GPU Power, Inc.

JCP&L Transition Funding II LLC

JCP&L Transition Funding LLC

Delaware (F)

Delaware (F)
Delaware (F)

New Jersey

Ohio

⁵ CEICO Service Company and Centerior Properties Company were predecessor corporations to FirstEnergy Properties, Inc.

Pennsylvania

MARBEL Energy Corporation Ohio (F)

MetEd Funding LLC Delaware (F)

Metropolitan Edison Company Pennsylvania (F)

New Jersey

Norton Energy Storage L.L.C. Delaware (F)

Ohio

Texas

OES Capital, Incorporated Delaware (F)

Ohio

OES Ventures, Incorporated Ohio (F)

Pennsylvania

Ohio Edison Company Ohio (F)

Pennsylvania

Penelec Funding LLC Delaware (F)

Pennsylvania Electric Company Pennsylvania (F)

Maryland

New York

Pennsylvania Power Company Pennsylvania (F)

Ohio

Penn Power Funding LLC Delaware (F)

Ohio

The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company Ohio (F)

Pennsylvania

West Virginia

The Toledo Edison Capital Corporation Delaware (F)

The Toledo Edison Company Ohio (F)

Pennsylvania

The Waverly Electric Light and Power Company

New York (F)

Warrenton River Terminal, Ltd. Ohio (F)

2. Ownership of Subsidiary Shares

- (a) The Toledo Edison Company owns a 90% interest in The Toledo Edison Capital Corporation, with The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company owning the remaining 10% interest.
- (b) The mortgage bond indentures of certain Subsidiaries of Parent may pledge those Subsidiaries' equity interest in its own subsidiaries to the lien of the mortgage.

3. Ownership of Other Stock and Parent Joint Ventures

- (a) Parent owns a 14.19% interest in First Communications, Inc. (11.86% fully diluted). Parent and First Communications, Inc., own 23.529% and 42.396% interests, respectively, in FS Holdco, LLC.
- (b) FirstEnergy Ventures Corp. owns a 50% interest in Engineered Processes Ltd.
- (c) FirstEnergy Ventures Corp. owns a 50% membership interest in each of Global Mining Group, LLC, Global Rail Group, LLC and Global Coal Sales Group, LLC. Global Mining Group, LLC, is the sole member of Signal Peak Energy, LLC.
- (d) Ohio Edison Company owns a 7.5% interest in Ohio Valley Electric Corporation ("OVEC"), a public utility organized in 1952. The Toledo Edison Company owns a 4.0% interest in OVEC. OVEC owns 100% of the stock in Indiana-Kentucky Electric Corporation.
- (e) Parent owns a 21.38% interest in Powerspan Corp. (17.96% fully diluted).
- (f) The Toledo Edison Capital Corporation owns a 6.55106% interest in Shipping Port Capital Trust as of October 13, 2008.
- (g) OES Ventures, Incorporated owns a 50% interest in PNBV Capital Trust.
- (h) See Section 4.18.

SECTION 4.2(b)

Capital Stock

Parent has obligations to issue or deliver shares of Parent Common Stock with respect to awards granted pursuant to the terms of the FirstEnergy Corp. Savings Plan, the FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, the FirstEnergy Corp. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, the FirstEnergy Corp. Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors or the FirstEnergy Corp. Stock Investment Plan.

SECTION 4.3(b)

Corporate Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Violation

Ohio and/or New Jersey authorities may elect to exercise their general supervisory authority over the utilities subject to their jurisdiction to review or consider the transaction and the terms thereof. If an order is issued requiring approval of the Transaction by the state utility commissions in either or both of Ohio or New Jersey, or if the Parties mutually agree to seek such approval, Section 4.3(b) will be deemed to include such approval, the term "Applicable PSCs" will be deemed to include such commissions, and the terms "Company Approvals" and "Parent Approvals" will be deemed to include such approvals.

SECTION 4.7(a)

Investigations; Litigation

- 1. The New Jersey Board of Public Utilities ("NJBPU") has announced its intent to begin the affiliate standards and management audit of Jersey Central Power & Light Company. This is expected to begin in April 2010.
- 2. Periodic audits by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC"), North American Electric Reliability Corporation, Reliability First Corporation, Public Utility Commission of Ohio ("PUCO"), Pennsylvania Public Utilities Commission ("PaPUC") and NJBPU, some of which are currently on-going relating to the recovery of costs, including but not limited to the audit for the BGS Rider for Jersey Central Power & Light Company.
- 3. See Section 4.12(b)(i).

SECTION 4.7(b)

Litigation Pending

- 1. The Ohio Utilities have requested approval of new Minimum Performance Standards, as all Ohio Utilities were required to do by the PUCO. The matter remains pending in Case 09-759-EL-ESS.
- The New Jersey Wage and Hour claims against Jersey Central Power & Light Company were brought by approximately 900 union members (all part of the 1300 in the "call out" case) claiming that Jersey Central Power & Light Company's 2002-2004 Call Out Policy violated state wage and hour law.
- 3. Mikulski et al. v. FirstEnergy Corp. (potential shareholder class action against The Toledo Edison Company, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company and Centerior Energy Corporation for the years 1986 to 1998).
- 4. Scion Energy Partners, LLC and Scion Capital Partners, LLC v. Signal Peak Energy, LLC, et al.
- 5. See Environmental Proceedings in Section 4.13(a)(i).

SECTION 4.10(a)

Tax Matters - Filings

Listing of Tax Returns Subject to Examination

Listing of tax returns Subject to Examination				
Company	Type of Tax	Years Not Yet Examined		
Metropolitan Edison Company	PA Gross Receipts	2004		
Pennsylvania Electric Company	PA Gross Receipts	2004		
FirstEnergy Service Company	OH Franchise	2001-2004		
The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company	OH Franchise	2001-2004		
Parent	OH Franchise	2001-2004		
Ohio Edison Company	OH Franchise	2001-2004		
The Toledo Edison Company	OH Franchise	2001-2004		

SECTION 4.10(b)

Tax Matters - Audits

Listing of Ongoing Audits Income Tax Audits

Company	Туре	Period	Jurisdiction
Parent and its	Income Taxes	2001-2003	Federal
Subsidiaries			
Parent and its	Income Taxes	2004-2005	Federal
Subsidiaries	_		
Parent and its	Income Taxes	2006	Federal
Subsidiaries	, m	2007	P 1 1
Parent and its	Income Taxes	2007	Federal
Subsidiaries	I T	2008	Dadamal
Parent and its	Income Taxes	2008	Federal
Subsidiaries	In a ann a /Errom albisa	2005	PA
Ohio Edison Company	Income/Franchise Franchise	2003	OH
Parent and its Subsidiaries	Franchise	2002-2003	ОП
Parent and its	Franchise	2004-2005	ОН
Subsidiaries	Manchise	2004-2003	OH
Pennsylvania Electric	Income	2005-2006	NY
Company	meome	2003-2000	111
Jersey Central Power	Corp. Business Tax	2007	NJ
& Light Company	corp. Buomess run	2007	
Jersey Central Power	Corp. Net	2007	PA
& Light Company	Income/Capital		_
	Stock/Franchise		

Listing of Proposed Audits General Tax Audits

Company	Туре	Period	Jurisdiction
Ohio Edison Company	kWH Excise	2006-2009	OH

SECTION 4.10(h)

Tax Matters - Extensions of Time Within Which to File Tax Returns

Section 4.10(h)(ii)

Waivers or Extensions of Statutes of Limitations

Return	Years	Extended To
Federal Income Tax ¹	2001 - 2006	Sept. 30, 2010
FirstEnergy Service Company	2003-2008	Dec. 31, 2010
Sales		
FirstEnergy Telecom Sales	2003-2008	Dec. 31, 2010
GPU Nuclear, Inc. Nuclear	2003-2008	Dec. 31, 2010
Sales		
Jersey Central Power & Light	2005-2008	Sept. 30, 2010
Company Motor Fuel		
Metropolitan Edison Company	2006	Dec. 31, 2010
Gross Receipts		D 21 2010
Metropolitan Edison Company	2003-2008	Dec. 31, 2010
· Sales	2006	Dec. 31, 2010
Pennsylvania Electric Company Gross Receipts	2000	Dec. 31, 2010
Pennsylvania Electric Company	2007	Dec. 31, 2010
Gross Receipts	2007	Dec. 31, 2010
Pennsylvania Electric Company	2003-2008	Dec. 31, 2010
Sales		
Metropolitan Edison Company	2006-2008	Sept. 30, 2010
Motor Fuel		•
Jersey Central Power & Light	2005-2008	Dec. 31, 2010
Company Sales		

NOTE¹: IRS Appeals Office has notified Parent that they will be requesting an extension of the statute to September 30, 2011 for tax years 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007.

Section 4.10(h)(iii)

Powers of Attorney Granted

Firm	Issue	Year_
Deloitte	§263A	2007
Winston & Strawn	§263A	2007
Squire Sanders & Dempsey	Purchase Power Agreements	2001-2006
Winston & Strawn	§263A	2001-2006
Deloitte	§263A	2001-2006
Thompson Hine LLP	R&D	1998-2006
Ernst & Young	Repairs - Generation .	2008
Ernst & Young	Repairs - T&D	2009

Section 4.10(h)(iv)

Proposed or Pending Rulings

Parent is currently in the process of filing requests for Private Letter Rulings from the Internal Revenue Service on the special transfer rules of §468A of the Code, which allows for pouring over a portion of non-qualifying decommissioning trust funds into qualified decommissioning trust funds for Beaver Valley Units 1 and 2, Davis-Besse, Perry and TMI-2. All requests will be filed by March 15, 2010.

Section 4.10(h)(v)

Closing Agreements with the Internal Revenue Service

Audit Cycle	Issue	
2001 - 2003	§263A	
2001 - 2003	Casualty Losses	
2008	Casualty Losses	
2008	Deferred Compensation	

Technical Advance Memoranda

Document	Issue
TAM 200902011 TAM 200811021	Utility Property Eligible for Casualty Loss Deduction §263A - Temporary Relocation of Electric Utility Lines

SECTION 4.10(i)

Tax Matters - Section 481 Adjustments

Requested Section 481 Adjustments

Year	Issue	Companies
		Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power Company,
		The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, The
2001	§263A	Toledo Edison Company
		Jersey Central Power & Light Company, Metropolitan
2002	§263A	Edison Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company
		FirstEnergy Generation Corp., FirstEnergy Nuclear
2008	Repairs	Generation Corp.
		Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power Company,
		The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, The
		Toledo Edison Company, American Transmission
		Systems, Incorporated, Jersey Central Power & Light
		Company, Metropolitan Edison Company,
2009	Repairs	Pennsylvania Electric Company

SECTION 4.11(a)

Employee Benefit Plans - Material Employee Benefit Plans, Arrangements, Policies and Agreements

- 1. Parent Benefit Plans are listed below, each as may be amended from time to time:
 - (a) FirstEnergy Corp. Welfare Plan "WRAP" document with component plans are as follows:
 - (i) FirstEnergy Health Care Plan
 - (ii) FirstEnergy Dental Plan
 - (iii) FirstEnergy Prescription Drug Plan
 - (iv) FirstEnergy Vision Plan
 - (v) FirstEnergy Long Term Care Plan
 - (vi) FirstEnergy Corp. Long Term Disability Plan
 - (vii) FirstEnergy Corp. Health Care Expense Reimbursement Plan
 - (viii) Jersey Central Power & Light Co. LTD Income Plan for International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers ("IBEW") System Council U-3
 - (ix) FirstEnergy Corp. Group Life Insurance Plan
 - (x) Business Travel-Accident Plan
 - (xi) FirstEnergy Corp. Employee Assistance Plan
 - (b) FirstEnergy Corp. HIPAA-Covered Welfare Plan
 - (c) FirstEnergy Corp. Dependent Care Assistance Plan
 - (d) FirstEnergy Corp. Transportation Plan
 - (e) FirstEnergy Corp. Flexible Benefits Plan
 - (f) FirstEnergy Corp. Severance Benefits Plan
 - (g) FirstEnergy Corp. Executive Severance Benefits Plan
 - (h) Voluntary Enhanced Retirement Option

- (i) GPU, Inc. Personal Accident Plan (Frozen Accidental Death & Dismemberment for GPU, Inc. retirees)
- (j) FirstEnergy Corp. Savings Plan
- (k) FirstEnergy Corp. Master Pension Plan
- (l) FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan
- (m) FirstEnergy Employee Incentive Compensation Plan
- (n) FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. Sales Compensation Plan
- (o) FirstEnergy Corp. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan
- (p) FirstEnergy Corp. Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors
- (q) FirstEnergy Corp. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
- (r) Adoption Assistance Program
- (s) Employee Education Assistance Plan
- (t) FirstEnergy Work/Life Assistance Plan
- (u) FirstEnergy Time Off Programs
- (v) Catastrophic Assistance and Relief for Employees Program
- (w) FirstEnergy Financial Planning Program
- (x) Workers' Compensation Coverage Under Self-Funded State Workers Compensation Systems
- (y) Grigg Employment Agreement
- (z) Leidich Employment Agreement
- (aa) Vespoli Special Severance Agreement
- (bb) Cavalier Special Severance Agreement
- (cc) Alexander Special Severance Agreement
- (dd) Reffner Special Severance Agreement
- (ee) Leidich Special Severance Agreement
- (ff) Clark Special Severance Agreement

- (gg) Grigg Special Severance Agreement
- (hh) FEFSG Retirement and 401(k) Savings Plan
- (ii) FEFSG 401(k) Savings Plan
- (ii) FirstEnergy Relocation Assistance Programs for current employees and new hires
- 2. Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association ("VEBA"), including:
 - (a) Ohio Edison Company Postretirement Health Benefits Trust for Management and Nonrepresented Employees (the "OE Nonrepresented VEBA")
 - (b) Ohio Edison Company Postretirement Health Benefits Trust for Represented Employees. (the "OE Represented VEBA")
 - (c) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Basic Life and Accident Insurance Plan for Bargaining Unit Retirees (the "GPU Bargaining Retiree Life VEBA")
 - (d) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Health Care Plan for Nonbargaining Retirees (the "GPU Nonbargaining Retiree Health Plan VEBA").
 - (e) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Basic Life and Accident Insurance Plan for Nonbargaining Retirees (the "GPU Nonbargaining Retiree Life VEBA"). NOTE: No favorable IRS letter in file.
 - (f) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Health Care Plan for Employees Represented by IBEW System Council U-3 (the "U-3 Employee Health Care VEBA").
 - (g) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Health Care Plan for Employees Represented by IBEW Local 777 (the "777 Employee Health Care VEBA").
 - (h) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Health Care Plan for Employees Represented by IBEW Local 459 and UWUA Local 180 (the "459/180 Employee Health Care VEBA").
 - (i) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Health Care Plan for Nonbargaining Employees (the "GPU Nonbargaining Employee Health Care VEBA").
 - (j) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Long Term Disability Income Plan for Employees Represented by IBEW System Council U-3 (the "U-3 LTD VEBA").
 - (k) Trust Agreement for GPU, Inc. Companies Long Term Disability Income Plan for Nonbargaining Employees (the "GPU Nonbargaining LTD VEBA").

- 3. Various Award Agreements, including, without limitation:
 - (a) Various Stock Option Agreements to executives and directors granted annually between 2000 and 2004 (all options fully vested)
 - (b) Various Restricted Stock Agreements granted annually between 2005 and 2009
 - (c) Performance-Adjusted Restricted Stock Unit Agreements:
 - (i) dated March 1, 2006
 - (ii) dated March 1, 2007
 - (iii) dated March 3, 2008
 - (iv) dated March 2, 2009
 - (d) Discretionary Restricted Stock Unit Agreements:
 - (i) dated March 1, 2005
 - (ii) dated March 1, 2006
 - (iii) dated March 1, 2007
 - (iv) dated March 3, 2008
 - (e) Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (per Leidich employment agreement) dated February 27, 2008
 - (f) Restricted Stock Agreement Amendment (per Leidich employment agreement) dated February 26, 2008
 - (g) Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (per Grigg employment agreement) dated February 27, 2008
 - (h) Performance Share Award Agreement for period January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2011
 - (i) Performance Share Award Agreement for period January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2010
- 4. Deferred Remuneration Plan for Outside Directors of GPU, Inc.
- 5. Retirement Plan for Outside Directors of GPU, Inc.

SECTION 4.11(d)

Employee Benefit Plans - Severance

The change in control provisions described in this Schedule may be implicated by the Merger.

- 1. The following executives have Special Severance Agreements (or "change in control agreements"):
 - (a) Anthony Alexander
 - (b) Lynn Cavalier
 - (c) Mark Clark
 - (d) Richard Grigg
 - (e) Gary Leidich
 - (f) Leila Vespoli
 - (g) Robert Reffner

Under such change in control agreements, eligible participants will have enhanced separation benefits in connection with eligible terminations within the two-year period following a change in control (including, in certain instances and without limitation, enhanced severance, 280G gross up, years of service credit, pro rata bonus entitlements, and Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan vesting, etc.). In general, severance benefits that may be payable absent a change in control are provided under the FirstEnergy Executive Severance Benefits Plan except with respect to Messrs. Grigg and Leidich, who are not participants in the FirstEnergy Executive Severance Benefits Plan per their outstanding employment agreements.

- 2. Upon a change in control, the matching contributions under the Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors vest, and: (i) with respect to 409A-grandfathered amounts, all balances in Investment Funds other than Deferred Stock Fund are paid in cash and the Deferred Stock Fund is distributed in stock, and (ii) with respect to 409A non-grandfathered amounts, a change in control that is a "409A change in control" will result in Investment Funds being paid out within 90 days following such change in control.
- 3. Upon a change in control, participants in the Deferred Remuneration Plan for Outside Directors of GPU, Inc. or the Retirement Plan for Outside Directors may alter the time of payment following a change in control.
- 4. Under the FirstEnergy Corp. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, unvested amounts will vest upon a change in control although later paid in accordance with the plan document.

- 5. Upon a change in control, all awards outstanding, including certain awards under the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan, shall vest dependent on service, in connection with a termination, or as determined by the Compensation Committee, as set forth in the applicable award agreements.
- 6. Under the FirstEnergy Corp. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, forfeiture restrictions lapse upon a change in control in the event there is a separation from service within 24 months following a change in control.

SECTION 4.11(f)

Employee Benefit Plans - Excess Parachute Payments

See Section 4.11(d).

SECTION 4.11(g)

Employee Benefit Plans – Post-Termination Benefits

- 1. The FirstEnergy Health Care Plan (including Medicare secondary benefits) allows retirees up to three years of subsidized participation in the Health Care Plan after which the retiree bears full cost. In addition, various Collective Bargaining Agreements ("CBA") provide health care coverage for employees who retire during the term of the CBA, for the term of the CBA only. Thereafter these retirees are permitted access to the FirstEnergy Health Care Plan, with up to three years of subsidized participation. The following retiree groups have commitments under the FirstEnergy Health Care Plan for specific level of benefit and/or level of subsidy:
 - (a) Long-Term Disability retirees from GPU, Inc.;
 - (b) Certain pre-1999 retirees from Toledo Edison Company, Centerior Energy Corporation and Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company;
 - (c) Pre-2005 former bargaining unit retirees from Metropolitan Edison Company and Pennsylvania Electric Company; and
 - (d) Jersey Central Power & Light Company Retirees.
- 2. FirstEnergy Prescription Drug Plan
- 3. FirstEnergy Vision Plan
- 4. FirstEnergy Dental Plan
- 5. The FirstEnergy Corp. Group Life Insurance Plan

SECTION 4.12(a)(i)

Employment and Labor Matters - Collective Bargaining Agreements

- 1. CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp., FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company and IBEW Local 1413 (guards), expires 9/9/2010
- CBA between Jersey Central Power & Light Company and IBEW SCU3, expires 10/31/2010
- 3. CBA between Metropolitan Edison Company and IBEW Local 777, expires 4/30/2011
- 4. CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp. and IBEW Local 459 (Seneca Plant), expires 5/15/2011
- 5. CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp. and the Utility Workers Union of America ("UWUA") Local 457 (Sammis), expires 8/01/2011
- 6. CBA between FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company and IBEW Local 29 (BVPS), expires 10/01/2011
- 7. CBA between Pennsylvania Electric Company and IBEW Local 459, expires 5/14/2012
- 8. CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp. and UWUA Locals 350/351 (Burger / W. Lorain), expires 6/30/2012
- 9. CBA between Pennsylvania Power Company and UWUA Local 140, expires 6/30/2012
- CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp., FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company and IBEW Local 245, expires 11/01/2012
- 11. CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp. and IBEW Local 272 (Mansfield), expires 2/15/2013
- 12. CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp. / FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company and the Office and Professional Employees International Union Local 19 (clerks), expires 2/28/2013
- 13. CBA between Pennsylvania Electric Company and UWUA Local 180, expires 8/31/2013
- 14. CBA between Ohio Edison Company and IBEW Local 1194, expires 9/03/2013
- 15. CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp., The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company and UWUA Local 270, expires 4/30/2014
- 16. CBA between Ohio Edison Company and UWUA Locals 118/126, expires 6/30/2015
- 17. CBA between FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company and UWUA Local 270 (Perry Techs), expires 11/16/2015

SECTION 4.12(a)(iii)

Employment and Labor Matters - Union Organizing or Petitions filed in Last Three Years

- 1. In 2008, UWUA Local 180 filed a unit clarification petition to add approximately 20 salaried Circuit Reliability Coordinators into Local 180.
- 2. In 2007, IBEW Local 29 filed a petition to organize technicians and specialists at FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company's BVPS.
- 3. In 2007 UWUA Local 270 filed a petition to organize Technicians at FirstEnergy Nuclear Operating Company Perry Station.
- 4. In 2007, IBEW Local 1194 filed a petition to organize certain meter readers at Ohio Edison Company.
- 5. On January 25, 2010, FirstEnergy Generation Corp. and IBEW Local 245 signed an agreement that allows, upon the completion of construction, any transferred or newly hired non-management employees at the Fremont Energy Center to accrete into the existing bargaining unit, subject to the CBA between FirstEnergy Generation Corp. and IBEW Local 245, expiring 11/01/2012, in exchange for certain contract modifications.

SECTION 4.12(a)(iv)

Employment and Labor Matters – Strikes, Picketing, Lockouts, Boycotts in Past Three Years

- 1. From May 22, 2009 until July 18, 2009, IBEW Local 459 represented employees at Pennsylvania Electric Company that went on strike.
- 2. From approximately February 2008 until November 2009, IBEW Local 272 represented employees who worked without a CBA and threatened to strike but did not.

SECTION 4.12(b)(i)

Employment and Labor Matters - Compliance with All Applicable State and Federal Laws

The New Jersey Wage and Hour claims against Jersey Central Power & Light Company were brought by approximately 900 union members (all part of the 1300 in the "call out" case) claiming that Jersey Central Power & Light Company's 2002-2004 Call Out Policy violated state wage and hour law.

SECTION 4.12(c)(i)

Employment and Labor Matters – Threat to, or Initiation of Lawsuits etc. by Government See Sections 4.7(a) and 4.12(b)(i).

SECTION 4.12(c)(ii)

Employment and Labor Matters – Threat to, or Issue of any Citations by Government See Section 4.12(b)(i).

SECTION 4.13

Environmental Laws and Regulations

Section 4.13(a)(i)

Environmental Proceedings

- 1. New York State Electric & Gas Corporation ("NYSEG") v. FirstEnergy Corp., Civil Action No. 3:03CV0438FJSDEP (U.S.D.C., Northern District of New York): On April 2003, NYSEG filed a contribution claim against FirstEnergy pursuant to Section 113(f) of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA") and New York's navigation law to recover remedial costs incurred in cleaning up twenty-three (23) former Manufactured Gas Plant ("MGP") sites (the "NYSEG Litigation").
- Ottawa River Natural Resource Damage Assessment and Proposed Great Lakes Legacy Act Dredging Project: On August 22, 2005, the United States Department of the Interior ("DOI") provided notice to FirstEnergy Corp. and Toledo Edison Company and numerous other organizations received notice of and invitation to participate in the DOI assessment of injuries to natural resources resulting from releases of hazardous substances into the Ottawa River and the Maumee Bay. By letter dated January 8, 2008, the Ohio EPA confirmed that it intends to take a leadership role in a public/private effort to remediate the Ottawa River, identifying the Great Lakes Legacy Act as the primary source of funding and with private entities, such as Toledo Edison and other PRPs, providing any required matching funds or covering shortfalls. Toledo Edison Company entered into a Tolling Agreement with the DOI and the State of Ohio which tolls the running of any limitation period for their filing of natural resource damage claims while the parties negotiate a potential settlement.
- 3. Breslube-Penn Performing Trust v. Buck's Oil Company, Inc., Civil Action No. 97-1863 (U.S.D.C., Western District of PA): On February 1, 2010, the Breslube-Penn Performing Trust, a trust formed by certain PRPs remediating the Breslube-Penn Superfund site in Moon Township, Alleghany County, Pennsylvania, filed a CERCLA cost recovery action against Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power Company and Pennsylvania Electric Company.

Section 4.13(a)(iv)

The following facilities are excepted from the representations and warranties in Section 4.13(a)(iv) only to the extent that there may have been a release of Hazardous Materials as a result of the handling, storage or disposal of coal combustion byproducts at those facilities.

- 1. Ashtabula Power Plant, Ashtabula, Ohio
- 2. Bay Shore Power Plant, Oregon, Ohio (including confined disposal facility and former impoundment)

- 3. Burger Power Plant, Belmont County, Ohio
- 4. Eastlake Power Plant, Eastlake, Ohio
- 5. Lake Shore Power Plant, Cleveland, Ohio
- 6. Mansfield Power Plant, Shippingport, Pennsylvania (including Little Blue Run impoundment)
- 7. Sammis Power Plant, Jefferson County, Ohio (including Hollow Rock impoundment)
- 8. Avon Power Plant, Avon, Ohio (divested)
- 9. New Castle Power Plant, New Castle, PA (divested)
- 10. Niles Power Plant, Niles, Ohio (divested)
- 11. Conemaugh Station, New Florence, PA (divested)
- 12. Gilbert Station, Holland Twp, NJ (divested)
- 13. Keystone Station, Shelocta, PA (divested)
- 14. Homer City Station, Homer City, PA (divested)
- 15. Portland Station, Portland/Upper Mt Bethel, PA (divested)
- 16. Sayreville Station, Sayreville, NJ (divested)
- 17. Seward Station, East Wheatfield Twp, PA (divested)
- 18. Shawville Station, Shawville, PA (divested)
- 19. Titus Station, Reading, PA (divested)
- 20. Warren Station, Warren, PA (divested)
- 21. Werner Station, South Amboy, NJ (divested)
- 22. Beaver Valley Nuclear Power Station, Shippingport, PA
- 23. Perry Nuclear Power Station, Perry, OH
- 24. Davis Besse Nuclear Power Station, Oak Harbor, OH
- 25. Three Mile Island Nuclear Power Station (Unit 1), Middletown, PA (divested)
- 26. Oyster Creek Nuclear Power Station, Fort River, NJ (divested)
- 27. Acme Power Plant, Toledo, Ohio (divested)

- 28. Edgewater Power Plant, Lorain, Ohio
- 29. Gorge Power Plant, Akron, Ohio (including impoundments at Patterson Road Sports Complex)
- 30. Mad River Power Plant, Springfield, Ohio
- 31. Rockaway Power Plant, Springfield, Ohio
- 32. Shippingport Nuclear Power Station, Shippingport, Pennsylvania
- 33. Toronto Power Plant, Toronto, Ohio
- 34. Crawford Station, Middletown, PA (divested)
- 35. Eyler Station, Reading, PA (divested)
- 36. Front Street Station, Erie, PA (divested)
- 37. Williamsburg Station, Williamsburg, PA
- 38. Saxton Nuclear Station, Liberty Twp, Bedford, PA
- 39. Three Mile Island Nuclear Power Station (Unit 2), Middletown, PA
- 40. Mahoningside Power Plant, Warren, Ohio (divested)

The following facilities are excepted from the representations and warranties in Section 4.13(a)(iv) only to the extent that there may have been a release of Hazardous Materials as a result of MGP operations at those facilities.

- 1. Asbury Park, NJ
- 2. Belmar, NJ
- 3. Boonton, NJ
- 4. Cape May, NJ
- 5. Dover, NJ
- 6. Flemington, NJ
- 7. Lakewood, NJ
- 8. Lambertville, NJ
- 9. Newton I, NJ

- 10. Newton II, NJ
- 11. Ocean City, NJ
- 12. Phillipsburg, NJ
- 13. Red Bank, NJ
- 14. Sea Isle City, NJ
- 15. Tuckerton, NJ
- 16. Washington, NJ
- · 17. Wildwood, NJ
 - 18. Easton, PA
 - 19. Alliance, OH
 - 20. Defiance, OH
 - 21. Nazareth, PA
 - 22. Toledo I, OH
 - 23. Toledo II, OH
 - 24. Toledo III, OH
 - 25. Sandusky, OH
 - 26. Elizabethtown, PA
- · 27. Mansfield, OH
 - 28. Easton, PA (South MGP Holder)
 - 29. Easton, PA (West MGP Holder)
 - 30. Marietta, PA
 - 31. Avalon, NJ
 - 32. Washington, NJ (MGP Holder)
 - 33. Seaside Park, NJ
 - 34. Point Pleasant Beach, NJ

- 35. Allenhurst, NJ
- 36. Shrewsbury, NJ
- 37. St. Alban's "In" the Sea, NJ
- 38. Coshocton, Ohio
- 39. Long Branch, NJ
- 40. Toms River, NJ

The following facilities are excepted from the representations and warranties in Section 4.13(a)(iv) only to the extent that there may have been a release of Hazardous Materials at those facilities.

The Gorge Dam and the Cuyahoga River sediments upstream of the Gorge Dam.

SECTION 4.15

Insurance

See attached chart.

FIRSTENERGY CORP. MAJOR INSURANCE COVERAGES IN EFFECT AS OF JANUARY 1, 2010

KIND OF INSURANCE	INSURANCE COMPANY(IES)	POLICY LIMITS	DEDUCTIBLE	TERM & EXPIRATION	POLICY NUMBER	RATED PREMIUM
EXCESS GENERAL				<u> </u>		_
LIABILITY	AEGIS EIM	\$35,000,000 100,000,000	\$10,000,000	1 YR. / 07-01-10 1 YR. / 07-01-10	XO 137 A1A09 251223-09GL	\$1,801,766 1,207,500
	ACE	115,000,000		1 YR. / 07-01-10	FE-1433/AE02	700,000
	ARCH	\$0,000,000 \$300,000,000		1 YR. / 07-01-10	UFC0034299-00	<u>187,500</u> \$3,896,766
EXCESS WORKERS' COMPENSATION	AEGIS	\$35,000,000	\$5,000,000	1 YR. / 07-01-10	CO 137 A1A09	\$311,670
DIRECTORS AND						
OFFICERS LIABILITY	AEGIS	\$35,000,000	\$5,000,000	I YR. / 09-01-10	D0137A1A09	\$1,650,000
	EIM	50,000,000		I YR. / 09-01-10	291265-09DO	1,755,000
	ARCH	15,000,000		1 YR. / 09-01-10	DOX0034993-00	260,000
	CHARTIS	25,000,000		I YR. / 09-01-10	01-139-25-08	238,360
	XL	25,000,000		I YR. / 09-01-10	ELU113049-09	195,000
	CHUBB	15,000,000		i YR. / 09-01-10	6801-2342	105,000
	HARTFORD	10,000,000		1 YR. / 09-01-10	00 DA 0222399 09	65,000
		175,000,000				4,268,360
FIDUCIARY			******			
LIABILITY	CHUBB	\$15,000,000	\$5,000,000	1 YR. / 09-01-10	8159-0329	\$235,000
	AIG	15,000,000		1 YR. / 09-01-10	01-118-78-78	168,750
	AEGIS	15,000,000		1 YR. / 09-01-10	F0137A1A09	127,968
	EIM	15,000,000		1 YR. / 09-01-10	271270-09FL	89,579
	XL	15,000,000 \$75,000,000		1 YR. / 09-01-10	ELU112957-09	<u>87,750</u> \$709,047
AIRCRAFT INSURANCE	CLORAL					
LIABILITY	GLOBAL AEROSPACE	\$300,000,000	Nil	3 YR. / 06-29-12	13000553	\$99,465
HULL		STATED VALUE	Nil			103,580
CONSOLIDATED PROPERTY	LIBERTY					\$203,045
BLANKET POLICY - ALL LOCATIONS EXCESS COVERAGE	MUTUAL, EIM, ET. AL.	\$500,000,000	\$10,000,000	1YR. / 10-01-10	VARIOUS	\$3,132,766
FOR DBM UNIT #1 ONLY .	AEGIS, MUNICH RE	\$200,000,000 \$700,000,000		IYR. / 10-01-10	VARIOUS	100,000 \$3,232,766

FIRSTENERGY CORP. MAJOR INSURANCE COVERAGES IN EFFECT AS OF JANUARY 1, 2010

KIND OF INSURANCE	INSURANCE COMPANY(IES)		POLICY LIMITS	DEDUCTIBLE	TERM & EXPIRATION	POLICY NUMBER	RATED PREMIUM
11001011101							
BOILER AND MACHINERY	FM GLOBAL		\$200,000,000	\$5,000,000	1YR. / 04-01-10	FC123	\$1,237,700
CRIME & SECURITIES FORGERY	FIDELITY & DEPOSIT		\$25,000,000	\$500,000	1 YR. / 04-01-10	CCS0000006511	\$155,368
	СНИВВ		<u>25,000,000</u> \$50,000,000		1 YR. / 04-01-10	8208-1521	<u>62,786</u> \$218,154
NUCLEAR EXTRA		WEEK				BEAVER VAL	LEY UNIT #I
EXPENSE	NEIL I	LIMIT AGGR LIMIT	\$1,000,000 \$140,000,000	26 WEEKS	1YR. / 04-01-10	E09-014	\$69,652
NUCLEAR PROPERTY	NEIL		\$500,000,000	\$5,000,000	1YR. / 04-01-10	P09-071	\$449,207
•	NEIL II		2,250,000,000 \$2,750,000,000		1YR. / 04-01-10	X09-014	\$1,120,405
NUCLEAR LIABILITY	ANI		\$375,000,000 RETRO	\$ 0	1 YR . / 01-01-11	NF-226	\$736,793
	ANI		RATING		1YR. / 01-01-11	N-58	<u>9,492</u> \$746,285
MASTER WORKER	ANI		\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NW-603 TOTAL BV #1	\$52,299 \$1,988,641
NUCLEAR EXTRA EXPENSE	NEIL I	WEEK LIMIT AGGR	\$1,000,000	26 WEEKS	1YR. / 04-01-10	BEAVER VAL E09-014	\$71,194
		LIMIT	\$140,000,000				
NUCLEAR PROPERTY	NEIL		\$500,000,000	\$5,000,000	1YR. / 04-01-10	P09-071	\$449,207
	NEIL II		2,250,000,000 \$2,750,000,000		1YR. / 04-01-10	X09-014	671,198 \$1,120,405
NUCLEAR LIABILITY	ANI		\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NF-226	\$736,793
	ANI		RETRO RATING		1YR. / 01-01-11	N-110	<u>9,492</u> \$746,285
MASTER WORKER	ANI		\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NW-603	\$52,299

FIRSTENERGY CORP. MAJOR INSURANCE COVERAGES IN EFFECT AS OF JANUARY 1, 2010

KIND OF INSURANCE	INSURANCE COMPANY(IES)		POLICY LIMITS	DEDUCTIBLE	TERM & EXPIRATION	POLICY NUMBER	RATED PREMIUM
						TOTAL BV #2	\$1,990,183
NUCLEAR EVER		WEEK				PEF	RRY UNIT #1
NUCLEAR EXTRA EXPENSE	NEIL I	WEEK LIMIT AGGR	\$1,000,000	26 WEEKS	1YR. / 04-01-10	E09-065	\$96,162
		LIMIT	\$140,000,000				
NUCLEAR PROPERTY	NEIL		\$500,000,000	\$5,000,000	1YR. / 04-01-10	P09-067	\$746,318
	NEIL II		2,250,000,000 \$2,750,000,000		1YR. / 04-01-10	X09-065	1,817,827 \$2,564,145
NII CLEAN			,,,			ı	-,,
NUCLEAR LIABILITY	ANI		\$375,000,000 RETRO	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NF-291	\$1,025,801
	ANI		RATING		1YR. / 01-01-11	N-102	9,492 \$1,035,293
MASTER WORKER	ANI		\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NW-644	653 300
	ANI		\$373,000,000	30	1 f K. / UI-UI-II	N W -044	\$52,299
SUPPLIERS & TRANSPORTERS (All FE Nuclear	ANI		\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NS-465 TOTAL PERRY	<u>\$81,614</u>
Shipments)						#1	\$3,829,513
						_	
NUCLEAR EXTRA	NEW I	WEEK	#1 000 000	A/ 117771//	1777 / 04 04 10	_	AVIS-BESSE
EXPENSE	NEIL I	LIMIT AGGR LIMIT	\$1,000,000 \$140,000,000	26 WEEKS	1YR. / 04-01-10	E09-035	\$79, 111
NUCLEAR							
PROPERTY	NEIL		\$500,000,000	\$5,000,000	IYR. / 04-01-10	P09-059	\$465,212
	NEIL II		800,000,000		1YR. / 04-01-10	X09-035	510,155
			\$1,300,000,000				\$975,367
NUCLEAR LIABILITY	ANI		\$375,000,000	\$ 0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NF-236	\$762,199
LIABILIT	ANI		RETRO RATING	4 0	1YR. / 01-01-11	N-61	9,492
	71		KATEVO		718.701-01-11	14-01	\$771,691
MASTER WORKER	ANI		\$375,000,000	\$0	1 YR . / 01-01-11	NW-608	\$52,299
						TOTAL DAVIS- BESSE	<u>\$1,878,468</u>

THREE MILE

FIRSTENERGY CORP. MAJOR INSURANCE COVERAGES IN EFFECT AS OF JANUARY 1, 2010

KIND OF	INSURANCE	POLICY		TERM &	POLICY	RATED
INSURANCE	COMPANY(IES)	LIMITS	DEDUCTIBLE	EXPIRATION	NUMBER	<u>PREMIUM</u>
ISLAND NO. 2						
NUCLEAR PROPERTY	NEIL	\$150,000,000	\$5,000,000	1YR. / 04-01-10	P09-041	\$71,853
MASTER WORKER	ANI	\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NW-599	\$33,985
NUCLEAR LIABILITY (Shared policy with Amergen)	ANI	\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR./01-01-11	NF-220 TOTAL TMI #2	\$75,000 \$180,838
SAXTON EXPERIMENTAL FACILITY						
MASTER WORKER	ANI	\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NW-532	\$1,249
NUCLEAR LIABILITY	ANI	\$375,000,000	\$0	1YR. / 01-01-11	NF-107 TOTAL SAXTON	\$27,893 \$29,142

Trading

3.2.2.2.3 of the 2009 Treasury Interest Rate Risk Management Policy sets guidelines for the percentage of floating rate debt. The guideline is 20-30% floating to fixed rate debt. Currently Parent is not within the guideline. As of December 31, 2009, the percentage of floating rate debt for Parent was 18%.

Lack of Ownership of Company Common Stock

	Direct Holdings - NDT Equity		Pension Indirect Holdings - Equity		Total	Total			
	Shares	MV	Shares	MV	Shares	MV	Pension	Shares	MV
Allegheny	1,061	43,500	30,200	634,502	NA	97,416	731,918	31,261	775,418

Regulatory Proceedings

- 1. Parent has filed for recovery through retail rates for 50% of the cost of implementing the Smart Grid Investment Grant for which Parent was selected for award negotiations by the Department of Energy ("DOE"). If successfully negotiated with the DOE, and if retail rate recovery is available, Parent will recover 50% of the costs from the DOE grant, and 50% through retail rates.
- 2. Pennsylvania Power Company filed a default service case on February 8, 2010 with the PaPUC for the procurement of generation supply for default service effective January 1, 2011.

Intellectual Property

- 1. Jersey Central Power & Light Company and certain other Electric Distribution Companies ("EDCs") have participated in annual auctions for the procurement of supply to meet basic generation service load every February since 2002. The auction and results were discussed and approved by the NJBPU in a proposal filed jointly by the EDCs. A company called Geophonic claims that the auction process violated its patent. Jersey Central Power & Light Company has obtained a non-infringement opinion from joint outside counsel (Baker & Botts). Geophonic has proposed a license agreement, which we rejected, which would retroactively cover the auction as well as future auctions for basic generation service in New Jersey. The fee for the license would be 0.50% (50 base points) of the total value of aggregate electric energy usage based on rates established by the auction(s). The impact of this fee on the rates achieved in the previous auction would be approximately \$0.0003 per kilowatt. No complaint has been filed against Jersey Central Power & Light Company or the other utilities.
- 2. In addition, the EDCs have been put on notice regarding a pending patent application by Lawrence M. Ausubel. Further, the EDCs have also been put on notice by counsel for Efficient Auctions LLC, also owned by Mr. Ausubel, regarding a patent pending application. On August 5, 2008, a patent was issued to the EDCs for the following:

 Method and System for Computer-Based Auctioning of Basic Generation Service. As a result of the announcement by Metropolitan Edison Company and Pennsylvania Electric Company that a Fixed and Hourly Auction would be held January 19, 2010, legal counsel for Efficient Auctions, has again placed the EDCs on notice regarding the need for a license.

The same or similar types of claims could be asserted relating to the auction processes conducted in Ohio and Pennsylvania.

Material Contracts

Section 4.25(i)

For the purposes of Section 4.25(i) of the Agreement, any "material contracts" as such term is defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC, filed by any of the following Subsidiaries in their SEC Documents prior to the date hereof (including exhibits) shall be included:

- 1. FirstEnergy Solutions Corp.
- 2. Ohio Edison Company
- 3. Pennsylvania Power Company
- 4. The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company
- 5. The Toledo Edison Company
- 6. Jersey Central Power & Light Company
- 7. Metropolitan Edison Company
- 8. Pennsylvania Electric Company

Section 4.25(iii)

- 1. Limitations on Payment of Dividends
 - (a) Mortgage and Deed of Trust, dated January 1, 1942, of Pennsylvania Electric Company to Bankers Trust Company, as amended and supplemented, limits payment of dividends by Pennsylvania Electric Company to the amount of earned surplus
 - (b) Indenture, dated November 1, 1944, of Metropolitan Edison Company to Guaranty Trust Company of New York, as amended and supplemented, limits payment of dividends by Pennsylvania Electric Company to the amount of earned surplus
 - (c) Indenture, dated November 1, 1944, of Pennsylvania Power Company to The First National Bank of the City of New York, as amended and supplemented, limits payment of dividends by Pennsylvania Electric Company to the amount of earned surplus

Section 4.25(iv)

A number of agreements governing outstanding indebtedness of Parent and its Subsidiaries provide for remedies upon an event of default with respect to the collateral underlying such indebtedness, which remedies may include operation or management of such assets by a third party.

ARTICLE V

Covenants and Agreements

SECTION 5.2(a)

Conduct of Business by Parent

Regulatory

The following shall be deemed to be ordinary course (but such list shall not be deemed to be an exhaustive list of items that are ordinary course), and the litigation, proceeding, negotiation, agreement, settlement or resolution of any of the following shall not be restricted by the terms of any other section of 5.2(b).

- 1. Any regulatory activity disclosed in the Parent SEC Documents filed prior to the date hereof (including exhibits) and the draft Form 10-K (dated February 5, 2010) of Parent for the year ended December 31, 2009, a copy of which has been previously furnished to the Company.
- 2. Resolution of the pending Market Rate Offer proceeding, Case No. 09-906-EL-SSO, whether through final Order by the PUCO (and any resulting appeals) or through settlement, including any Electric Security Plan that may result, and all the terms encompassed therein.
- 3. Depending upon the expiration date of the standard service offer plan that becomes effective on or about June 1, 2011, Parent may file and subsequently resolve the successor standard service offer plan.
- 4. In Ohio, Parent will continue to pursue, and may take action related to, the minimum reliability standards which were filed by the Ohio Utilities in Case No. 09-759-EL SSO.
- 5. In Ohio, Parent may need to participate in proceedings and take any action related to the promulgation and implementation of any rules that are proposed or implemented related to the significantly excessive earnings test.
- 6. Parent may file additional energy efficiency, peak demand reduction and/or alternative energy filings in Ohio, Pennsylvania or New Jersey in order to comply with SB 221 in Ohio, Act 129 in Pennsylvania or the Energy Master Plan in New Jersey, and any other applicable, law, rules and regulations related thereto.
- 7. Parent may file or otherwise pursue recovery of any costs related to complying with energy efficiency, peak demand reduction and/or alternative energy requirements in Ohio, Pennsylvania or New Jersey.
- 8. Parent may file or otherwise pursue the implementation of Smart Grid technology, including Advanced Meter infrastructure or Smart Meters, as may be required by the law and regulations in the states in which we operate or as may be reasonable in Parent's business judgment. This would include, but is not limited to, the deployment plan for smart meters which is expected to be filed in Pennsylvania in 2012 pursuant to Act 129 and Parent's pending smart meter plan.

- 9. Negotiation and implementation of the Smart Grid Investment Grant for which Parent was selected by the DOE.
- 10. Pennsylvania Power Company filed a default service case on February 8, 2010, and it expects resolution of that case, including recovery for all transmission or RTO-related costs, and any other terms and conditions that may result, by the end of 2010.
- 11. Parent expects to pursue/support the expansion and implementation of governmental aggregation in Pennsylvania, which may result in legislative, regulatory, or other legal proceedings and the execution of material contracts with governmental entities in Pennsylvania.
- 12. Parent may develop, file and implement a plan for any rate mitigation measures to become effective upon the expiration of rate caps for Metropolitan Edison Company and Pennsylvania Electric Company in Pennsylvania.
- 13. It is possible that a base rate case may be initiated for Jersey Central Power & Light Company.
- 14. In New Jersey, Parent intends to file for adjustments to our Societal Benefits Charges and to its Remediation Adjustment Charge and to make its annual filing for its Non-Utility Generation Charge.
- 15. Parent will seek recovery of any and all charges related to its participation in an RTO, including its realignment into PJM, including but not limited to RTEP, MTEP, MISO exit fees, and PJM integration costs, in all appropriate forums.
- 16. RTO Realignment: Resolution of Parent's integration of its American Transmission Systems, Incorporated footprint into the PJM regional transmission organization, including without limitation, renegotiation of transmission agreements, negotiation and filing of exit agreements with MISO, and all necessary rate and other filings with FERC and applicable state regulatory authorities.

SECTION 5.2(b)(ii)

Dividends and Distributions

There are no scheduled dividend dates between Parent and its Subsidiaries, but instead dividends are declared and paid from time to time. Note that the timing of such declarations and payments may be accelerated for one or more of the Subsidiaries that have in the past declared and paid on a quarterly basis, although annual amounts are expected to be consistent with past practice.

SECTION 5.2(b)(v)

Redemption, Repurchase of Debt etc.

- 1. Prepayments in the ordinary course of advances under any revolving credit facility of Parent or any wholly-owned Subsidiary.
- 2. Possible repurchase of sale/leaseback equity interests and cancellation and/or acquisition of the related indebtedness.
- 3. Redemptions, mandatory purchases or repurchases or acquisitions of pollution control or similar notes of Subsidiaries of Parent or the related pollution control or similar bonds from time to time in connection with refundings, remarketings, conversions of interest rate modes, extensions, replacements or terminations of existing credit or liquidity support arrangements or restructuring of such indebtedness consistent with past practice.

SECTION 5.2(b)(vi)

Acquisitions

Parent may purchase the remainder of the Signal Peak equity.

SECTION 5.2(b)(vii)

Asset Dispositions

- 1. Future sales of Parent's interest in OVEC, including the disposition by Ohio Edison Company and The Toledo Edison Company of all or a portion(s) of their interests in Ohio Valley Electric Corporation; and assignment of the Amended and Restated Inter-Company Power Agreement and Modification No. 1 by FirstEnergy Generation Corp.
- 2. Disposition by FirstEnergy Generation Corp. of all or a portion(s) of its interest in the Fremont Generating Station
- 3. Disposition by FirstEnergy Generation Corp. of all or a portion(s) of its interest in the Sumpter Generating Station
- 4. Disposition by Jersey Central Power & Light Company of all or a portion(s) of its interest in the Forked River Generating Station
- 5. Disposition by Jersey Central Power & Light Company of all or a portion(s) of its interest in the Yards Creek Generating Station
- 6. Disposition of all or a portion(s) of Parent's indirect interest in the Signal Peak Mine; through disposition by FirstEnergy Ventures Corp. of its interests in Global Mining Group, LLC, and/or Global Rail Group, LLC; disposition by Global Mining Group, LLC, Global Rail Group, LLC, and/or Signal Peak Energy, LLC, of their respective assets or interests, or otherwise
- 7. Disposition by Parent of all or a portion(s) of its interest in Powerspan Corp.
- 8. Disposition of the customers, transmission and distribution system within the Easton-Stroudsburg area of Metropolitan Edison Company's service territory
- 9. Disposition of the customers, transmission and distribution system within the Towanda and Waverly areas of Pennsylvania Electric Company's service territory
- 10. Renegotiation or disposition of Amended and Restated Supply Agreement, dated March 1, 1998, between BP Exploration & Oil, Inc., and Bay Shore Power Company
- 11. Disposition of emission allowances, renewable energy credits, and similar environmental attributes not needed for the current and anticipated future operation of generating facilities
- 12. Disposition of fuel supplies not needed for the current and anticipated future operation of generating facilities
- 13. Disposition of the assets of Norton Energy Storage LLC pursuant to transaction agreements

SECTION 5.2(b)(viii)

Executive Compensation

Section 5.2(b)(viii)(A)

Parent will increase compensation or other benefits payable consistent with existing compensation governance guidelines or compensation programs and in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

Section 5.2(b)(viii)(B)

- 1. The Special Severance Agreements listed in Sections 4.11(a) and 4.11(d) are reviewed and subject to renewal annually by the Compensation Committee of Parent's Board of Directors.
- 2. Parent may enter into employment agreements with the Chief Executive Officer, any member of the Executive Council or any Nuclear Officer on terms approved by Parent's Compensation Committee, provided that such agreements do not contain change in control provisions that would be triggered by the Transactions.

Section 5.2(b)(viii)(C)

Except as required by the terms of existing plan (such as EDCP or DDCP), change in control agreement, compensation program or customary compensation practices.

Section 5.2(b)(viii)(D)

Except as may be called for as these CBAs expire or for business necessity, or as may result from or be related to the settlement of litigation or claims that derived from alleged violations of CBAs.

SECTION 5.2(b)(ix)

Issuance, Sale etc. of Stock and Options etc.

Section 5.2(b)(ix)(A)

Except for issuances of stock pursuant to the FirstEnergy Corp. Stock Investment Plan.

Section 5.2(b)(ix)(C)

Except for existing change in control agreements, compensation programs or deferred compensation programs as scheduled in Sections 4.11(d)(1) and 4.11(d)(2).

SECTION 5.2(b)(x)

Redemption, Acquisition etc. of Stock

Purchase of shares of Parent Common Stock on the open market as required to meet obligations under the following employee benefits plans (listed in Section 4.11(a)):

- 1. the FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan
- 2. the FirstEnergy Corp. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan
- 3. the FirstEnergy Corp. Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors
- 4. the FirstEnergy Corp. Savings Plan
- 5. the FirstEnergy Corp. Stock Investment Plan

SECTION 5.2(b)(xi)

Issuance of Indebtedness, Investments, etc.

- 1. The incurrence of indebtedness through DOE loan guarantee programs in connection with the financing of the Norton (compressed air) and Burger (biomass) projects.
- 2. Incurrence of indebtedness in the form of revolving or term loan credit facilities of up to \$450 million in respect of the Signal Peak Mining Project, which may be guaranteed by Parent or a wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent. See also Item 1 of Section 5.2(b)(vi) above.
- 3. Parent and its Subsidiaries may refinance, replace or renew any of the following credit agreements at any time, including, as applicable, requesting any upsizing of such facility in accordance with its terms and adding one or more additional Subsidiaries as borrowers:
 - (a) \$2,750,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2006, as amended November 2, 2007, among Parent, FirstEnergy Solutions Corp., American Transmission Systems, Inc., Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power Company, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, The Toledo Edison Company Jersey Central Power & Light Company, Metropolitan Edison Company and Pennsylvania Electric Company, as Borrowers, the banks party thereto, the fronting banks party thereto and the swing line lenders party thereto.
 - (b) \$100,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2009, among FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. and FirstEnergy Generation Corp., as Borrowers, The Royal Bank of Scotland Finance (Ireland), as Administrative Agent, Lead Arranger and Lender, and the other banks party thereto from time to time.
- 4. See Item 3 of Section 5.2(b)(v) above.

SECTION 5.2(b)(xiii)

Change in Trading Policies

See Section 4.16.

SECTION 5.2(b)(xv)

Settlements

Environmental

- 1. NSR Consent Decree allows for \$2,000,000 demand from CT, NJ and NY for environmentally beneficial projects by July 11, 2010
- 2. RGE Final Judgment requires Parent to pay 8% of future MGP clean-up costs incurred by Rochester Gas & Electric
- 3. EPA Region 5 Mahoningside Superfund Claim of \$350,000
- 4. Columbia Gas of Ohio settlement for Toledo MGP clean-up costs requires 50/50% cost sharing of future Swan creek remedial costs
- 5. The NYSEG Litigation

Labor and Employment

- 6. Jersey Central Power & Light Company / System Council U-3 Call Out Arbitration Case
- 7. Matching Overtime Arbitration Cases and collective wage and hour claims

Commercial

- 8. Mikulski et al. v. FirstEnergy Corp. (potential shareholder class action against The Toledo Edison Company, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company and Centerior Energy Corporation for the years 1986 to 1998)
- 9. Scion Energy Partners, LLC and Scion Capital Partners, LLC v. Signal Peak Energy, LLC, et al

SECTION 8.15

Persons with actual knowledge relating to Parent

Anthony J. Alexander

Mark T. Clark

Leila L. Vespoli

Gary R. Leidich

Lynnette M. Cavalier

Charles E. Jones

Harvey L. Wagner

William D. Byrd

Charles D. Lasky

Joseph J. Hagan